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This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the Mgament’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cbadiand Results of
Operations, contains forward-looking statementthiwithe meaning of the Private Securities LitigatReform Act of 1995, that reflect our
views about future events and financial performaki¢een used in this report, the words “may,” “Willshould,” “anticipate,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “predict,” “potential, “intend” and similar expressions are intendeddientify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are subject to knownuarchown risks and uncertainties that could cacsgaaresults to differ materially from
those projected. You are cautioned not to placei@mdliance on these forwalabking statements that speak only as of the datedi. You ar
also urged to carefully review and consider theower disclosures made by us which attempt to adriseested parties of the factors which
affect our business, including Exhibit 99 “Risk Eas” filed as an exhibit hereto and incorporatett ithis Form 10-K by reference and our
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion from time to time.

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K éotémm “Anthem Insurance” refer to Anthem Insurai@@mpanies, Inc., an Indiana-
domiciled insurance company. References to the tAnthem” or the “Company” refer to Anthem Insura@@nd its direct and indirect
subsidiaries before the demutualization, and tch&nt, Inc., an Indiana holding company, and its di@nd indirect subsidiaries, including
Anthem Insurance, after the demutualization, actimgext requires. References to the te“we,” “our,” or “us,” refer to Anthem, before al
after the demutualization. The demutualization e@ssummated on November 2, 2001.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General Description of Anthem’s Business

We are one of the natiahleading publicly traded health benefits compaiighe United States, serving more than 11.9 arillnember:
or customers, primarily in Indiana, Kentucky, Oh@mnnecticut, New Hampshire, Maine, Colorado, Nevadd Virginia, excluding the
immediate suburbs of Washington, D.C. We own theuskve right to market our products and servicgagithe Blue Cros%and Blue Shield
® or BCBS, names and marks in all nine states ulimerse agreements with the Blue Cross Blue SHiskbciation, or BCBSA, an
association of independent BCBS plans. We seek tlbader in our industry by offering a broad at&de of flexible and competitively priced
health and specialty benefits products.

Our product portfolio includes a diversified mixmfnaged care products, including preferred provadganizations, or PPOs, health
maintenance organizations, or HMOs, and point ofise, or POS plans, as well as traditional indeynproducts. We also offer a broad range
of administrative and managed care services artahyainsured products for employer self-fundednd. These services and products include
claims processing, stop loss insurance, actuaialces, provider network access, medical cost gement and other administrative services.
In addition, we offer our customers several spgciaoducts, including group life and disabilitysirance benefits, pharmacy benefit
management, dental, vision and behavioral healtlefits services. Our products allow our customershibose from a wide array of funding
alternatives. For our insured products, we chargeemium and assume all or a majority of the hegdite risk. Under our self-funded and
partially insured products, we charge a fee fovises, and the employer or plan sponsor reimbwsder all or a majority of the health care
costs. Our 2003 operating revenue was 92.1% defieed fully-insured products, while 7.9% was dedvieom administrative services and
other revenues.

Our customer base primarily includes local largaugs (51 or more employees), small groups (on®temdployees) and individuals
(includes individuals under age 65, Medicare Supplet and Medicare + Choice business) each of wdicbunted for 38.6%, 20.1% and
17.7% of our 2003 operating revenue, respectivetiier major customer categories include Nationabanots, federal employees and other
federally funded programs. We market our produatsugh an extensive network of independent agetdseokers and our in-house sales
force who are compensated on a commission basiefersales and retention of existing business.

Our managed care plans and products are desigreetttairage providers and members to participageatity, cost-effective health
benefit plans by using the full range of our innibx@medical management services, quality initegiand financial incentives. Our leading
market shares enable us to realize the long-temaflie of investing in preventive and early detectprograms. Our ability to provide cost-
effective health benefits products and servicesmisanced through a disciplined approach to intarest containment, prudent management of
our risk exposure and successful integration ofied businesses.

We intend to continue to expand through a combameadif organic growth and strategic acquisitionbath existing and new markets. C
growth strategy is designed to enable us to takarstdge of the additional economies of scale pexvioly increased overall membership. In
addition, we believe geographic diversity reducgsexposure to local or regional economic, regujagmd competitive pressures and provides
us with increased opportunities for expansion. ttie majority of our growth has been the resufitaftegic mergers and acquisitions, we
have also achieved growth in our existing markgtproviding excellent service, offering competitiv@riced products and effectively
capturing the brand strength of the Blue CrossBlod Shield names and marks.

Anthem, Inc. is an Indiana corporation that wasrfed in July 2001 as a wholly owned subsidiary ofrem Insurance. Anthem, Inc. w
formed in connection with the conversion of Anthirsurance from a
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mutual insurance company into a stock insurancepeomin a process called demutualization. The deatization was effective on Novemt
2, 2001, and at that time Anthem Insurance waseaed into a stock insurance company and becantoliywowned subsidiary of Anthem,
Inc., and Anthem, Inc. became a publicly held comypén addition, effective November 2, 2001, a#itatory membership interests in Anthem
Insurance were extinguished and Anthem Insuraredgjile statutory members received shares of AntHac. common stock or cash, as
consideration for the extinguishment of their staty membership interests in Anthem Insurance.

Anthem, is an accelerated filer (as defined in Ruib-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,rasraded) and is required, pursuant to
Item 101 of Regulation &; to provide certain information regarding its wéb and the availability of certain documentsdileith or furnishes
to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SR website isvwww.anthem.comWe make available free of charge on or through ou
Internet website our annual report on Form 10-Kgrtgrly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports omi8-K, and amendments to those rep
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) ord)5(f the Security Exchange Act of 1934 as sooreasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with or furnistto the SEC.

Industry Overview

The health benefits industry has experienced sa@amf change in recent years. The increasing foousealth care costs by employers,
government and consumers has led to the growtherhatives to traditional indemnity health inswwanHMO, PPO and hybrid plans, such as
POS plans, incorporating features of each, are grttanvarious forms of managed care products e developed over a number of years.
Through these types of products, the cost of healta is contained by negotiating contracts witbgitals, physicians and other providers to
deliver health care at favorable rates. These mtsdusually feature medical management and othaitgand cost optimization measures s
as pre-admission review and approval for non-emmaxgospital services, pre-authorization of ougatsurgical procedures, and network
credentialing to determine that network doctors laospitals have the required certifications andeetige. In addition, providers may share
medical cost risk or have other incentives to dgliyuality medical services in a cadfective manner. HMO, PPO and POS members gen
are charged periodic, pre-paid premiums, and pgyagonents or deductibles when they receive servig@® and POS plans provide benefits
for out-of-network usage, typically at higher oditpmcket costs to members. HMO members generalécsene of the network’s primary care
physicians, who then assume responsibility for doating their health care services. Typically réhis no out-of-network benefit for HMO
members. PPOs and other open access plans genemligle coverage when members select non-netwankigers without coordination
through a primary care physician, but at a higheraf-pocket cost. Hybrid plans, such as POS plgimically involve the selection of primary
care physicians similar to HMOs, but allow memberself refer or to choose non-network providerkigher out-of-pocket costs similar to
those of PPOs.

Recently, economic factors and greater consumeremgas have resulted in the increasing populafipraducts that offer larger, more
extensive networks, more member choice relatedterage and the ability to self refer within thosdworks. There is also a growing
preference for greater flexibility for customersagsume larger deductibles and co-payments in agehfar lower premiums. We believe we
are well positioned in each of our regions to resptm these market preferences. Our PPO produbishwontain most or all of the features
noted above, have experienced significant grow#r tive past few years.

The BCBSA has also undergone significant changedant years. Historically, most states had at leas Blue Cross (hospital covera
and a separate Blue Shield (physician coveragepaasn Prior to the mid 1980s there were more ttzskeparate Blue Cross or Blue Shield
companies. Many of these organizations have mergedgcing the number of independent licensees ts4df December 31, 2003.

Each of the BCBS companies works cooperativelyrinmber of ways that create significant market atages, especially when
competing for very large multi-state employer greufss a result of this
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cooperation, each BCBS company is able to takerdadga of other BCBS licensees’ substantial proviggworks and discounts when any
member from one state works or travels outsidéefstate in which the policy is written. This pragris referred to as BlueCdatdand is a
source of revenue for providing member servicesuinstates for individuals who are customers oéo®8CBS plans.

Our Operating Segments

Our reportable segments are strategic business delineated by geographic areas within which vieraimilar products and services,
but manage with a local focus to address each gpbgrregion’s unique market, regulatory and heecdite delivery characteristics. The
regions are:

» the Midwest, which includes Indiana, Kentucky andd®
» the East, which includes Connecticut, New Hampsirg Maine
» the West, which includes Colorado and Nevada; and

» the Southeast, which operates in Virginia, exclgdie immediate suburbs of Washington, L

In addition to our four geographic regions, we hav@pecialty reportable segment, which includesess units providing:
» group life and disability insurance benef

» pharmacy benefit management;
» dental and vision administration services; .
» behavioral health benefits services.

Various ancillary businesses (reported with theeDgegment) include:
» administration of Medicare programs in Indianandis, Kentucky, Ohio, Maine and New Hampshire; and

+ the program which primarily provided health caredfés and administration in nine states for thep&ement of Defen’s TRICARE
program for military families. On May 31, 2001, thRICARE operations were sol

The Other segment also includes intersegment revand expense eliminations and corporate expeigedlocated to reportable
segments.

Our Strategy
Our strategic objective is to be among the besuinindustry with the size and scale to deliverlibst product value with the best people.
To achieve these goals, we offer a broad seledfidlexible and competitively priced products armek to establish leading market
positions. We believe that increased scale in e&chir regional markets will provide us competitadvantages, cost efficiencies and greater
opportunities to sustain profitable growth. The keyur ability to deliver this growth is our contmient to work with providers to optimize t
cost and quality of care while improving the healtlour members and improving the quality of ouvi.
Promote Quality Care

We believe that our ability to help our membersree quality, cost-effective health care will be/ke our success. We promote the
health of our members through education and thrqguigtiucts that cover prevention and early detegtimgrams that help our members and
their providers manage illness before higher cost
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intervention is required. To help develop thosegpams, we collaborate with the providers in oummeks to promote improved quality of care
for our members. The following policies and progsaame key to improving the quality of care that om@mbers receive:

Selection and continued assessment of providerank$wy Our networks consist of providers who meet and ta@rour standards of
medical education, training and professional exqrex.

Disease management: We develop disease management programs that gctieek with and educate our members on actions
can take to attain health. We have programs to geadiseases such as diabetes, asthma, coronawydisiease, congestive heart
failure and high risk obstetrics. We are also depielg additional disease management programs tessldnember health issu

Advanced care managementWe develop programs aimed at helping our netwoslsjgians better manage and improve the hea
the small percent of members with complex or chrdinesses

Hospital quality programs: The goal of our hospital quality program is to ¢goabusly improve the quality of health care deleain
Anthem’s network hospitals. Our hospital qualitpgram includes a broad and comprehensive set ofaséhat address quality of
care, clinical outcomes, patient safety, procee$eare and organizational management structuresdmetrics are based upon best
practices for hospitals and are developed throughtaractive process with hospite

Prevention measures: We work with providers and members to promote pméve measures such as childhood and ¢
immunizations, as well as breast cancer scree

Education: We help our members prevent disease and illnessromize their impact by promoting lifestyle modidition through
education

Technology: We also use technology to evaluate the medicalmanéded to our customers. For example, our AntiReescriptior
Management decision support system helps to igeptifentially harmful drug interactions and helpsyent members from receiving
potentially dangerous combinations of drt

Product Value

We work to create products that offer value to customers. By offering a wide spectrum of prodscigported by broad provider
networks, we seek to meet the differing needs ofvatous customers. The breadth and flexibilityoaf benefit plan options, coupled with
quality care initiatives, are designed to appea bwoad base of employer groups and individuatl differing product and service preferenc
We use innovative product design, such as a ttieeed prescription management program that prevaestomer choices among generic, b
and formulary drugs at various out-of-pocket costsovative product designs help us contain castisadlow our products to be competitively
priced in the market.

Formulary drugs are prescription drugs that hawnlreviewed and selected by a committee of pragtidoctors and clinical pharmacists
for their quality and effectiveness. Use of medaa from the formulary, which includes hundred$nd name and generic medications, is
encouraged through pharmacy benefit design. A ttieegpharmacy benefit and the use of formularygdrallow members access to highly
effective prescription medications, while also ldpto control the cost of pharmacy benefits to lEygrs. Members have the same access to
medications but share a greater portion of the foodirand name drugs through the co-payment strectYnder a three-tier program, the
customer pays the lowest copayment for genericraipigher copayment for formulary brand name slargd the highest copayment for br
name drugs not included in the formulary.

Operational Excellence

To provide cost-effective products, we continuowgthve to improve operational efficiency. We aetivbenchmark our performance
against other leading health benefits companiédetatify opportunities to drive
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continuous performance improvement. Important perémce measures we use include operating margininedrative expense ratio,
administrative expense per member per month, orlMIPd return on equity. Current initiatives towdrioperational efficiency include:

» consolidating and eliminating information systems;

» standardizing operations and proces

« identifying and implementing best practices thromugfhour operating segments;
» implementing -business strategies; a

* integrating acquired businesses.

Technology

We continuously review opportunities to improve mteractions with customers, brokers and providBysusing technologies, we seek
to make the interactions as simple, efficient aratipctive as possible. We monitor ourselves usidgistry standard customer service metrics,
which measure, among other things, call centeciefity, claims paying accuracy and speed of enesitmNe ease the administrative burden
of enrolling new accounts, processing claims arhtipg records for our brokers and providers bymuatting many of these processes. We
also collect information that enables us to furiihgsrove customer service, product design and wmitamg decisions.

Growth

We believe that profitable growth, both organic &m@ugh acquisitions, is an important part of business. Increased scale allows us to
increase customer convenience and improve operatargins, while keeping our products competitivyaliced. Expansion into new
geographic markets enables us to reduce exposemtwmic cycles and regulatory changes and prexagéons for business expansion. We
plan to generate earnings growth first by increas@gvenues through new enrollment, while maintajrpricing discipline. We also intend to
contain administrative expense costs by leveragimgechnologies and by employing standard busipesgices throughout our business
regions. In addition, we plan to grow our specialtgment by increasing the penetration of speqgumtigucts to existing health members
through cross selling and expansion into non-Antheankets. We also intend to make strategic aciuisitto augment our internal growth.

Our History

We were formed in 1944 under the name of Mutualgitekinsurance, Inc., commonly known as Blue Crafskdiana. In 1946, Mutual
Medical Insurance Inc., also known as Blue Shiélbthdiana, was incorporated as an Indiana mutwalrence company. In 1985, these two
companies merged under the name Associated In®i@mmpanies, Inc. In 1993, Southeastern Mutualrémsie Company, a Kentucky-
domiciled mutual insurance company doing businesBlae Cross and Blue Shield of Kentucky, mergeith ws. In 1995, Community Mutual
Insurance Company, an Ohio-domiciled mutual insceagsompany doing business as Community Mutual Biwess and Blue Shield, also
merged with us. We changed our name to Anthem amaer Companies, Inc. in 1996. In 1997, Blue Cro&& Shield of Connecticut, Inc.,
or BCBS-CT, a Connecticut-domiciled mutual insuecompany, was merged with Anthem Insurance. DUtBg, we completed our
purchases of New Hampshire-Vermont Health Servitéch did business as Blue Cross and Blue Shielest Hampshire, or BCBSHH, anc
Rocky Mountain Hospital and Medical Service, whititi business as Blue Cross and Blue Shield of @dmand Blue Cross and Blue Shield
of Nevada, or BCBS-CO/NV. In 2000, we completed purchase of Associated Hospital Service of Mavigich did business as Blue Cross
and Blue Shield of Maine, or BCBS-ME. In Novemb802, we completed our demutualization and initighlfc offering, in which Anthem
Insurance converted from a mutual insurance compaaystock insurance company, and became a wbaihed subsidiary of Anthem, Inc., a
publicly held holding company formed in
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connection with the demutualization. In July 2082, completed our acquisition of Trigon Healthcame,, or Trigon, which was Virginia’s
BCBSA licensee and largest health benefits company.
Our Mergers and Acquisitions

Much of our recent growth in membership has reduitem strategic mergers and acquisitions, priganiith other Blue Cross and Bl
Shield licensees. These combinations, coupled gvitvth in existing markets, have enabled us tooéistamulti-regional centers of focus with
a significant share of each region’s health bes@fiirket.

During the last five years, we have completed tiewing acquisitions:

e OnJuly 31, 2002, we purchased 100% of the outsigrstock of Trigon. The purchase price was $4,088illion, including cash and
Anthem stock

e OnJune 5, 2000, we purchased substantially aHefssets and liabilities of BC-ME. The cash purchase price was $95.4 mill
e On November 16, 1999, we purchased the stock of BCB/NV. The cash purchase price was $160.7 million
» On October 27, 1999, we purchased the assetsahilities of BCBS-NH. The cash purchase price was $125.4 mill

The following table sets forth our membership atestas of the dates indicated:

December 31

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Midwest
Indiana 1,86z 1,72¢ 1,54: 1,41( 1,35¢
Kentucky 1,204 1,141 1,09¢ 1,05¢ 1,03
Ohio 2,62 2,37(C 2,21 2,11¢ 1,98
Subtotal 5,68¢ 5,23¢ 4,85¢ 4,58 4,38
East
Connecticu 1,47( 1,322 1,213 1,125 1,031
New Hampshire 58C 594 53¢ 47¢ 36€
Maine 55C 51¢ 504 487 —
Subtotal 2,60( 2,43¢ 2,26( 2,09z 1,397
West
Colorada 70z 63€ 60€ 463 39t
Nevada 237 20C 162 132 91
Subtotal 93¢ 83€ 76¢ 59t 48€
Southea— Virginia 2,70C 2,54¢ — — —
Total 11,923 11,05: 7,88t 7,27(C 6,26¢
Percentage increase (decrease) from previous pek 8% 40% 8% 16% 21%

When integrating new operations, we focus on imp@eustomer service, underwriting, medical managgrand administrative
operations. We improve operations by centraliziedain management and support functions acroserganization, sharing best practices and
consolidating information systems. We also impromderwriting practices by establishing disciplineour data analysis and product design.
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Pending Transaction with WellPoint Health NetworkslInc.

On October 27, 2003, we and WellPoint Health Neksdnc., or WellPoint, announced that we enteréal éndefinitive agreement a
plan of merger, or Merger Agreement, pursuant tkvkVellPoint will merge into our wholly-owned sudigry. WellPoint offers a broad
spectrum of network-based managed care plans thritsgigubsidiaries operating under the trade narhBsue Cross of California, Blue Cross
Blue Shield of Georgia, Blue Cross Blue Shield aé&duri, Blue Cross Blue Shield United of WisconsiealthLink and UNICARE.
WellPoint’'s managed care plans include PPOs, HM@sROS and other hybrid plans and traditional indignplans. In addition, WellPoint
offers managed care services, including undervg;itactuarial services, network access, medical gemant and claims processing. WellPoint
also provides a broad array of specialty and gtheducts, including pharmacy benefits managememttad, vision, life insurance, preventive
care, disability insurance, behavioral health, C@BRd flexible benefits account administration.

Under the Merger Agreement, WellPoint's stockhaddeill receive consideration of twenty-three daland eighty cents in cash and one
share of Anthem common stock for each WellPointeslaitstanding. The value of the transaction wémated to be approximately $16.4
billion based on the closing price of Anthentommon stock on the New York Stock Exchange aoltgr 24, 2003. On February 26, 2004,
received notification of early termination of thaiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrirapprovements Act of 1976, as amended.
The transaction is expected to close by mid-200djest to, among other things, state regulatorysdrateholder approvals.

Disapproved Acquisition of Blue Cross and Blue Shid of Kansas

On May 31, 2001, we and Blue Cross and Blue ShliElansas, or BCB-KS, announced we signed a definitive agreementantso
which BCBS-KS would become our wholly-owned sulesigi On February 11, 2002, the Kansas Insurancen@ssioner, or Commissioner,
disapproved the proposed transaction, which had pesviously approved by the BCBS-KS policyholderdanuary 2002. We joined BCBS-
KS in an appeal of the Commissioner’s decisioncihias filed with the Shawnee County District CpartDistrict Court, on March 7, 2002.
On June 7, 2002, the District Court ruled in fawbus and BCBS-KS. The District Court directed @@mmmissioner to re-evaluate her decision
in accordance with the Court’s very specific intetption of the Kansas law. On June 10, 2002, trar@issioner appealed the District Court’s
ruling to the Kansas Supreme Court, or SupremetCour August 6, 2003, the Supreme Court overtuthedistrict Court’s ruling and
reinstated the Commissioner’s 2002 disapprovahefiroposed transaction. We and BCBS-KS decidetbregipeal this decision and the
definitive agreement was terminated.

Core Health Benefits Products and Services

We offer a diversified mix of managed care produictsluding HMO, PPO and POS plans, as well asticaxhl indemnity products. Our
managed care products incorporate a broad ranggtiohs and financial incentives for both memberd participating providers, including co-
payments and provider risk pools. We also offeraall range of administrative and managed carecgand partially insured products for
employer self-funded plans. These services andugtsdnclude claims processing, stop loss insureaxtearial services, network access,
medical cost management, and other administragimgces. We charge a premium for insured planstgpidally assume all or a majority of
the liability for the cost of health care. For skihded or partially-insured products, we chardeeafor services while the employer assumes all
or a majority of the risks. The fee is based ugendustomer’s selection from our portfolio of seed. We also provide specialty products
including group life, disability, prescription magement, behavioral health benefits and dental &idnvadministration. Our principal health
products, offered both on an insured and employedéd basis, are described below. Some managedmémedical cost optimization
features may be included in each of these prodsuets) as inpatient pre-certification, benefitsgoeventive services and reimbursement at our
maximum allowable amount with no additional billitgmembers.

Preferred Provider Organization, or PPO.PPO products offer the member an option to selechaalth care provider, with benefits
reimbursed by us at a higher level when care isived from a participating network
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provider. Coverage is subject to co-payments oudttnles and coinsurance, with member cost shdirmited by out-of-pocket maximums.

Traditional Indemnity. Indemnity products offer the member an option feceany health care provider for covered serviGzsierage
is subject to deductibles and coinsurance, with bemoost sharing limited by out-of-pocket maximums.

Health Maintenance Organization, or HMO.HMO products include comprehensive managed carefitgngenerally through a
participating network of physicians, hospitals atider providers. A member in one of our HMOs myptdally select a primary care physici
or PCP, from our network. PCPs generally are famifctitioners, internists or pediatricians whoyide necessary preventive and primary
medical care, and are generally responsible fordinating other necessary health care. Preventive services are emphasized in these plans.
We offer HMO plans with varying levels of co-payns&rwhich result in different levels of premiumesit

Point-of-Service, or POS. POS products blend the characteristics of HMO adéiinnity plans. Members can have comprehensive
HMO-style benefits through participating networloyiders with minimum out-of-pocket expense (co-pawts) and also can go directly,
without a referral, to any provider they choosdjsct to, among other things, certain deductibtes @insurance. Member cost sharing is
limited by out-of-pocket maximums.

BlueCard Plan. BCBS plans across the United States share theil fwovider networks in a unique arrangement, wioeesplan’s
enrolled members travel or live in another plags/ge area. The local or “host” plan is paid amadstrative fee by the “home” or selling
plan in exchange for providing claims and membevises to home plan customers in the host plam@cearea. All claims are reimbursed by
the home plan, which may have an insured or selfiéd relationship with the member’s employer urader of the product designs discussed
above. BlueCard membership is calculated basedearhount of BlueCard administrative fees we rexéiom the BlueCard members’ home
plans. Generally, the administrative fees we rexane based on the number and type of claims psedesnd a portion of the network discount
on those claims. The administrative fees are tlddetl by an assumed per member per month, or PM&®&r in order to calculate the
number of members. The assumed PMPM factor is basaah estimate of Anthem’s experience and BCBSdadimes.

The following table sets forth our health benefitsmbership data by product:

December 31

2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

PPO 5,67¢ 4,71¢  3,19¢
Traditional Indemnity 1,29¢ 1,39¢ 1,11:
HMO 1,591 1,65¢ 1,211
POS 54¢ 864 74C
Directly Contracted Membersh 9,111 8,63¢ 6,251
BlueCard (Anthem Hos 2,81¢ 2,41¢ 1,62¢

Total 11,927 11,05¢ 7,88

Specialty Products and Services

Prescription Management ServicesWe provide pharmacy network management, pharmaegflie and ma-order prescription servic
through our subsidiary, Anthem Prescription Managetnor Anthem Prescription, our pharmacy beneéihager. Anthem Prescription
administers its programs primarily to customers wtmalso Anthem health plan members. Anthem Rixregail pharmacy network, provides
members access to more than 51,000 chain and indepepharmacies across the United States, andeAnitx Direct, our mail service
pharmacy, provides long-term therapy and specpigrmacy medications through convenient home dglive
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Group Life and Disability. We offer an array of competitive group life insucarand disability benefit products to both largd amall
group customers through our subsidiary Anthem Lnirance Company. We have over $29.1 billionfefihsurance in force, insuring over
41,000 groups with more than 830,000 employees ti@ditional group insurance products include téfey accidental death and
dismemberment, short-term disability income andyigrm disability income. In addition, we offer uokary group life and disability products
through employers which payroll-deduct premiumsrfrihieir participating employees.

Vision and Dental Care Programs. These programs are primarily for customers enrdiiealir Blue Cross and Blue Shield health plans.
Vision and dental products available through owdtheplans include both fully-insured and sieléured products. In addition, we provide de
third-party administration services through Hedlthnagement Systems, Inc., our wholly owned subsidia

Behavioral Health Services We provide behavioral health benefits and eyg# assistance programs through our subsidianyefm
Behavioral Health, or ABH, and through third pasghavioral health networks. ABH administers behalibealth benefits to customers
enrolled in our Blue Cross and Blue Shield healéimg, as well as to customers of non-Anthem headdths. These customers have access to
established provider networks within Anthem stafeghem’s employee assistance programs, which dedan array of employee and family
services, as well as employer services, are offeréhthem and non-Anthem customers.

Other Products and Services
In addition to the abo-described products and services, we provide serdse fiscal intermediary for the Medicare progsz

Marketing

We market our managed care and specialty prodaiisdh four regional business units. Our healtmpkre generally marketed under
the Blue Cross and Blue Shield brand, except faaoegovernment programs. We organize our margegfforts by customer segment and by
region in order to maximize our ability to meet 8pecific needs of our customers. Marketing prograne developed by a cross-functional
team including the actuarial, underwriting, satgserations and finance departments to evaluateridipricing and to ensure adherence to
established underwriting guidelines. We striveg@oalop solutions for our customers. Our keys taess include developing long-term
relationships and providing stable pricing of ourdghcts. Most contracts are for one year, althougloccasionally enter into multi-year
arrangements.

We maintain the quality of our sales staff and petelent brokers through regularly held trainingisans and advisory groups, which
familiarize them with evolving consumer preferenaswell as our products and current marketirgeggies. In addition, we structure sales
commissions to provide incentives to our saled atad brokers to promote the full value of our pros. Each region is responsible for
enrolling, underwriting and servicing its respeethusinesses.

Customers

The following chart shows our membership by custotyjee:

December 31

2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Local Large Grouj 3,86¢ 3,861 2,82
Small Groug 1,257 1,16¢ 81:
Individual 1,202 1,08¢ 701
National Account 4,59¢ 3,951  2,90:
Medicare + Choic 94 10z 97
Federal Employee Progrs 69¢ 677 42:
Medicaid 21C 20z 11¢

Total 11,927 11,05¢ 7,88:%

1 Includes 2,816 BlueCard members as of Decembe2®13, 2,419 as of December 31, 2002 and 1,626 Bse@émber 31, 200.
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In each region, we balance the need to customizdupts with the efficiencies of product standartiiza Overall, we seek to establish
pricing and product designs to achieve an apprteplével of profitability for each of our custoneategories. As of December 31, 2003, our
customer types include several distinguishablegoates:

Local Large groups, defined as contracts with 5hore employees eligible to participate as a meritbene of our health plan
accounted for 38.6% of our operating revenue and%82f our members. These groups are generallytsoddigh brokers or
consultants working with industry specialists froor in-house sales force. Large group cases maxperience rated or sold on a
self-insured basis. The customer’s buying decig@dgpically based upon the size and breadth ofnetworks, customer service, the
quality of our medical management services, theimidtrative cost included in our quoted price, 6inancial stability and our ability
to effectively service large complex accoul

Small groups, defined as contracts with one toligibée employees, accounted for 20.1% of our ofiegarevenue and 10.5% of o
members. These groups are sold exclusively thrindgpendent agents and brokers. Small group caseokl on a fully-insured
basis. Underwriting and pricing is typically dorne @ community rated basis, with individual stateuiance departments approving the
rates. See “Regulation—Small Group Reform” beloma$ group customers are generally more sensitiy@aduct pricing and, to a
lesser extent, the configuration of the network tredefficiency of administration. Account turnoveigenerally higher with small
groups as compared to large grot

Individual members (under age 65 and over age @b Medicare Supplement) accounted for 13.6% ofoparating revenue ar

10.1% of our members. These policies are genesalty through independent agents and brokers anthdwuse sales force. In some
cases an in-house telemarketing unit is used tergémleads. This business is usually medicallyenmdtten at the point of initial
issuance. Medicare Supplement policies are solMedicare recipients as supplements to the bertbeétsreceive from the Medicare
program. Rates are filed with and approved by stetigrance departments. In several of our markie¢se is much less competition
individual business than group contra

Medicare + Choice members (age 65 and over) aceddat 4.1% of our operating revenue and 0.8% ofreembers. This program
the managed care alternative to the federally fdridedicare program. Most of the premium is paiediy by the Federal governmi
on behalf of the participant who may also be chaigemall premium. Medicare + Choice is marketetthénsame manner as Medicare
Supplement product

The Federal Employee Program accounted for 12.58ti0bperating revenue and 5.9% of our membersa BEBSA licensee, we
participate in a nationwide contract with the Fadlgovernment whereby we cover Federal employeédhaair dependents in our nine-
state service area. Under a complex formula, weeangbursed for our costs plus a fee. We also @pédie in the overall financial risk
for medical claims on a pooled basis with the offeaticipating BCBS companie

National Accounts accounted for 5.1% of our operatevenue, but 38.5% of our members, because ofumlr National Account
are self-insured. National Accounts customers arkifstate employer groups headquartered in an émtkervice area with 1,000 or
more eligible employees, including 50 or more ledan a service area where Anthem is not a BCB&&nkee. Included within the
National Accounts business are customers who reptesirollees of other Blue Cross or Blue Shiekhg] or thé‘home” plans, who
receive health care services in our Blue CrossBdnd Shield licensed markets. These customersraraply BlueCard members.
National Accounts are generally sold through brel@rconsultants working with our-house sales force. We have a significant
advantage when competing for very large NationaloAaits due to our ability to access the nationaloek of BCBS companies and
take advantage of their provider discounts in tlegial markets

Medicaid accounted for 2.9% of our operating rexeand 1.8% of our members. Medicaid membershigesemts eligible members
with state sponsored managed care alternativabéavledicaid programs that we manage for the stdt€onnecticut and Virginie
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The Blue Cross Blue Shield License

We have the exclusive right to use the Blue CroskElue Shield names and marks for all of our Inelaétnefits products in Indian
Kentucky, Ohio, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Mai@e|orado, Nevada and Virginia, excluding the imnag¢elisuburbs of Washington, D.C.
We believe that the BCBS names and marks are Validdntifiers of our products and services innterketplace. The license agreements,
which have a perpetual term, contain certain regaénts and restrictions regarding our operatiodsoan use of the BCBS names and marks.
Upon termination of the license agreements, we doahse to have the right to use the BCBS namemarids in one or more of Indiana,
Kentucky, Ohio, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Mai@e|orado, Nevada and Virginia and the BCBSA cobler¢after issue a license to use
BCBS names and marks in these states to anothigr. &wents that could cause the termination a€erise agreement with the BCBSA
include:

« failure to comply with minimum capital requiremeirtgposed by the BCBS/

» impending financial insolvency;

» the appointment of a trustee or recei\

» a change of control or violation of the BCBSA owstep limitations on our capital stock; and

» the commencement of any action against Anthem &msgr seeking its dissolutic

Pursuant to the rules and license standards &@®SA, we guarantee the contractual and finandiégations to respective customer:
our subsidiaries that hold controlled affiliateclitses from the BCBSA. Those subsidiaries are: AmtHealth Plans of Kentucky, Inc., Anthem
Life Insurance Company, Anthem Health Plans, I8ommunity Insurance Company, Anthem Health Plardesf Hampshire, Inc., Rocky
Mountain Hospital and Medical Service, Inc., Anthel@alth Plans of Maine, Inc., HMO Colorado, Incatthew Thornton Health Plan, Inc.,
Maine Partners Health Plan, Inc., Health ManagerSgatems, Inc., Anthem Health Plans of Virginia.JiHealthkeepers, Inc., Peninsula
Health Care, Inc. and Priority Health Care, Ince3d subsidiaries underwrite insurance and prowvisigrance related services to our members.

In addition, pursuant to the rules and licensedseads of the BCBSA, we have agreed to indemnify BERgainst any claims asserted
against it resulting from the contractual and ficiahobligations of AdminaStar Federal, our sulmigiwhich serves as a fiscal intermediary
providing administrative services for Medicare Padnd B.

Each license requires an annual fee to be paliet®lue Cross Blue Shield Association. The feeaisell upon enroliment and premium.
BCBSA is a national trade association of Blue Cianss Blue Shield licensees, the primary functiowbich is to promote and preserve the
integrity of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names marks, as well as provide certain coordinatimorg the member companies. Each
BCBSA licensee is an independent legal organizatimhis not responsible for obligations of otheE8& member organizations. We have no
right to market products and services using theeBluoss and Blue Shield names and marks outsiderafine core states.

Information Systems

Information systems have played and will contiruplay a key role in our ongoing efforts to conbasly improve quality, reduce o
administrative expenses and increase benefit fléyifior our customers. Our analytical technolagire designed to support increasingly
sophisticated methods of optimizing costs and nooinigg quality of care, and we believe that our infation systems are sufficient to meet
current needs and future expansion plans.

We use a combination of custom developed and lestsgstems throughout our regions. An overall @nigg systems architecture is
maintained to promote consistency of data and mduplicative platforms.
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This architecture assumes single core systems ginmpeach of our operating regions with centralisgstems for key company-wide
functions such as financial services, human ressuaod servicing National accounts. Focus is placeidentifying and eliminating redundant
or obsolete applications with an emphasis on irgingeour capability to operate in an Internet-eadl#nvironment. Regional administration
systems serving unique products and markets feadtd@ combination of regional and corporate decisupport systems. These systems
provide sources of information for all of our dag@orting and analysis needs.

Our architecture calls for significant standardmatbf software, hardware and networking produtthancements are undertaken based
on a defined information systems plan. This plahictvis developed collaboratively by our technigadl operating leadership, is revalidated
regularly and maps out business-driven technoleguirements for the upcoming three-to-five yeaiquer

We anticipate that consumer demand will cause ereé@sing need for more of our business to be cdadwectronically. Toward that
end we have developed several initiatives focuseithproving interactions with our customers, memsbproviders, brokers and associates.
We have also improved communication and data dasle¢hrough compliance with the provisions of fexderal Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act, or HIPAA.

We are also developing and deploying a seriesaxfnams that deliver web-enabled services suchtamkt self-service, on-line
membership enrollment and on-line price quotingdimkers. Brokers can access on-line quoting céipabifor life, dental and vision related
products. For our members, we have on-line acoelsalth information using carefully chosen confaatviders for consumer health
information. Members and providers are also abledaire through the web and transact businessret@cally. All of our members with
accessibility to the internet currently have orelaccess to physician and hospital network diresgdor their specific health plan.

Collaborations

In addition to internal efforts to leverage tectogy, we are actively involved as leaders in colfaktige technology initiatives. One
example includes the Council for Affordable Qualitgalthcare, of which we are a founding member,@mrdCEO currently serves as a board
member and is a past chairman. This group, foubge2b of the natiors largest health benefits companies and assocsatilmvelops progran
to improve access to quality health care coveraget@ simplify plan administration.

Pricing and Underwriting of Our Products

We price our products based on our assessmentefwriting risk and competitive factors. We contiiy review our underwriting an
pricing guidelines on a national and regional basishat our products remain competitive and coasisvith our marketing strategies and
profitability goals.

We have focused our efforts to maintain consistmpetitive and strict underwriting standards. @dividual and group underwriting
targets have been based on our proprietary acctedudatuarial data. Subject to applicable legaktraimts, we have traditionally employed
case specific underwriting procedures for smallgrproducts and traditional group underwriting aares with respect to large group
products. Also, we employ credit underwriting prdgees with respect to our self-funded products.

In most circumstances, our pricing and underwritliegisions follow a prospective rating processix&d premium rate is determined at
the beginning of the policy period. Unanticipatadreases in medical costs may not be able to lweeed in that current policy year.
However, prior experience, in the aggregate, isitlared in determining premium rates for futurequis.

For larger groups (over 300 persons) with PPO, Bfaditional benefit designs, we may employ repective rating reviews. In
retrospective rating, a premium rate is determutetthe beginning of the policy
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period. Once the policy period has ended, the aetyzerience is reviewed. If the experience ispasii.e., actual claim costs and other
expenses are less than those expected), thenral nefay be credited to the policy. If the experieisceegative, then the resulting deficit may
either be recovered through contractual provismnthe deficit may be considered in setting futpremium levels for the group.

We have contracts with the Federal Centers for Madi & Medicaid Services, or CMS (formerly the Heaare Financial
Administration, or HCFA), to provide HMO MedicareGhoice coverage to Medicare beneficiaries who sadwalth care coverage through
one of our HMO programs. Under these annual corstr&MS pays us a set rate based on membershis thdjusted for demographic factors.
These rates are subject to annual unilateral mvisy CMS. In addition to premiums received from £Nost of the Medicare products
offered by us require a supplemental premium tpdid by the member.

See “Regulation—Small Group Reform” below for acdission of certain regulatory restrictions on onderwriting and pricing.

Liability for Unpaid Life, Accident and Health Clai ms

We establish and report liabilities or reserve®onbalance sheet for unpaid life, accident andthetaims by estimating the ultimate
cost of incurred claims that have not yet beennteddo us by members or providers and reportedhsléghat we have not yet paid. These
reserves represent our estimates and the proaggsa®a high degree of judgment. Reserves arblis$tad according to Actuarial Standard
Practice and generally accepted actuarial pringipted are based on a number of factors, includipgreence derived from historical claims
payments and other actuarial assumptions. Suclmgsiguns and other factors include health care tests, the incidence of incurred claims,
the extent to which all claims have been reporteticdaims processing expenses. Due to the vatiabilierent in these assumptions, reserve
estimates are sensitive to changes in medical slaegment patterns and changes in medical costarénworsening (or improvement) of the
medical cost trend or changes in claims paymenéepet from the trends and patterns assumed in &stigreserves could result in a change to
recorded reserves. See Note 8 to our audited ddasadl financial statements for the years endecdéer 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included
in Part Il, ltem 8, of this Form 10-K for quantitat information on our reserves, including a praegien of reserve balances for each of the last
three years. Also see the Critical Accounting Retiand Estimates section of the Management’s Bson and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations included irt Rattem 7, of this Form 10-K for additional diggsion of our estimation process.

Medical Management Programs

Our medical management programs include a broay afractivities that facilitate improvements irethuality of care provided to o
members and promote cost effective medical cares@medical management activities and programadmnénistered and directed by
physicians and trained nurses employed by Antheme. @ the goals of our medical management stragagito assure that the care delivere
our members is supported by appropriate medicakai@htific evidence.

Precertification. A traditional medical management program ineshassessment of the appropriateness of certgaitddzsations and
other medical services. For example, precertificats used to determine whether a set of hospitlnaedical services is being appropriately
applied to the member’s clinical condition, in ag@nce with criteria for medical necessity as tean is defined in the member’s benefits
contract.

Concurrent review. Another traditional medical management strategyuse is concurrent review, which is based oionally
recognized criteria developed for the industry.Wibncurrent review, the requirements and intergfigervices during a patient’s hospital stay
are reviewed, often by an onsite skilled nursegssibnal in collaboration with the hospital’s medliiand nursing staff, in order to coordinate
care and determine the most effective transitiocaoé from the hospital setting.
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Disease management. We are utilizing more sophisticated modelsttaribund disease management and advanced care enaeraty
These programs focus on those members who havaictanoed/or complex illness and require the greatesiunt of medical services. We
provide important information to our physician pigers and members to help them optimally managedhe of their specific conditions. For
example, certain therapies and interventions ftiepts with diabetes help prevent some of the asritong-term medical consequences of
diabetes and reduce the risks of kidney, eye aad Hsease. Our information systems can providdback to our physicians to enable ther
improve the quality of care. For other prevalentlimal conditions such as heart disease and asthunability to correlate pharmacy data and
medical management data allows us to provide inapbihformation to our members and providers wignhbles them to more effectively
manage these conditions.

Advanced care managementA significant amount of health care expendisunee for services consumed by a small percentiof o
members who suffer from complex or chronic illnesd¥e have developed a series of programs aimeeling our network physicians better
manage and improve the health of these membersnQftese programs provide benefits for home earéces and other support to reduce the
need for repeated, expensive hospitalizations.

Formulary management. Anthem has developed a formulary, a selectfairags based on clinical quality and effectivenedsich is
used across all of our regions. A pharmacy andagertics committee uses scientific and clinicatlentce to assure that our members have
access to the best available therapies. This cdesrii comprised of 18 members, 13 of whom areeanadand community physicians
practicing in our markets. Our three-tiered co-paytrstrategy enables members to have accessdiugh that are not covered on formulary
for an additional co-payment.

Medical policy. A medical policy group comprised of physiciaaders from all Anthem regions, working in closeperation with
academic medical centers, practicing community fgieyss, and medical specialty organizations sudha®merican College of Radiology
and national organizations such as the CentefSifmase Control and the American Cancer Socierates Anthem'’s national policy for
the application of new technologies.

Quality programs. We are actively engaged with our hospital netwaoksnable them to improve medical and surgical aaceachieve
better outcomes for our members. We endorse, eagewand incent hospitals to support national inves to improve clinical care, patient
outcomes and reduce medication errors and hospitations. We have been recognized as a natieadlr in developing hospital quality
programs.

External review procedures. In light of public concerns about health plaesying coverage of medical services, we work wiitside
experts through a process of external review teigeour members scientifically and clinically, éghced-based medical care. When we
receive member concerns, we have formal appeateguoes that ultimately allow coverage disputesteel to medical necessity decisions
under the benefits contract to be settled by inddeet expert physicians.

Service management. In HMO and POS networks, primary care physigsis@rve as the overall coordinators of memberdttheare
needs by providing an array of preventive healthises and overseeing referrals to specialistafgropriate medical care. In PPO networks,
patients have access to network physicians witaqutmary care physician serving as the coordinataare.

Health Care Quality Initiatives

Increasingly, the health care industry is abledbrg quality health care based on preventive heatasurements, outcomes of care and
optimal care management for chronic disease. At@ur success has been our ability to work withratwork physicians and hospitals to
improve the quality and outcomes of the
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health care services provided to our members. Gilityato promote high quality medical care hasheecognized by the National Committee
on Quality Assurance, or NCQA, the largest and mespected national accreditation program for madagre health plans. All three of our
HMO plans in the East region hold the highest NO@#ing of Excellent. Our HMO plan for Colorado alsnlds the highest NCQA
accreditation. In our Midwest region, our Ohio, iamh and Kentucky HMO and POS plans hold the higREQA rating. Anthem Southeast’s
HealthKeepers, Peninsula and Priority HMOs alsal himé highest NCQA accreditation. Anthem HealtmBlaf Virginia, formerly Trigon
Insurance Company, holds the highest level of P&@editation from NCQA.

A range of quality health care measures, includirgHealth Plan Employer Data and Information 8etlEDIS, has been incorporated
into the oversight certification by NCQA. HEDIS nseises range from preventive services, such asrsageemammography and pediatric
immunization, to elements of care, including desiegthe complications of diabetes and improviegttment for patients with heart disease.
For the HMO and POS plans, NCQA's highest accréditas granted only to those plans that demorstgtels of service and clinical quality
that meet or exceed NCQA's rigorous requirementsdmsumer protection and quality improvement. Pkarning this accreditation level
must also achieve HEDIS results that are in thadsgrange of national or regional performance.tRrePPO plans, NCQA'’s highest
accreditation is granted to those plans that hagellent programs for quality improvement and cansuprotection and that meet or exceeds
NCQA'’s standards.

In addition, we have initiated a broad array oflgug@rograms, including those built around smokaggsation and transplant
management, and increasingly effective hospital@naician quality initiatives centered on womemézlth care, diabetes and patient safety.

Provider Arrangements

Our relationships with physicians, hospitals amufgssionals that provide health care services aiged by regional and nation
standards for network development, reimbursemethicantract methodologies.

It is generally our philosophy not to delegate fidkancial responsibility to our physician providen the form of capitation-based
reimbursement. While capitation can be a usefuhogtto lower costs and reduce underwriting risk bekeve only highly integrated physic
organizations have the information infrastructureiccessfully manage these contracts.

We attempt to provide market-based hospital reisdament along industry standards. We also seekstarephysicians in our network
are paid in a timely manner at appropriate rates.udé multi-year contracting strategies, includiage or fixed rates, to limit our exposure to
medical cost inflation and increase cost predititgbin all regions, we seek to maintain broadpder networks to ensure member choice
while implementing programs designed to improvedhality of care received by our members.

Depending on the consolidation and integrationtgfgician groups and hospitals, reimbursement gfiegesary across markets. Fee for
service is our predominant reimbursement methogologphysicians. We generally use a resource-besative value system fee schedule to
determine fee for service reimbursement. This tinecwas developed and is maintained by CMS andes by the Medicare system and other
major payers. This system is independent of subthfges and therefore is not as vulnerable totioflaln addition, physician incentive
contracting is used to recognize clinical qualityl performance.

Like our physician contracts, our hospital contsgutovide for a variety of reimbursement arrangesdepending on the network. Our
hospital contracts recognize unique hospital atteb (e.g., academic medical centers or commupipitals) and the volume of care perfon
for our members. Many hospitals are reimbursed fixed allowance per day for covered services (fem) or a case rate basis similar to
Medicare (Diagnosis Related Groups). Other hospéed reimbursed on a discount from approved chHzages for
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covered services. Hospital outpatient servicesamnebursed based on fixed case rates, fee schealupescent of charges. To improve
predictability of expected cost, we frequently asaulti-year contracting approach which providedb#ity in our competitive position versus
other health benefit plans in the market, and H@en transitioning to case rate payment methodetogdany of our renewing hospital
contracts have reimbursement linked to improvedicdl performance, patient safety and medical eeduction.

Behavioral Health and Other Provider Arrangements

We have a series of contracts with third party bairal health networks and care managers who orgagmd provide for a continuum of
behavioral health services focusing on accesspoogpiate providers and settings for behavioralthezare. These contracts are generally
multi-year capitation based arrangements. Durif@2@e completed the acquisition of PRO Behavibledlth, a Denver, Colorado-based
behavioral health care company. With this acquisitive created Anthem Behavioral Health, whictgddition to our third party behavioral
health networks, is providing behavioral healthdfgs and employee assistance programs to our namabe other non-Anthem health plans.
Substance abuse and alcohol dependency treatnogmaprs are an integral part of these behaviordtthpeograms.

In addition, a number of other ancillary serviceypders, including laboratory service providersirfgohealth agency providers and
intermediate and long term care providers, areraotdéd on a region-by-region basis to provide actes wide range of services. These
providers are normally paid on either a fee scheedided-per-day or per case basis.

Competition

The managed care industry is highly competitivehationally and in our regional markets. Compmtitontinues to be intense due
more aggressive marketing and pricing, a proliferadbf new products and increased quality awareardsrice sensitivity among customers.
Significant consolidation within the industry hdscadded to competition. In addition, with the @n@ent of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act,
banks and other financial institutions have thditgtib affiliate with insurance companies, whictaynlead to new competitors in the insurance
and health benefits fields.

Industry participants compete for customers maimthe following factors:
* price;

» quality of service;

» access to provider networks;

« flexibility of benefit designs

* reputation (including NCQA accreditation status);

» brand recognition; an

« financial stability.

We believe our exclusive right to market productder the Blue Cross Blue Shield brand in our markebvides us with an advantage
over our competition. In addition, our providerwetks in our Midwest, East and Southeast regioablkenus to achieve cost-efficiencies and
service levels that allow us to offer a broad raofjeealth benefits to our customers on a more-effsttive basis than many of our
competitors. In our West region, the marketpladagsly fragmented with no single player havingaamihant market share. There, as in all
regions, we strive to distinguish our products tigio excellent service, product value and brandgeition.

Competitors in our markets include local and reglonanaged care plans and third party adminissatorTPAs, and national health
benefits companies. In our Midwest region, ourdatgcompetitors include
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UnitedHealthcare, Humana, Aetna and Medical Mutdi@hio. In our East region, our main competitars Aetna, Health Net, CIGNA,
ConnectiCare and Harvard Pilgrim. In our West ragiur principal competitors include Sierra HeaRhagifiCare, UnitedHealthcare, Kaiser,
Aetna and Hometown Health. In our Southeast regiangcompetitors include UnitedHealthcare, CIGNAt#a, Sentara, Coventry and Mid
Atlantic Medical Services, Inc., or MAMSI.

To build our provider networks, we also competénwaither health benefits plans for contracts withfitals, physicians and other
providers. We believe that physicians and othevigers primarily consider member volume, reimbureatirates, timeliness of reimbursem
and administrative service capabilities along Wt “non-hassle” factor or reduction of non-valdeled administrative tasks when deciding
whether to contract with a health benefits planth& distribution level, we compete for qualifiegkats and brokers to distribute our products.
Strong competition exists among insurance compamdshealth benefits plans for agents and brokéhsdemonstrated ability to secure new
business and maintain existing accounts. The lbfsismpetition for the services of such agentstanotters are:

e commission structure;

* support services

» reputation and prior relationships; and
» quality of the products

We believe that we have good relationships withagents and brokers, and that our products, supporices and commission structure
compare favorably to our competitors in all of ocegions.

Financial Strength Ratings

Financial strength ratings are the opinions ofrttteng agencies regarding the financial abilityaofinsurance company to meet its
obligations to its policyholders. Ratings provid&tbindustry participants and insurance consumétsmeaningful information on specific
insurance companies and have become an increagimgbytant factor in establishing the competitivesipion of insurance companies. Rating
agencies continually review the financial performeand condition of insurers and higher ratingsegally indicate financial stability and a
strong ability to pay claims. The current finanatkength ratings of Anthem Insurance and its clidested subsidiaries are as follows:

Financial
Rating Agency Strength Rating Rating Description
AM Best Company, Inc. A Second highest of nine ratings categories and bkighi¢hin the category
(“Bes™) (“Excellen”)  based on modifiers (i.e., A anc- are“Excellen”)
Standard & Poor’s Rating A Third highest of nine ratings categories and mitgeawithin the category
Services“S&F") (“Stronc¢”) based on modifiers (i.e., A+, A anc- are" Stron(")
Moody's Investor Service, In Al Third highest of nine ratings categories and highathin the category base¢
(“Moody’s”) (“Gooc”) on modifiers (i.e., A1, A2 and A3 a“Gooc”")
Fitch, Inc. “Fitch™) AA- Second highest of eight ratings categories anddbwihin the categor

(“Excellen”)  based on modifiers (i.e., AA+, AA and / are“Excellen”)
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These financial strength ratings reflect each gatigency’s opinion as to our financial strengtheraging performance and ability to meet
our claim obligations to our policyholders. On Gmo27, 2003, Moody’s upgraded its financial sttarrgting to A1 from A2. Each of the
rating agencies reviews its ratings periodicallg #mere can be no assurance that current ratingbeuwnaintained in the future. We believe
strong ratings are an important factor in marketing products to our customers, since ratings méiion is broadly disseminated and
generally used throughout the industry. Our ratireflect each rating agency’s opinion of our finahstrength, operating performance and
ability to meet our obligations to policyholdergsdaare not evaluations directed toward the praiaadf investors in our common stock or debt
securities.

Our Anthem Southeast insurance subsidiaries gépdsale financial strength ratings of A and A#em Best and Fitch, and are not ra
by S&P and Moody’s.

Investments

Our investment objective is to preserve our asasé land to achieve rates of return, which are stamgiwith our defined risk parameters,
mix of products, liabilities and surplus. Our potit is structured to provide sufficient liquidity meet general operating needs, special needs
arising from changes in our financial position @hadnges in financial markets. As of December 3032€ixed maturity securities accounted
for approximately 97% of total investments. Ousefixmaturity portfolio consists exclusively of Uddllar-denominated assets, invested
primarily in U.S. government securities, corpotadads, asset-backed bonds and mortgage-relatedtigsciAs of December 31, 2003, our
corporate fixed maturity portfolio (approximatel§% of the total fixed maturity portfolio as of Dewber 31, 2003) had an average credit rz
of approximately A. We do not invest in structuprdducts that create leverage. We do however inmegtuctured products that have low
volatility which are credit rated AA or better bydddy’s and/or S&P. An example of such an investnientortgage backed securities.

Our portfolio is exposed to three primary sourciessk: credit quality risk, interest rate risk,camarket valuation risk for equity holdin
Credit quality risk is defined as the risk of aditelowngrade to an individual fixed maturity setuand the potential loss attributable to that
downgrade. We manage this risk through our investrpelicy, which establishes credit quality limitats on the overall portfolio as well as
dollar limits of our investment in securities ofligidual issuers. Interest rate risk is definedheespotential for economic losses on fixed-rate
securities, due to an adverse change in marketstteates. We manage interest rate risk by maintaa duration commensurate with our
insurance liabilities and shareholders’ equity. k&avaluation risk for the equity holdings is defthas the potential for economic losses due to
an adverse change in equity prices. We manage thsseby investing in index mutual funds that regle the risk and performance of the S
500 and S&P 400 indices, resulting in a diversiegity portfolio.

For additional information regarding Investmengser to Note 4 to our audited consolidated finamstiatements included in Part II, Item
8, of this Form 10-K. Also see the Critical AccongtPolicies and Estimates section of the Manag¢m@&iscussion and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations included irt Rattem 7, of this Form 10-K.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 2DfuiB-time equivalent employees primarily locaiedCincinnati and Columbus,
Ohio; Indianapolis, Indiana; Louisville, Kentuckyprth Haven, Connecticut; Denver, Colorado; SouwtlBnd, Maine; Manchester, New
Hampshire; and Richmond, Virginia. Employees wdse écated in various other cities within our i@, as well as in lllinois and
Massachusetts. Our employees are an important assktve seek to develop them to their full pownWe believe that our relationships with
our employees are good. No employees are subjecilertive bargaining agreements.
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Regulation
General

Our operations are subject to comprehensive arallelétstate and federal regulation throughout thigdd States in the jurisdictions in
which we do business. Supervisory agencies, inetudiate health, insurance and corporation depatsnleave broad authority to:

Grant, suspend and revoke licenses to transacidas

Regulate many aspects of our products and services;

Monitor our solvency and reserve adequacy;

Scrutinize our investment activities on the basiguality, diversification and other quantitativeteria.

To carry out these tasks, these regulators pedtidiexamine our operations and accounts.

Regulation of Insurance Company and HMO Businesisifies

The federal government as well as the governmdritecstates in which we conduct our operationeladopted laws and regulatic
that govern our business activities in various waygse laws and regulations may restrict how welaot our businesses and may result in
additional burdens and costs to us. Areas of ganental regulation include:

Licensure;

Premium rates;

Benefits;

Service areas;

Market conduct

Utilization review activities;
Prompt payment of claim

Universal health care regulation based on the ahiitly to individuals and small groups of a gouwaent sponsored health plan
administered by a private contractor and fundethbseased premium taxe

Assessments for state run immunization progr

Requirements that pharmacy benefit managers passfatdurer’ rebates to customer
Member rights and responsibilities;

Sales and marketing activitie

Quality assurance procedures;

Plan design and disclosurt

Collection, access or use of protected health imétion;

Eligibility requirements

Provider rates of payment;

Surcharges on provider paymer

Provider contract forms;

Provider access standar

Premium taxes and assessments for the uninsureaadderinsured;

Underwriting, marketing and rating restrictions $onall group productt
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* Member and provider complaints and appe
» Underwriting and pricing;

» Financial arrangement

» Financial condition (including reserves); and

+ Corporate governanc

These laws and regulations are subject to amendna@dtchanging interpretations in each jurisdiction

States generally require health insurers and HMQbtain a certificate of authority prior to comroémy operations. If we were to
establish a health insurance company or an HMynséate where we do not presently operate, wergiyevould have to obtain such a
certificate. The time necessary to obtain suchréficate varies from state to state. Each healgurer and HMO must file periodic financial
and operating reports with the states in whicloésibusiness. In addition, health insurers and HBl®subject to state examination and
periodic license renewal.

There has been a recent trend of increased heattiregulation at the federal and state levelgpé¥ed actions and legislation, regulation
and initiatives relating to this trend include, amgmther things, the following:

» Eliminating or reducing the scope of ERISA pre-empbf state medical and bad faith claims undeedtaw, thereby exposing health
benefits companies to expanded liability for pwatand other ext-contractual damage

» Requiring an insurer to pay claims during gracequisrirrespective of whether a premium is ultimaiedid;
» Extending malpractice and other liability for megliand other decisions from providers to healtimgla
» Imposing liability for negligent denials or delaiypscoverage
» Requiring
» coverage of experimental procedures and drugs,
 direct access to specialists for patients with slrreonditions
« direct access to specialists (including OB/GYNg]J ahiropractors,
 direct payment of certain providers (whether orswath providers are participants, e.g., ambulanoegers),
» expanded consumer disclosures and notices and degp@overage for emergency services,
* liberalized definitions of medical necessi
« liberalized internal and external grievance andeapprocedures (including expedited decision mgking
 point of service benefits for HMO plans, &
» payment of claims within specified time frames ayment of interest on claims that are not paid iwithose time frames;
» Prohibiting
» so-called “gag” and similar clauses in physiciareagnents,
 incentives based on utilization, a

« limitation of arrangements designed to manage naédists such as capitated arrangements with ook provider financie
incentives;

20



Table of Contents

» Regulating and restricting the use of utilizatioarmagement and revie
» Restricting our ability to recover overpaymentsirbealth care providers;
» Restricting health pla’ use of different fee schedules for different typ€health care provider

» Regulating and monitoring the composition of pravidetworks, such as “any willing provider” and phacy laws (which generally
provide that providers and pharmacies cannot bedegrarticipation in a managed care plan whergtbgiders and pharmacies are
willing to abide by the terms and conditions oftthkan);

» Imposing payment levels for out-of-network care agsltricting the application of lifetime benefiiitations and other limits to mental
health benefits with parit

» Exempting physicians from the antitrust laws thathibit price fixing, group boycotts and other framtal restraints on competitic
» Restricting the use of health plan claims informati

» Restricting the ability to refuse to honor assigntref benefits made so that r-network providers can be paid direct

» Regulating procedures that protect the confidattiaf health and financial informatiol

» Implementation of a state-run single payer system;

» Imposing thir-party review of denials of benefits (including diribased on a lack of medical necess

» Allowing entry of Multiple Employer Welfare Assotians and Association Health Plans into group markéthout regulation
comparable to regulation of insure

 Limiting an insure’s withdrawal from and reentry to market segmentsd;

» Restricting or eliminating the use of formularies prescription drugs.

The health benefits business also may be adversplycted by court and regulatory decisions thategthe interpretations of existing
statutes and regulations. It is uncertain whetreecan recoup, through higher premiums or other areasthe increased costs of mandated
benefits or other increased costs caused by patéegiislation or regulation.

Small Group Reform

All of the principal states in which we do businésse enacted statutes that limit the flexibilifjus and other health insurers relative to
their small group underwriting and rating practic@emmonly referred to as “small group reform” gtas, these laws are generally consistent
with model laws originally introduced by the Nat&@mssociation of Insurance Commissioners, or NAIC.

The NAIC’s Small Group Health Insurance Availalyiliodel Act is a model law that limits the diffetéls in rates carriers can charge
between new business and health insurance renesimdss, and with respect to small groups withlaintiemographic characteristics
(commonly referred to as a “rating law”). It alsmuires that insurers disclose to customers this baswvhich the insurer establishes new
business and renewal rates, restricts the applityadi pre-existing condition exclusions and proité an insurer from terminating coverage of
an employer group because of the adverse claineriexge of that group. The model law provides fepokntary reinsurance mechanism to
spread the risk of high risk employees among adllsgroup carriers participating in the reinsuranoechanism. Our representatives actively
participated in the committees of the NAIC, whichfted and proposed this model law. NAIC model lanesnot applicable to the industry
until adopted by individual states, and there gmiicant variation in the degree to which statdsg and/or alter NAIC model laws. Some, if
not all, of these rating and underwriting limitattoare present in small group reform statutes otiyradopted in all of the principal states in
which we do business.

21



Table of Contents

Underwriting Limitations. In the past, insurance companies were free totsathetreject risks based on a number of factochydting
the medical condition of the person seeking to exmsured. Small group health insurers were fregctept some employees and reject other
employees for coverage within one employer groupinsurance company was also free to exclude froverage medical conditions existing
within a group which the insurance company belienggesented an unacceptable risk level. Alsothfiermost part, insurance companies were
free to cancel coverage of a group due to the raédanditions which were present in that group. ifiddally, a new employee seeking
medical coverage under an existing group plan cbaldither accepted or rejected for coverage, widdwave coverage excluded or delayed for
existing medical conditions.

The small group health insurance reform laws as agelhe federal Health Insurance Portability amdd\untability Act of 1996, known :
HIPAA, limit or abolish a number of these commontjlized practices to address a societal need tenelxavailability of insurance coverage
more broadly to those who were previously not blgfor coverage. In all states, HIPAA requires ‘tpearantee issuedf small group policies
meaning that an insurer must issue coverage ts@ayl group that applies for coverage under arth@fsmall group policies marketed by the
insurer in that state. HIPAA also prohibits theqtige of terminating or non-renewing the coverafjaroemployer group based on the medical
conditions existing within that group; insurers nmoyw cancel or non-renew business for a limited Inenof other reasons. HIPPAA also
requires “portability” of coverage, which meansttha insurer cannot exclude coverage for a pretiegisondition of a new employee of an
existing employer group if that person had previpgatisfied a pre-existing condition limitationrjsd with the prior insurer, and if that person
maintained continuous coverage.

Rating Limitations. Prior to the adoption of state rate reform latluere was very limited regulation of the ratimggiices used in the
small group health insurance market. There wasalist no regulation of the amount by which one grauate could vary from that of a
demographically similar group with different clairmsperience, and there was no statutorily plagai bn the extent and frequency of rate
increases that could be applied to any one emplgrgem.

Over the last fifteen years, all of the princip@tes in which we do business have enacted rating. IThese laws are designed to reduce
the variation in rates charged to insured groups hdve favorable and unfavorable claims experiefioey also limit the extent and frequency
of rate increases. The most common rate reforma#gn would be a pure community rating requirementsuant to which all persons in a
geographic region would receive the same ratehiisame coverage as any other person, withoutdemasion of demographic factors such as
age, gender, geographic location, medical riskcoupation. Most existing rating laws also impodiendt on the extent and frequency of a
group’s rate increases. At least one state hagezhamall group rate regulation that requires #reier to choose between detailed rate review
similar to the review of individual rates or acaapte of minimum loss ratio requirements.

Small Group Statutory Reinsurance Mechanisms

At this time, our Connecticut and New Hampshireplare subject to involuntary assessments froml gir@lp reinsurance mechanis
within these states. Our plan in New Hampshiraiigext to two risk sharing mechanisms. One is aesmnent to fund a newly created high
risk pool in the individual market. Our New Hampghplan is also subject to a soon to lapse assessnezhanism to contribute an amount
sufficient to cover the expenses and losses oeverivf individual products. These mechanisms as@ded to provide risk-spreading
mechanisms for insurers doing business in jurigmistthat mandate that health insurance be issnedguarantee issue basis. Guarantee issue
requirements increase underwriting risk for inssifgy forcing them to accept higher-risk business tthey would normally accept. This
reinsurance mechanism allows the insurer to cedeniph-risk business to the reinsurance facitityis sharing the underwriting experience
with all insurers in the state. Connecticut and Ndampshire statutes subject insurance companieg duisiness in those jurisdictions to
assessments to fund losses from the reinsurandeamiems. Indiana, Ohio and Nevada statutes praxdtimtary reinsurance mechanisms in
which the assessment is against only those cagiecsing to participate in the reinsurance medranWe have elected not to participate in
these voluntary reinsurance

22



Table of Contents

mechanisms in Indiana and Ohio; however, Anthens giaeticipate in Nevada. Kentucky, Colorado, Mand Virginia do not have a small
group reinsurance mechanism.

Recent Medicare Changes

In 1997, the federal government passed legislatated to Medicare that changed the method fardenhing premiums that tt
government pays to HMOs for Medicare members. hregad, the new method has reduced the premiumsfa@us compared to the old
method, although the level and extent of the ra@dostvaries by geographic market and depends ar &dbtors. The legislation also requires
us to pay a “user fee.” The changes began to bgephia on January 1, 1998 and continued over fdas, The federal government also
announced in 1999 that it planned to begin to pirasek adjustments to its premium payments ovivexyear period commencing January 1,
2000. While we cannot predict exactly what efféetse Medicare reforms will have on our resultspdrations, we anticipate that the net
impact of the risk adjustments will be to reduce phemiums payable to us.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and &tadation Act of 2003 became law in December 2883 expanded Medicare,
primarily adding a prescription drug benefit for dieare-eligible retirees starting in 2006.

HIPAA and Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act

HIPAA and its regulations impose obligations fausrs of health insurance coverage and health ibpfeef sponsors. This law requires
guaranteed health care coverage for small empldyiisg 2 to 50 employees and for individuals wheetrcertain eligibility requirements. It
also requires guaranteed renewability of healtk caverage for most employers and individuals. [@iaelimits exclusions based on preexis
conditions for individuals covered under group piel to the extent the individuals had prior credol# coverage, and the gap between the prior
coverage and the new coverage cannot exceed cémaifirames.

In addition, HIPAA authorized the Secretary of theited States Department of Health and Human Sesyknown as HHS, to issue
standards for administrative simplification, as vesl privacy and security of medical records amoindividually identifiable patient data.
HIPAA requirements apply to health plans (includingurers and HMOSs), health care clearinghous@geisas health care providers that
transmit health information in electronic form ionmection with a HIPAA Standard Transaction (cdliedy referred to as “Covered Entitigs”
Privacy Regulations adopted to implement HIPAA aksguire that business associates acting for dretvalf of these Covered Entities that
create, receive or collect health information betcrctually obligated to meet HIPAA standards.

Although HIPAA was intended ultimately to reduceradistrative expenses and burdens faced withirh&edth care industry, we believe
the law will initially bring about significant anéy some cases, costly changes. HHS has releassdrtiies to date mandating the use of new
standards with respect to certain health care aims, including health information. The firstewequires the use of uniform standards for
common health care transactions, including heatk claims information, plan eligibility, referregrtification and authorization, claims status,
plan enroliment and disenrollment, payment and ttamie advice, plan premium payments and coordinatf benefits, and it establishes
standards for the use of electronic signatures.nBwetransaction standards became effective ini@ct®000. Originally, almost all Covered
Entities were required to comply with these staddday October 16, 2002. However, legislation wascted in December 2001 giving Cove
Entities the option of extending their complianegedto October 16, 2003, provided that a filingnsde with HHS prior to October 16, 2002.
We took advantage of the extension and met our ange obligations by October 16, 2003. Anotheeresdtablishes a standard for a unique
employer identifier to be used in covered electtdransactions. This rule became effective in 2092. Most Covered Entities are required to
comply with this rule by July 30, 2004. A third eukstablishes a national provider identifier taubed in covered electronic transactions. This
rule becomes effective in May 2005. Most Coveretities are required to comply with this rule by M2y, 2007.
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HHS also has developed new standards relatingetpriliacy of individually identifiable health inforation. In general, these regulations
restrict the use and disclosure of medical recardkother individually identifiable health infornmat held or disclosed by Covered Entities in
any form, whether communicated electronically, apgr or orally, subject only to limited exceptiohsaddition, the regulations provide
patients with some significant new rights to untherd and control how their health information isdisand imposed a number of
administrative requirements on Covered EntitiesesEhregulations do not preempt more stringent Etate and regulations that may apply to
us. Most Covered Entities were required to comghp Wrivacy Regulations by April 14, 2003 (smalblta plans were given an additional y
to comply). We complied timely with the privacy stiards.

On February 20, 2003, HHS published the final ratioh addressing security requirements to be ngetrdéng accessibility of personal
health information. Health plans (other than srhallth plans) have until April 20, 2005 to complighathese new security standards. We are
currently assessing the impact of this new regutati

Other recent federal legislation includes the Grabeach-Bliley Act, which generally placed restrizis on the disclosure of non-public
information to non-affiliated third parties, andjtgred financial institutions including insurers,grovide customers with notice regarding how
their non-public personal information is used, irdthg an opportunity to “opt out” of certain dissioes. The federal law required state
departments of insurance, and other federal aggnci@dopt implementing regulations, and as sthelie has been a great deal of activity at
the state level. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act alseegibanks and other financial institutions theigghib affiliate with insurance companies,
which may lead to new competitors in the insuraenoe health benefits fields.

Investment and Retirement Products and Services

We are subject to regulation by various governnageincies where we conduct business, includingnswrance departments of India
Kentucky, Ohio, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Mai@e|orado, Nevada and Virginia. Among other mattdrsse agencies may regulate
premium rates, trade practices, agent licensinligypforms, underwriting and claims practices, thaximum interest rates that can be charged
on life insurance policy loans, and the minimunesahat must be provided for accumulation of suegewalue.

ERISA

The provision of services to certain employee weltzenefit plans is subject to the Employee Retnincome Security Act of 1974, or
ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations sulifeinterpretation and enforcement by the InteRevenue Service and the Department of
Labor, or DOL. ERISA regulates certain aspectdefrelationships between us, the employers whotaiaiemployee welfare benefit plans
subject to ERISA and participants in such plansn&of our administrative services and other adéigitnay also be subject to regulation under
ERISA. In addition, some states require licensunegistration of companies providing third partgims administration services for benefit
plans. We provide a variety of products and ses/toseemployee welfare benefit plans that are cavbyeERISA.

ERISA prevents ERISA welfare benefit plans fromngesubject to certain state laws. However, ERISAsdwot prevent the application
of state laws that regulate the business of ingrahhe question of whether a state law regul&edtisiness of insurance remains open to
interpretation by the courts. In 2002, the Uniteat& Supreme Court held that insured health glemdded to employers under ERISA must
still comply with state insurance laws which givaipnts the right to independent external reviewneflical coverage decisions. More recer
the United States Supreme Court held that a stats/svilling provider law applies to insured ERI®Aans. In doing so, the Court announced a
new test of whether a state law regulates the basiof insurance and thereby applies to ERISA plEms United States Supreme Court has
also agreed to hear a case that may affect thigyadfilan ERISA plan participant to bring statettdaims, seeking extra-contractual
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damages, against the insurer of an ERISA plan. Waat currently able to predict how the Court'i@tin these ERISA cases will be applied
or how it may impact our business.

In 2001, the DOL promulgated regulations under EER$8tting out standards for claim payment and merappeals along with
associated notice and disclosure requirements €Tiuas became effective for employers with plaargdeginning on or after January 1, 2002
for disability plans and July 1, 2002 for healtans.

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws

We are regulated as an insurance holding compashyam@nsubject to the insurance holding companyddtse states in which ol
subsidiaries are domiciled. These acts contairiceréporting requirements as well as restrictiomsransactions between an insurer or HMO
and its affiliates. These holding company laws geglilations generally require insurance compamesHMOs within an insurance holding
company system to register with the insurance deygant of each state where they are domiciled affitetavith those states’ insurance
departments certain reports describing capitatgira, ownership, financial condition, certain ncmpany transactions and general business
operations. In addition, various notice and repgrtiequirements generally apply to transactionséet insurance companies and HMOs and
their affiliates within an insurance holding compaystem, depending on the size and nature ofémsdctions. Some insurance holding
company laws and regulations require prior regmespproval or, in certain circumstances, priolig@bf certain material intercompany
transfers of assets as well as certain transadtietvgeen insurance companies, HMOs, their parddirfgocompanies and affiliates.

Additionally, the holding company acts for the egabf domicile of our regulated subsidiaries resttie ability of any person to obtain
control of an insurance company or HMO without prigulatory approval. Under those statutes, witlsogh approval (or an exemption), no
person may acquire any voting security of an insceeholding company which controls an insurancepaom or HMO, or merge with such a
holding company, if as a result of such transacsiach person would “control” the insurance holdmognpany. “Control” is generally defined
as the direct or indirect power to direct or catigedirection of the management and policies ofragn and is presumed to exist if a person
directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% or markthe voting securities of another person.

Guaranty Fund Assessments

Under insolvency or guaranty association laws isinstates, insurance companies can be assessaddants paid by guaranty funds
policyholder losses incurred when an insurance @myfrecomes insolvent. Most state insolvency orantg association laws currently
provide for assessments based upon the amounéwiippms received on insurance underwritten withichsstate (with a minimum amount
payable even if no premium is received). Substiyidl of our premiums are currently derived fransurance underwritten in Indiana,
Kentucky, Ohio, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Mai@e|orado, Nevada and Virginia.

Under many of these guaranty association lawssassmts against insurance companies that issumgsatif accident or sickness
insurance, such as Anthem, are made retrospectivelare based (up to prescribed percentage ofiygrelimits) upon the ratio of (i) the
insurance company’s premiums received in the apipléicstate over the previous three calendar yeaescident and sickness insurance to (ii)
the aggregate amount of premiums received by sissed member insurance companies over such Hieselar years on accident and
sickness insurance. The guaranty fund assessmeuws umder these acts are administered by thesstataranty association, which has its «
board of directors selected by member insurers thighapproval of the state insurance departmemgetreral, an assessment may be abated or
deferred by the guaranty association if, in thenmpi of the board of the guaranty association, payrwould endanger the ability of the
member to fulfill its contractual obligations. Thther member insurers, however, may be assesséitefamount of such abatement or defe
All or a portion of such assessment paid by a mernmserance company may be offset
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against its premium tax liability to the state unegtion over a multiple year period (generally fiwel0 years) following the year in which the
assessment was paid. The amount and timing ofianyef assessments, however, cannot be reasonsibhatesl and are beyond our control.

While the amount of any assessments applicablétard health guaranty funds cannot be predictitldl ertainty, we believe that futu
guaranty association assessments for insurer ieisciles will not have a material adverse effectwnliquidity and capital resources.

Risk-Based Capital Requirements

The states of domicile of our regulated subsidgahiave statutory risk-based capital, or RBC, resménts for health and other insurance
companies based on the RBC Model Act. These RBGin&gents are intended to assess the capital adggbiife and health insurers, taking
into account the risk characteristics of an insgrarvestments and products. The RBC Model Actfeeth the formula for calculating the RE
requirements which are designed to take into adcasset risks, insurance risks, interest rate askisother relevant risks with respect to an
individual insurance company’s business. In generaler these laws, an insurance company must sabmeport of its RBC level to the
insurance department or insurance commissiones state of domicile for each calendar year.

The RBC Model Act provides for four different lesalf regulatory attention depending on the ratia cbmpany’s total adjusted capital
(defined as the total of its statutory capital phus and asset valuation reserve) to its risk-baapital. The “Company Action Level” is
triggered if a company’s total adjusted capitdéis than 200 percent but greater than or equeBQgercent of its risk-based capital. At the
“Company Action Level”, a company must submit a poemensive plan to the regulatory authority whigdtdsses proposed corrective actions
to improve its capital position. A company whostltadjusted capital is between 250 percent ando20€ent of its riskbased capital is subje
to a trend test. The trend test calculates thetgref any decrease in the margin (i.e., the amudollars by which a company’s adjusted
capital exceeds its risk-based capital) betweerdinent year and the prior year and between theigtyear and the average of the past three
years, and assumes that the decrease could oaariaghe coming year. If a similar decrease ingimain the coming year would result ir
risk-based capital ratio of less than 190 peraéen “Company Action Level” regulatory action woudd triggered. The “Regulatory Action
Level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusteapital is less than 150 percent but greater thagoal to 100 percent of its risk-based capital.
At the “Regulatory Action Level”, the regulatorythority will perform a special examination of thengpany and issue an order specifying
corrective actions that must be followed. The “Aarthed Control Level” is triggered if a companyal adjusted capital is less than 100
percent but greater than or equal to 70 perceit$ ofsk-based capital, at which level the regulatauthority may take any action it deems
necessary, including placing the company underlagégry control. The “Mandatory Control Level” isggered if a company’s total adjusted
capital is less than 70 percent of its risksed capital, at which level the regulatory auth@ mandated to place the company under itsrobt

The law requires increasing degrees of regulataeygsight and intervention as an insurance compaRB€ declines. The level of
regulatory oversight ranges from requiring the rasge company to inform and obtain approval frommdbmiciling insurance commissioner
a comprehensive financial plan for increasing BCRto mandatory regulatory intervention requirarginsurance company to be placed under
regulatory control in a rehabilitation or liquidari proceeding. As of December 31, 2003, the RBEI$eof our insurance subsidiaries exceeded
all RBC thresholds.

NAIC IRIS Ratios

The NAIC requires review of financial relationships“tests” called the Insurance Regulatory Infotiora System, or IRIS, that were
designed for early identification of companies thmaty require special attention by insurance regayauthorities. Insurance companies sul
statutory financial data on an annual basis to the
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NAIC, which in turn analyzes the data using ratiogering eleven categories of data with defi“usual ranges” for each category. An
insurance company may fall out of the usual ramg®fie or more ratios because of specific transastdr events that are, in and of themse
immaterial. Generally, an insurance company wittdrae subject to regulatory scrutiny if its IRISuks fall outside of the usual ranges on {
or more of the ratios. If a company is outsiderdneges on four or more of the ratios, a writtenl@xation is prepared and sent to regulators.
None of our insurance subsidiaries is currenthjestttio regulatory scrutiny based on IRIS rat

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our principal executive offices are located at Mthument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana. In addittorthis property, our principi
operating facilities are located in Denver, Colaradorth Haven, Connecticut; Indianapolis, Indial&son/Cincinnati, Ohio;
Worthington/Columbus, Ohio; Manchester, New HamgsHiouisville, Kentucky; South Portland, Maine @ighmond, Virginia. In total, we
own approximately 15 facilities and lease approxétya75 facilities. These locations total 6.2 noillisquare feet, of which we occupy 5.8
million square feet, and are located in 15 stadés believe that our properties are adequate aabdeifor our business as presently condut

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
Litigation

A number of managed care organizations have beshiawclass action lawsuits asserting various agaction under federal and state
law. These lawsuits typically allege that the defent managed care organizations employ policiepamtedures for providing health care
benefits that are inconsistent with the terms efdbverage documents and other information provideékeir members, and because of these
misrepresentations and practices, a class of menmasrbeen injured in that they received benefitssser value than the benefits represented
to and paid for by such members. One such procggedihich alleges various violations of the Emplojrstirement Income Security Act of
1974 (“ERISA”), has been filed in Connecticut agithe Company’s Connecticut subsidiaFjie State of Connecticut v. Anthem Blue Cross
and Blue Shield of Connecticut, Anthem Health Rléms, et. al.No. 3:00 CV 1716 filed on September 7, 2000 inuinéted States District
Court, District of Connecticut, was brought by ennecticut Attorney General on behalf of a pupedrtiass of HMO and Point of Service
members in Connecticut. No monetary damages aghsoalthough the suit does seek injunctive rdtiefn the court to preclude the Company
from allegedly utilizing arbitrary coverage guideds, making late payments to providers or memlblersying coverage for medically necess
prescription drugs and misrepresenting or failmglisclose essential information to enrollees. @dmplaint contends that these alleged
policies and practices are a violation of ERISAisTtase was dismissed by the trial court on Sepgerh®, 2003; the Connecticut Attorney
General filed a motion for reconsideration by thal tourt, which was denied on October 1, 2003 Afttorney General filed an appeal to the
Eleventh Circuit on December 1, 2003. The Eleveithuit has not decided whether to accept the dppea

In addition, the Company’s Connecticut subsidiarg defendant in three class action lawsuits brooiglbehalf of professional providers
in ConnecticutEdward Collins, M.D., et. al., v. Anthem Health ®dalnc.,No. CV 99 0156198 S was filed on December 14, 1A98e
Superior Court Judicial District of Waterbury, Cewmticut andStephen R. Levinson, M.D., Karen Laugel, M.D. ande¥in Lynch M.D. v.
Anthem Health Plans, Inc. d/b/a Anthem Blue Cras$sBlue Shield of Connectic, No. 3:01 CV 426 was filed on February 14, 20@1lthie
Superior Court Judicial District of New Haven, Centicut. The suits allege that the Connecticut islidry has breached its contracts by,
among other things, failing to pay for serviceaatordance with the terms of the contracts. This siso allege violations of the Connecticut
Unfair Trade Practices Act, breach of the impliedlydof good faith and fair dealing, negligent mgesentation and unjust enrichmedallins
andLevinsonseek injunctive relief and monetary damages (bothpensatory and punitive). The third suit, broughthe Connecticut State
Medical SocietyConnecticut State Medical Society v. Anthem Heglitins, Inc., seeks
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injunctive relief only.LevinsonandConnecticut State Medical Societgre transferred to the Multi District LitigatioiMDL") docket in
Miami, Florida, as tag-along cases. All of the tdgng cases in the MDL are being stayed, untiraltions in the main provider track cases
have been ruled on.

On July 19, 2001, in th€ollins suit the Connecticut state court certified a cksto three of the plaintiff's fifteen allegatioi$e class is
defined as those physicians who practice in Commeadr group practices which are located in Cotioatthat were parties to either a
Participating Physician Agreement or a Particigattnysicians Group Agreement with the Company ant¥&onnecticut subsidiary during
the period from 1993 to the present, excluding-sliring arrangements and certain other contrahsclaims which were certified as class
claims are: the Company'’s alleged failure to preyihintiffs and other similarly situated physiganith consistent medical utilization/quality
management and administration of covered serviggmping financial incentive and performance bosuseproviders and the Company’s
staff members involved in making utilization managat decisions; an alleged failure to maintain eateubooks and records whereby
improper payments to the plaintiffs were made basedlaim codes submitted; and an alleged failonervvide senior personnel to work with
plaintiffs and other similarly situated physiciaiitie Company appealed the class certification aetiand on September 22, 2003, the
Connecticut Supreme Court reversed the classicatidn decision, and remanded the matter backedrtal court for further proceedings. The
trial court is to consider four claims, and deterenwhether the claims are appropriate for treatrasmiass claims.

On September 26, 2002, Anthem, Inc. was addeddatemdant to a MDL class action lawsuit pendinthiUnited States District Court
for the Southern District of Florida, Miami Divigipcaptionedn Re: Humana, Inc. Managed Care LitigatiphMDL No. 1334. Other
defendants include Humana, Aetna, Cigna, Covehteglth Net, PacifiCare, Prudential, United and \Weiht. The managed care litigation
around the country has been consolidated to theMis&ict Court in Miami, Florida, under MDL rule$he Court has split the case into two
groups, a “provider track” involving claims by docs, osteopaths, and other professional providesa “subscriber track” involving claims
by subscribers or members of the various health gé¢dendants. The complaint against Anthem andtier defendants alleges that the
defendants do not properly pay claims, but insteawn-code” claims, improperly “bundle” claims, usgoneous or improper cost criteria to
evaluate claims and delay paying proper claims.stliealso alleges that the defendants operatenanom scheme and conspiracy in violation
of the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organizations (BRICO”). The suit seeks declaratory and injuvetrelief, unspecified monetary
damages, treble damages under RICO and punitivaglesn The court certified a class in the proviceek cases on September 26, 2002, but
denied class certification in the subscriber treages. Defendants in the provider track cases soagthon November 20, 2002 were granted,
an interlocutory appeal of the class certificatiothe Eleventh Circuit. Due to the Compasidte addition to the case, it was not includethé
September 26, 2002 class certification order, aridarefore not part of the appeal; however, the@my may be affected by the outcome of
the appeal. The appeal was argued to the Elevanthipanel on September 11, 2003; a ruling vetitie in due course.

On October 10, 2001, the Connecticut State Densabgiation and five dental providers filed suitiagathe Company’s Connecticut
subsidiary Connecticut State Dental Association, Dr. MartinttRDr. Michael Egan, Dr. Sheldon Natkin, Dr. SumarNameth and Dr. Bruce
Tandy v. Anthem Health Plans, Inc., d/b/a Antheoe Blross and Blue Shield of Connectita, CV-0100003, was filed in the Superior Court
Judicial District of Hartford, Connecticut. The salleged breach of contract and violation of then@ecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act. The
suit was voluntarily withdrawn on November 9, 200le claims were refiled on April 15, 2002, as tsaparate suits; one captioned
Connecticut State Dental Association v. Anthem tellans, Inc., d/b/a Anthem Blue Cross and Bluel8lof Connecticuf No. CV-000101,
was filed in the Superior Court Judicial DistriétNew Haven, and the second by two dental providargoortedly on behalf of a class of de
providers captionetMartin Rutt, D.D.S. and Michael Egan D.D.S. et, alAnthem Health Plans, Inc., d/b/a Anthem BluesSrand Blue Shie
of Connecticut No. CV-000103, was filed in the Superior Court Judicial Distrof Hartford, Connecticut. Both suits seek injiive relief, anc
unspecified monetary damages (both compensatorpamitive). Both cases were transferred to the MiDtket as tag-along cases, and have
been consolidated with the MDL suits pending beflugge Moreno in Miami, Florida. Both cases aredpstayed, as are all of the tag-along
suits in the MDL.
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On May 22, 2003, in a case titl&gnneth Thomas, M.D., et al., v. Blue Cross Bluel@Wssociation, et al.No. 03-21296, several
medical providers filed suit in federal court inavii, Florida against the Blue Cross Blue Shieldoggstion and Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans
across the country, including the Company. Thealéges that the BCBS Association and the BCB&$élated RICO and challenges m
of the same practices as other suits in the MDLMaxy 8, 2003, in a case titldat. Allen Knecht, et al., v. Cigna, et a\p. 03-6109-AA,
several chiropractors filed a purported class adtidederal court in Portland, Oregon, naming Bloe Cross Blue Shield Plans, including the
Company, as well as several commercial insureris. ddse also alleges that the defendants violat€®Rnd challenges many of the same
practices in regards to chiropractors. Both casesiew assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. Both sase in the early stages of the pleadings.

On October 17, 2003, in a case titllffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Cigna, etldb, 03-CV-22804, several chiropractors and a
podiatrist, along with chiropractic and podiatrgseciations, filed suit in federal court in MiarRlprida, against ten managed care companies,
including the Company. The suit alleges that theganies violated RICO and challenges many of theegaractices as other suits in the Ml
On November 4, 2003, in a case titlkdfrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Blue Cross Bloiel8 Association, et al.No. 03-22935, several
chiropractors, podiatrists, a psychologist and gsyaal therapist, along with their professionalpmations and trade associations, filed suit in
federal court in Miami, Florida against the Blueo€s Blue Shield Association and Blue Cross Blueli?lans across the country, including
the Company. The suit alleges that the BCBS Astiotiand the BCBS Plans violated RICO and challemgany of the same practices as
other suits in the MDL. Both cases have been teared to the MDL docket and are now assigned tgdiioreno. Both cases are in the early
stages of the pleadings.

Anthem'’s primary Ohio subsidiary and primary Kerdyisubsidiary were sued on June 27, 2002, in tlesjpective state courts. The suits
were brought by the Academy of Medicine of Cincitires well as individual physicians, and purporbe class action suits brought on behalf
of all physicians practicing in the greater Cindgtirarea and in the Northern Kentucky area, resglgt In addition to the Anthem subsidiari
both suits name Aetna, United Healthcare and Huraardefendants. The first suit, captioehdemy of Medicine of Cincinnati and Luis
Pagani, M.D. v. Aetna Health, Inc., Humana HealtarPof Ohio, Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue $highd United Health Care of Ohi
Inc., No. A0200494was filed on June 27, 2002 in the Court of Commlea$, Hamilton County, Ohio. The second suit, caq@ilAcademy of
Medicine of Cincinnati and A. Lee Greiner, M.D.¢cdr Schmelzer, M.D., and Karl S. Ulicny, Jr., M\D Aetna Health, Inc., Humana, In
Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and United He@#tre, Inc., No. (-CI-903was filed on June 27, 2002 in the Boone County,tideky
Circuit Court.

Both suits allege that the four companies actezbmbination and collusion with one another to redilne reimbursement rates paid to
physicians in the area. The suits allege thatdiseat result of the defendants’ alleged anti-cotitipe actions, health care in the area has
suffered, namely that: there are fewer hospitdigsjtians are rapidly leaving the area; medicatticas are unable to hire new physicians; .
from the perspective of the public, the availapitf health care has been significantly reducedhBaiit alleges that these actions violate the
respective state’s antitrust and unfair competitiwns, and each suit seeks class certification peareatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and
injunctive relief to prevent the alleged antimpetitive behavior against the class in the &itiotions to dismiss or to send the cases to bg
arbitration, per the provider contracts, were filedoth courts. The Ohio court overruled the mmion January 21, 2003 and the Kentucky
court overruled the motions on February 19, 200&eBdants have appealed both rulings. The Ohioapyres heard on September 23, 2003.
The Ohio appellate court affirmed the trial courtiing on November 21, 2003. On January 2, 200#h&m filed a motion seeking a
discretionary appeal to the Ohio Supreme Courulg will issue in due course. In the Kentuckyeaso date has been set for oral argument.
Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certificatiowhich was heard and rejected by the trial courdag 24, 2003. Plaintiffs have filed a renewed
motion for class certification, which is set forahnieg on October 24, 2003. These suits are in teénpinary stages. The Company intends to
vigorously defend the suits and believes that &hbjlity from these suits will not have a matedaverse effect on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
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On October 25, 1995, Anthem Insurance and two hal&ffiliates were named as defendants in a laviieil Dr. William Lewis, et al. \
Associated Medical Networks, Ltd., et, that was filed in the Superior Court of Lake Ciyyindiana. The plaintiffs are three related Healt
care providers. The health care providers assatthie Company failed to honor contractual assigrimef health insurance benefits and
violated equitable liens held by the health camvigers by not paying directly to them the heattsurance benefits for medical treatment
rendered to patients who had insurance with thegamy. The Company paid its customers’ claims ferttbalth care providers’ services by
sending payments to its customers as called fahdly insurance policies, and the health care piergi assert that the patients failed to use the
insurance benefits to pay for the health care plerg’ services. The plaintiffs filed the case &taas action on behalf of similarly situated
health care providers and seek compensatory danvagespecified amounts for the insurance benabtsaid to the class members, plus
prejudgment interest. The case was transferreuet&uperior Court of Marion County, Indiana, whieie now pending. On December 3, 20
the Court entered summary judgment for the Commumamthe health care providers’ equitable lien claifffee Court also entered summary
judgment for the Company on the health care prag contractual assignments claims to the extenttti@ahealth care providers do not hold
effective assignments of insurance benefits frotiepts. On the same date, the Court certified #se @s a class action. As limited by the
summary judgment order, the class consists of nealte providers in Indiana who (1) were not in ohthe Company’s networks, (2) did not
receive direct payment from the Company for ses/iemdered to a patient covered by one of the Cogipansurance policies that is not
subject to ERISA, (3) were not paid by the pati@ntwere otherwise damaged by the Company’s paytodts customer instead of to the
health care provider), and (4) had an effectivégassent of insurance benefits from the patient. Toepany filed a motion seeking an
interlocutory appeal of the class certificationa@rth the Indiana Court of Appeals. On May 20, 2@@2Indiana Court of Appeals granted the
Company’s motion seeking an interlocutory appedhefclass certification order. In February 200@, indiana Court of Appeals affirmed the
trial court’s class certification. The Company dila petition for the transfer to the Indiana Supreé@ourt in March 2003. The petition for
transfer was argued on October 2, 2003, and thariadSupreme Court accepted transfer in an ordeddactober 2, 2003. An opinion will
issue in due course. In any event, the Companpdistéo continue to vigorously defend the case atid\es that any liability that may result
from the case will not have a material adversecefie its consolidated financial position or resuf operations.

In addition to the lawsuits described above, then@any is also involved in other pending and thmeadditigation of the character
incidental to the business transacted, arisingbiis insurance and investment operations, affieoia time to time involved as a party in
various governmental and administrative proceedififs Company believes that any liability that mesult from any one of these actions is
unlikely to have a material adverse effect on @sswlidated results of operations or financial posi

Other Contingencies

The Company, like a number of other Blue CrossBine Shield companies, serves as a fiscal interangdor Medicare Parts A and B.
The fiscal intermediaries for these programs recedimbursement for certain costs and expenditwiegh is subject to adjustment upon audit
by the Federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid ®&w, formerly the Health Care Financing Administna. The laws and regulations
governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicaregram are complex, subject to interpretation amdeogose an intermediary to penalties for
non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be saibgecriminal fines, civil penalties or other sanas as a result of such audits or reviews.
While the Company believes it is currently in corapte in all material respects with the regulatigoserning fiscal intermediaries, there are
ongoing reviews by the federal government of then@any’s activities under certain of its Medicacéil intermediary contracts.

AdminaStar Federal, Inc. (“AdminaStar”), a subsigiaf Anthem Insurance, has received several sulgoprior to May 2000 from the
Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) and the U.S.gaetment of Justice, one seeking documents andafiion concerning its responsibilities
as a Medicare Part B contractor in its Kentuckyceffand the others requesting certain financiadnes and information of AdminaStar and
Anthem Insurance related to the Company’s Meditiacal intermediary (Part A) and carrier (Part Beaations. The
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Company has made certain disclosures to the govarnralating to its Medicare Part B operations ankicky. The Company was advised by
the government that, in conjunction with its ongpieview of these matters, the government hastkssa reviewing separate allegations made
by individuals against AdminaStar, which are inéddvithin the same timeframe and involve issuesiragifrom the same nucleus of operative
facts as the government’s ongoing review. The Campisnot in a position to predict either the ulite outcome of these reviews or the extent
of any potential exposure should claims be mad@aagthe Company. However, the Company believedfiaeg or penalties that may arise
from these reviews would not have a material adveffect on the consolidated financial positiomesults of operations.

As a Blue Cross Blue Shield Association licenske,Gompany participates in the Federal Employegrm (“FEP”), a nationwide
contract with the Federal Office of Personnel Mamagnt to provide coverage to federal employeedtaiddependents. On July 11, 2001, the
Company received a subpoena from the OIG, Offideéarsonnel Management, seeking certain financiamhents and information, including
information concerning intercompany transactioefgted to operations in Ohio, Indiana and Kentuokgler the FEP contract. The governn
has advised the Company that, in conjunction witlohgoing review, the government is also revievérggparate allegation made by an
individual against the Company’s FEP operationsctvis included within the same timeframe and ineslissues arising from the same
nucleus of operative facts as the government’s imggeview. The Company is currently cooperatingwtihe OIG and the U.S. Department of
Justice on these matters. The ultimate outcomleasit reviews cannot be determined at this time.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
The Company did not submit any matters to a votgeotirity holders during the fourth quarter of 2003

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
Directors

Lenox D. Baker, Jr., M.D.,age 62, has been a director of the Company sing2 20d Anthem Insurance from 2002 to May 2003.
Baker had served on the former Trigon Healthcare, Board of Directors from 1985 until its mergathnthe Company in July 2002. He is a
cardiac and thoracic surgeon, and has served a&l@né of the Mid-Atlantic Cardiothoracic Surgeohtd., since 1979.

Susan B. Bayhage 44, has been a director of the Company sin@# 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 1998l&y 2003. Mrs.
Bayh has been a Distinguished Visiting ProfessahéCollege of Business Administration at Butlerivgrsity since 1994. She was a member
of the International Joint Commission between tin¢ddl States and Canada from 1994 to 2001.

Larry C. Glasscock,age 55, has served as President and Chief Exeddtiicer and as a director of the Company sincel2&d as
President and Chief Executive Officer and a dineofcAnthem Insurance since 1999. He became Chaiwhtéhe Board of the Company in
May 2003. He joined Anthem Insurance in April 1988Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Opey&dfficer. He was named Presidi
and Chief Operating Officer in April 1999 and sueded L. Ben Lytle as Chief Executive Officer upon Mytle’s retirement in October 1999.
Prior to joining Anthem Insurance, Mr. Glasscockvse as Chief Operating Officer of CareFirst, lftom January 1998 to April 1998.

William B. Hart, age 60, has been a director of the Company sin@& 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 200M&ay 2003. He
was President of The Dunfey Group (capital consglfirm) from 1986 to 1998. Since 1999, he has l&eairman of the National Trust for
Historic Preservation (philanthropic organization).

Allan B. Hubbard, age 56, has been a director of the Company sing& &0d a director of Anthem Insurance from 199®&y 2003.
He has been President of E&A Industries (managesmnpany for various manufacturing companies) siri®3. From 1991 to 1992, Mr.
Hubbard served as Deputy Chief of Staff to the \Reesident of the United States.
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Victor S. Liss, age 67, has been a director of the Company sing@e& 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 199WM&y 2003. He
was Chief Executive Officer of Trans-Lux Corporati@lectronics) from 1993 until his retirement iprAA 2002. Mr. Liss continues to serve as
Vice Chairman and a director of Trans-Lux Corpanati

L. Ben Lytle , age 57, has been a director since 2001 and waSthirman of the Board of the Company from 200&y 2003. He wa
a director of Anthem Insurance from 1987 to May2@@d Chairman of the Board of Anthem Insurancenfi®97 to May 2003. Mr. Lytle
served as President of Anthem Insurance from Ma8&9 to April 1999 and as Chief Executive OfficéAmthem Insurance from March 1989
to October 1999, when he retired. He is an ExeetitivResidence at the University of Arizona SchafdBusiness.

William G. Mays, age 58, has been a director of the Company sin@& @0d a director of Anthem Insurance from 199Bl&y 2003. He
has been President and Chief Executive Officer aj$/Chemical Company, Inc. (chemical distributisimce 1980.

James W. McDowell, Jr.,age 62, has been a director of the Company sin@e 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 1998l&y
2003. He founded McDowell & Associates (businessagament consulting) in 1992 after serving as Chiefcutive Officer of Dairymen,
Inc. from 1980 to 1992.

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.age 66, has been a director of the Company sin@# 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 1999 to
May 2003. In April 2001, he joined APCO Worldwide @hairman of APCO Government Affairs. From 1992@01, he was Deputy
Chairman of Shandwick International (global comneatibpns). He served in the U.S. Senate from 19itduthh 1994 and in the U.S. House of
Representatives from 1967 through 1975.

William J. Ryan, age 60, has been a director of the Company sin@& 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 200M&y 2003. He
has served as Chairman, President and Chief ExedDfficer of Banknorth Group, Inc. since 1990.

George A. Schaefer, Jr.age 58, has been a director of the Company sin@é 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 1995&y
2003. He has been President and Chief Executivieddfdf Fifth Third Bancorp since 1990. He is adsdirector of Fifth Third Bancorp.

John Sherman, Jr.,age 58, has been a director of the Company sin@2 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 200Rl&y 2003.
Mr. Sherman had served on the former Trigon Heatthdnc. Board of Directors from 2000 until itsnger with the Company in July 2002.
served as President and Chief Executive Offic8anftt & Stringfellow, Inc. (investment banking) finaJanuary 1996 to August 2002. He
currently serves as Vice Chairman of Scott & Stieligw and is a member of the Board of Directors.

Dennis J. Sullivan, Jr.,age 72, has been a director of the Company sin@& &0d a director of Anthem Insurance since 19%bisHan
Executive Counselor for Dan Pinger Public Relatj@position he also held from April 1993 to Septem2000.

Jackie M. Ward, age 65, has been a director of the Company sin@2 20d a director of Anthem Insurance from 200Rl&y 2003. Ms.
Ward had served on the former Trigon Healthcare, Board of Directors from 1993 until its mergetiwihe Company in July 2002. She was a
founder and served as President, Chief Executifiegdfand Chairman of Atlanta-based Computer Geiardncorporated (“CGI”) from 1970
to 2000. Since December 2000, Ms. Ward has seweditside managing director of Intec Telecom Systemhich purchased CGI.
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Executive Officers

Age
Name Position
Larry C. Glasscoc 55  President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard of Director
David R. Frick 59  Executive Vice President and Chief Legal and Adstmative Officer
Samuel R. Nussbaum, M. 55  Executive Vice President and Chief Medical Offi
Michael L. Smith 55  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial anddmting Officer
Mark Boxer 44  Senior Vice President and Chief Strategy and Basifzevelopment Office
Marjorie W. Dorr 41  President, Anthem Ea
Keith R. Fallet 56  President, Anthem Midwe:
Michael D. Houk 58  President, National Accoun
Caroline S. Matthew 44  Chief Operating Officer, Anthem Blue Cross and B&leeld in Colorado and Neva
John M. Murphy 52  President, Specialty Busine
Jane E. Niederberg 44  Senior Vice President and Chief Information Offi
Thomas G. Snead, . 50  President, Anthem Southe:

The following is biographical information for ouxecutive officers:
Larry C. Glasscock See biographical information under “Directors” agpe 31.

David R. Frick has served as Executive Vice President and Chigdilland Administrative Officer of the Company sir&¥1. He joine:
Anthem Insurance in 1995 as Executive Vice Presidad Chief Legal and Administrative Officer. Prtorjoining Anthem Insurance, he
served as a director. Mr. Frick was a partner @talw firm of Baker & Daniels from 1982 to 1995ddme was managing partner from 1987 to
1992.

Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.Dhas served as Executive Vice President and ChieliddeOfficer of the Company since 2001. From 188
2000, Dr. Nussbaum served both as Executive Viesi@ent for Medical Affairs and System IntegrataarBJC Health System of St. Louis and
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of HealéintRers of the Midwest.

Michael L. Smith has served as Executive Vice President and Chiaingial and Accounting Officer of the Company sig681. He ha
been Executive Vice President and Chief Financféit& of Anthem Insurance since 1999. From 1996968, Mr. Smith served as Chief
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Anican Health Network, Inc., a former Company sdiasy. He was Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer of Mayflower Group, Ir{transport company) from 1989 to 1995.

Mark Boxer has served as Senior Vice President, Chief StratadyBusiness Development Officer since May 2068hkld various
executive positions since joining the Company i0@0rom 1996 to 2000, he was a Senior Vice Prasidiéh CIGNA.

Marjorie W. Dorr has served as President of Anthem East since Z@0has held numerous executive positions sinnagiAnthem
Insurance in 1991, including Vice President of @ogte Finance; Chief Financial Officer of Anthems@alty Insurance Group; President of
Anthem Prescription Management, LLC; and Chief @pirg Officer of Anthem Health Plans, Inc. in Cootieut.
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Keith R. Faller has served as President of Anthem Midwest sinc&.1198 has held numerous executive positions smioeng Anthem
Insurance in 1970, including Senior Vice PresidentCustomer Administration; President of Acordfdtte South; Executive Vice President,
Health Operations; Chief Executive Officer, Antheife Insurance Companies, Inc.; and President amdf&Executive Officer, Acordia Small
Business Benefits, Inc.

Michael D. Houk has served as President of National Accounts fahém Insurance since 2000. He has held variousuéixeqositions
since joining Anthem Insurance in 1979, includinigd/President of Sales and President and ChiefuiExecOfficer of Acordia of Central
Indiana.

Caroline S. Matthewshas served as Chief Operating Officer of AnthemeBlwoss and Blue Shield in Colorado and Nevadas2000.
She has held various executive positions sincéngiAnthem Insurance in 1988, including Vice Presidof Corporate Finance; Vice Presid
of Planning and Administration for Information Textiogy; and Chief Operating Officer and Chief Fioiah Officer of Acordia of the South.

John M. Murphy has served as President, Specialty Business s0ti Ple has held various executive positions sioicéng Anthem
Insurance in 1988, including Vice President of @tiens of Anthem Insurance; President and Chiethtiee Officer of Anthem Life
Insurance Company; and President and Chief Exee@fficer of Acordia Senior Benefits, Inc.

Jane E. Niederbergerhas served as Senior Vice President and Chiefrivdtbon Officer since 1999. She joined Anthem Insggain
1997. From 1983 to 1996, she has held various ¢ixeqoositions with Harvard Pilgrim Health Care.

Thomas G. Snead, Jrhas served as President of Anthem Southeast $inaadrger with Trigon Healthcare, Inc. in 2002. Binead had
been Chief Executive Officer of Trigon from 19992002 and President and Chief Operating Officemfd®97 to 1999.

The above information includes business experiginicig the past five years for each of the Compseyecutive officers. Executive
officers of the Company serve at the discretiothefBoard of Directors. There is no family relaghip between any of the directors or
executive officers of the Company.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
Market Prices

The Compan's Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, igllistethe New York Stock Exchanc*NYSE”) under the symbc
“ATH”. On February 17, 2004, there were 181,701rghalders of record of the Common Stock. The follmgtable presents high and low
sales prices for the Common Stock on the NYSEHermeriods indicated.

High Low

2003

First Quarte $67.1:  $53.0(

Second Quarte 82.9( 63.8(

Third Quartel 82.0C 66.01

Fourth Quarte 77.9¢ 64.7¢
2002

First Quarte $58.95  $46.4(

Second Quarte 75.2¢ 57.5(

Third Quartel 70.5( 56.7¢

Fourth Quarte 75.5(C 54.5(

Dividends

No cash dividends have been paid on our commork stiod our board of directors does not presentinidtto declare any such divider
The declaration and payment of future dividends$ mélat the discretion of our board of directord arust comply with applicable law. Future
dividend payments will depend upon our financiaidition, results of operations, future liquidityews, potential acquisitions, regulatory and
capital requirements and other factors deemedastdwy our board of directors. In addition, we ateolding company whose primary assets
are 100% of the capital stock of Anthem Insuranw Anthem Southeast, Inc. Our ability to pay divide to our shareholders, if authorized by
our board of directors, is primarily dependent ugmareceipt of dividends from these companiesthail receipt of dividends from our other
regulated insurance subsidiaries.

In addition, the indenture governing the termswf .95% debentures issued as part of our 6.00%yEgacurity Units prohibits, with
certain limited exceptions, the payment of dividend our common stock during a deferral of intepagtments on the debentures or an event
of default under the indenture. We also have thimopo defer contract fee payments on the purchasgacts that are also a part of our Units.
If we elect to defer contract fee payments, we ognaith certain limited exceptions, pay dividerasour common stock during a deferral
period.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
Securities authorized for issuance under our equitypensation plans at December 31, 2003 are lasvfol

Weighted-average Number of securities
Number of securities to be exercise price of remaining available for
Plan issued upon exercise of outstanding future issuance under equity
Category (a) outstanding options (b) options compensation plans (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holde 4,171,60% $64.05 17,881,681

(&) We have no equity compensation plans not approyesgburity holders

(b) Excludes 1,940,971 shares to be issued upon theisx®f outstanding stock options under the Trigl@althcare, Inc. 1997 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended, the Trigon Healthcare Bimployee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, as atedrand certain options granted
to consultants to Trigon Healthcare, Inc. (“TrighaSsumed by us as part of the acquisition of Trigio July 31, 2002. The weighted-
average exercise price of these options was $3

(c) Excludes securities reflected in the colui*Number of securities to be issued upon exercisritsftanding optior”. Includes 15,361,90
shares available for issuance as stock optionsiates! stock awards, performance stock award$ppeance awards and stock
appreciation rights under our 2001 Stock Incenfiian. Includes 2,519,780 shares of common stocikaéa for issuance under our
Employee Stock Purchase Pl

See Note 10 to our audited consolidated finantgdéments included in Part I1, Item 8, of this Fak@K for additional information
regarding our equity compensation plans.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA.

The table below provides selected consolidatedfiizd data of Anthem. The information has beenvdetifrom our consolidate
financial statements for each of the years in i Jear period ended December 31, 2003, which baea audited by Ernst & Young LLP.
You should read this selected consolidated findmigita in conjunction with the audited consolidafiedncial statements and notes included in
Part I, Item 8, of this Form 10-K and “Managemeriiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations” included in
Part 11, Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

As of and for the Year Ended December 3

2003 20021 2001 20001 19991 2

(% in Millions, Except Per Share Data)
Income Statement Date

Total operating reventie $16,477.. $12,990.! $10,120.: $8,543.! $6,080.¢
Total revenue 16,771.. 13,282. 10,444, 8,771.( 6,270.:
Income from continuing operatiol 774.% 549.1 342.2 226.( 50.€
Net income® 774.% 549.1 342.2 226.( 44.¢
Per Share Data® 4 5
Basic income from continuing operatic $ 5.6C $ 461 $ 331 $ 2.1¢ $ 0.4¢
Diluted income from continuing operatio 5.4t 4.51 3.3C 2.1¢ 0.4¢
Other Data - (unaudited)
Benefit expense ratid 80.8% 82.4% 84.5% 84.7% 84.%
Administrative expense ratfo 18.%% 19.2% 19.6% 21.2% 24.2%
Income before income taxes and minority interest percentag
of total revenue 7.3% 6.1% 5.C% 3.8% 1.C%
Net income as a percentage of total reve 4.6% 4.1% 3.3% 2.6% 0.7%
Members (000s)
Midwest 5,68¢ 5,23¢ 4,85¢ 4,45¢ 4,25
East 2,60( 2,43¢ 2,26( 2,09: 1,391
West 93¢ 83€ 76¢ 59¢ 48€
Southeas 2,70( 2,54¢ — — —
Total 11,927 11,05: 7,88:% 7,14z 6,13¢
Balance Sheet Dat:
Cash and investmen $ 7,379. $ 6,643.( $ 4,478.. $3,714.¢ $2,972.
Total asset8 13,438.¢ 12,439.: 6,337.: 5,708.t 4,816.:
Long term deb 1,662.¢ 1,659.¢ 818.( 597.t 522.(
Total liabilities® 7,438." 7,077.( 4,277.: 3,788.% 3,155.:
Total shareholders’ equity 5,999.¢ 5,362.: 2,060.( 1,919.¢ 1,660.¢

1 The net assets and results of operations for E-NH, BCBS-CO/NV, BCBS-ME and Trigon are included from their respect
acquisition dates of October 27, 1999, Novemberl 989, June 5, 2000 and July 31, 2C

2 Income from continuing operations and net incomelfi99 includes contributions totaling $114.1 roifli($71.8 million, net of tax) t
nor-profit foundations in the states of Kentucky, Olial Connecticut to settle charitable asset cle

3 Operating revenue is obtained by adding premiuchsjigistrative fees and other revenue.

4 There were no shares or dilutive securities outsitenprior to November 2, 2001 (date of demutugiiraand initial public offering)
Accordingly, amounts prior to 2002 represent pmorfa earnings per share. For comparative pro foamairegs per share presentation,
weighted-average shares outstanding and the effelifutive securities for the period from Noveml!2r2001 to December 31, 2001 was
used to calculate pro forma earnings per sharalf@eriods prior to 200z
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5 We adopted FAS 14:Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse, on January 1, 2002. With the adoption of FAS 1M ceased amortizatic
of goodwill. The intangible assets establishedBflue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks are deembdwe indefinite lives, and
beginning January 1, 2002, are no longer amortiXetlincome and earnings per share on a compabable as if FAS 142 had been
adopted January 1, 1999, are as follc

2001 2000 1999
Net income adjusted for FAS 1. $357.¢ $238.t $52.C
Basic earnings per share adjusted for FAS 3.4¢ 2.3z 0.51
Diluted earnings per share adjusted for FAS 3.44 2.31 0.51

6 The benefit expense ratio represents benefit expana percentage of premium revenue. The adnaitivgtrexpense ratio represents
administrative expense as a percentage of openatirgnue

7 Members exclude TRICARE members of 128,000 andd®Bat December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. TRICARE operation
were sold on May 31, 200

8 Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform to current year presentati

9 Represents policyholders’ surplus prior to Anthedesnutualization on November 2, 2001.

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
The structure of our Management’s Discussion analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opiersat is as follows:

I Overview

Il. Significant Transaction

Il. Membershi—December 31, 2003 Compared to December 31,

IV.  Cost of Car—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the YrededDecember 31, 20l

V. Results of Operatio—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the YiededDecember 31, 20!

VI.  Membershi—December 31, 2002 Compared to December 31,

VIl.  Cost of Car—Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to the YededDecember 31, 20!

VIIl. Results of Operatio—Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to the YiededDecember 31, 20!

IX.  Critical Accounting Policies and Estimat

X. Liquidity and Capital Resourct

Xl.  Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Secultittegation Reform Act of 199!

I. Overview

We are one of the nation’s leading health beneéitapanies and we operate as an independent licehsiee Blue Cross Blue Shield
Association, or BCBSA. We offer Blue Cross Blue&thibranded products to customers throughout ldientucky, Ohio, Connecticut,
New Hampshire, Maine, Colorado, Nevada and Virg{ekcluding the immediate suburbs of WashingtoG.D.As of December 31, 2003, \
provided health benefit services to more than fiilBon members of our health plans.

Our health business segments are strategic businésdelineated by geographic areas within wkiehoffer similar products and
services. We manage our health business segmehta Wical focus to address each market’s unigogpetitive, regulatory and health care
delivery characteristics. Our health business segsrare: Midwest, which includes Indiana, Kentuekyl Ohio; East, which includes
Connecticut, New Hampshire and Maine; West, whidiides Colorado and Nevada; and Southeast, whidirginia, excluding the
immediate suburbs of Washington D.C.
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In addition to our four health business segmentsyeportable segments include a Specialty segthahts comprised of businesses
providing group life and disability insurance bdtefpharmacy benefit management, dental and visibministration services and behavioral
health benefits services. During the third quasfe2002, we sold our third party occupational Heakrvices businesses, which were part of our
Specialty segment. The results of these businessesnot material to earnings of this segment orconsolidated results. Our Specialty
segment is not delineated by geography.

Our Other segment is comprised of AdminaStar Fédetach administers Medicare programs in Indidiiemois, Kentucky, Ohio, Main
and New Hampshire; intersegment revenue and exmdinsi@ations; and corporate expenses not allocatedrr health or Specialty segments.
In 2001, our Other segment also contained Antheliade Health Insurance Company, or Anthem Allianeethem Alliance primarily
provided health care benefits and administrationiire states for the Department of Defense’s TRIEARogram for military families. We
sold our TRICARE operations on May 31, 2001.

We offer a diversified mix of managed care produictsluding preferred provider organizations or BPRealth maintenance
organizations or HMOs, traditional indemnity beteefo members of our fully-insured products anchpof service or POS plans. We also
provide a broad array of managed care servicesltdunded customers, including claims processimglerwriting, stop loss insurance,
actuarial services, provider network access, médst management and other administrative services

Our operating revenue consists of premiums, adinatige fees and other revenue. The premiums coome fully-insured contracts
where we indemnify our policyholders against cdstdealth benefits. Our administrative fees conoenf contracts where our customers are
self-insured, from the administration of Medicaregrams and from other health-related businessisdimg disease management programs.
Other revenue is principally generated from mendoepayments and deductibles associated with theorder sale of drugs by our pharmacy
benefit management company.

Our benefit expense includes costs of care forthearvices consumed by our members such as aertpatire, inpatient care,
professional services (primarily physician cared pharmacy benefit costs. All four components &fecged both by unit costs and utilization
rates. Unit costs include the cost of outpatiendice procedures per visit, inpatient hospital pehares per admission, physician fees per o
visit and prescription drug prices. Utilizationeatrepresent the volume of consumption of healtricgs and typically vary with the age and
health of our members and their social and lifestjioices, along with clinical protocols and customeach of our markets. A portion of
benefit expense for each reporting period consistetuarial estimates of claims incurred but rettpaid by us.

Our administrative expense consists of fixed anthbée costs. Examples of fixed costs are deprieciand amortization and facilities
expenses. Other costs are variable or discretidnargture. Certain variable costs, such as brakdrcommission expenses and premium ti
vary directly with premium volume. Other variablests, such as salaries and benefits, do not veegttli with changes in premium, but are
more aligned with changes in membership. The aitouisr loss of a significant block of businessullikely impact staffing levels, and th
salary and benefit expense. Discretionary costsdecprofessional and consulting expenses and tisingr Other factors can impact our
administrative cost structure, including systenigiehcies, inflation and changes in productivity.

Our results of operations depend in large partwrability to accurately predict and effectively mage health care costs through effec
contracting with providers of care to our memb&everal economic factors related to health caressash as regulatory mandates for
coverage and direct-to-consumer advertising byigerg and pharmaceutical companies have a dirgradhon the volume of care consumed
by our members. The potential effect of escalatieglth care costs as well as any changes in olityabinegotiate competitive rates with our
providers may impose further risks to our abiliyprofitably underwrite our business, and may heweaterial impact on our results of
operations.
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This management’s discussion and analysis shoutddzkin conjunction with our audited consoliddiedncial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 includBdrinll, Item 8, of this Form 10-K.

II. Significant Transactions

On October 27, 2003, we and WellPoint Health Neksdnc., or WellPoint, announced that we enteréal éndefinitive agreement a
plan of merger, or Merger Agreement, pursuant tekvkVellPoint will merge into our wholly-owned sutigry. WellPoint offers a broad
spectrum of network-based managed care plans thritsgigubsidiaries operating under the trade nahBsue Cross of California, Blue Cross
Blue Shield of Georgia, Blue Cross Blue Shield dagaburi, Blue Cross Blue Shield United of WisconsiealthLink and UNICARE.
WellPoint’'s managed care plans include PPOs, HMRQSs, traditional indemnity and other hybrid pldnsaddition, WellPoint offers
managed care services, including underwriting, a@liservices, network access, medical manageamehtlaims processing. WellPoint also
provides a broad array of specialty and other petedincluding pharmacy benefits management, devitibn, life insurance, preventive care,
disability insurance, behavioral health, COBRA #ledible benefits account administration.

Under the Merger Agreement, WellPoint's stockhaddeill receive consideration of twenty-three daland eighty cents in cash and one
share of our common stock for each WellPoint sbatstanding. The value of the transaction is egéthéo be approximately $16.4 billion
based on the closing price of our common stockheriNew York Stock Exchange on October 24, 2003F€ruary 26, 2004, we received
notification of early termination of the waitingnied under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improwemts Act of 1976, as amended. The
transaction is expected to close by mid-2004, stilbge among other things, state regulatory andesttdder approvals.

WellPoint reported the following financial resufts the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 antt 200

Years Ended December 3

2003 2002 2001
($ in Millions)

Total revenue: $20,359. $17,338.! $12,428.1
Net income 935.2 703.1 414.5

December 31

2003 2002

($ in Millions)
Assets $14,788." $11,470.1
Liabilities 9,358." 7,493.¢
Stockholder’ equity 5,430.( 3,976.

On July 31, 2002, we completed the purchase of 1008te outstanding stock of Trigon Healthcare,,loc Trigon. Trigon was
Virginia’s largest health benefits company and ¥esBlue Cross and Blue Shield licensee in Virgiekcluding the immediate suburbs of
Washington, D.C. With the acquisition we formed 8autheast segment. The Trigon acquisition alloustb further expand our territory as a
Blue Cross Blue Shield licensee. The results ofatpens for Trigon are included in our consolidaiecbme statement after completion of the
acquisition. Trigon’s shareholders each receivatsicteration of thirty dollars in cash and 1.062rekaf Anthem common stock for each
Trigon share outstanding. The purchase price wasapnately $4,038.1 million, which included cadhapproximately $1,104.3 million, the
issuance of approximately 39.0 million shares ofr®m common stock, valued at approximately $2,7@8lllon, Trigon stock options
converted into Anthem stock options for approxira89 million shares, valued at approximately $B9illion and approximately $30.2
million of transaction costs. Refer to the Liquydiind Capital Resources section of this discussipmore information related to the source:
funds for this acquisition. See Notes 2 and 3 ofaauudited consolidated financial statements forydrers ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, included in
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Part II, Item 8, of this Form 1B-for additional information concerning the protwa impact of Trigon on our consolidated financtatements

On May 31, 2001, we and Blue Cross and Blue Shitkiansas, or BCBS-KS, announced that we signesfiaitive agreement pursuant
to which BCBS-KS would become our wholly owned sdiasy. On February 11, 2002, the Kansas Insur&@wamissioner disapproved the
proposed transaction, which had been previouslycumep by the BCBS-KS policyholders in January 2002. joined BCBS-KS in an appeal
of the Commissioner’s decision, which was filedhatihe Shawnee County District Court on March 7,2@n June 7, 2002, the Shawnee
County District Court ruled in favor of us and BCES. The Shawnee County District Court directed@oenmissioner to re-evaluate her
decision in accordance with the Court’s very spedifterpretation of the Kansas law. On June 102@he Kansas Insurance Commissioner
appealed the District Court’s ruling to the KanSapreme Court. On August 6, 2003, the Kansas Sup@onrt overturned the Shawnee
County District Court’s ruling and reinstated thari§as Insurance Commissioner’s 2002 disapprovakgfroposed transaction. We and
BCBS-KS decided not to appeal this decision andigfmitive agreement was terminated.

lll.  Membership—December 31, 2003 Compared to Bember 31, 2002

Our membership includes seven different custonqeesyl ocal Large Group, Small Group, IndividualtiNiaal Accounts, Medicare
Choice, Federal Employee Program and Medicaid.

» Local Large Group consists of those customers @itlor more employees eligible to participate aseaver in one of our health
plans.

» Small Group consists of those customers with or#teligible employee:

* Individual members include those who are underGigas well as members who are age 65 and overagdpurchased Medicare
Supplement benefit coverac

» National Accounts customers are r-state employer groups headquartered in an Antleewice area with 1,000 or more eligible
employees, including 50 or more located in a seraiea where Anthem is not a BCBSA licensee. Iredudithin the National
Accounts business are customers who representessaf other Blue Cross and Blue Shield Planth@fhome” plans, who receive
health care services in our Blue Cross and Bluel&licensed markets. These customers are primBlilgCard member:

» Medicare + Choice members (age 65 and over) haatlethin coverages that are managed care altgesator the Medicare program.

» The Federal Employee Program, or FEP, providegheaurance coverage to United States governmmeployees and the
dependents within our geographic markets througtpatticipation in the national contract betweesm BCBSA and the U.S. Office of
Personnel Managemel

» Medicaid membership represents eligible members stidte sponsored managed care alternatives Mehléeaid programs that w
manage for the states of Connecticut and Virgi

BlueCard membership, reported with National Acceunembership, is calculated based on the amowluefCard administrative fees
we receive from the BlueCard members’ home plans pétform certain administrative functions for Blaed members, while other
administrative functions, including maintenancesofollment information, is performed by the homamIThe administrative fees we receive
are based on one of two methods of reimbursemeamoingly, we calculate our BlueCard membershifeckéntly based on each method of
reimbursement. The first method of reimbursemedeisved from the number and type of claims we ess¢both institutional and
professional, and a portion of the network discamthose claims. To calculate BlueCard memberfship this reimbursement method,
administrative fees are divided by an average panber per month, or PMPM, factor. The average PM&dtbr is determined using a
historical average administrative fee per claim anagverage number of claims per member per yesdoan our experience and BCBSA
guidelines. The second method of reimbursemenhegatiated per contract basis. To calculate Blug@Gsembership from this reimbursement
method, the number of contracts in force are miigtipby an assumed member per contract ratio.
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In addition to reporting our membership by custotype, we report membership by funding arrangeraeabrding to the level of risk
that we assume in the product contract. Our twdifugnarrangement categories are fully-insured a&ffdfended. Fully-insured products are
products in which we indemnify our policyholdersaatst costs for health benefits. Self-funded proslace offered to customers, generally
larger employers, who elect to retain some orfahe financial risk associated with their employdeealth care costs. Some employers choose
to purchase stop-loss coverage to limit their netdirisk. These employers are reported with odiffsetied business.

The renewal patterns of our fully-insured Locald@Group and Small Group business are as follopmoximately 35% of renewals
occur during the first quarter, approximately 2086emewals occur during the second quarter, apprately 30% of renewals occur during the
third quarter and approximately 15% of renewalsuociuring the fourth quarter. These renewal past&iave remained relatively consistent
over the past several years and allow us to adjuspricing and benefit plan designs in responseddket conditions throughout the year.

The following table presents our health memberblipustomer type, funding arrangement and segnseot Becember 31, 2003 and
2002. The membership data presented is unauditttharertain instances includes estimates of tiebar of members represented by each
contract at the end of the period, rounded to #erest thousand.

December 31

Change
2003 2002 %

(In Thousands)
Customer Type

Local Large Grouj 3,86¢ 3,86’ 2 — %
Small Groug 1,257 1,16¢ 89 8
Individual 1,20z 1,08¢ 11€ 11
National Accounts 4,59¢ 3,951 64% 16
Medicare + Choic 94 10z (9) 9)
Federal Employee Progrs 69¢ 677 22 3
Medicaid 21C 203 7 3
Total 11,92° 11,05: 874 8%

Funding Arrangement

Self-funded 6,412 5,615 79t 14%

Fully-insured 5,51t 5,43¢ 79 1
Total 11,92° 11,05: 874 8%

Segment

Midwest 5,68¢ 5,23¢ 454 9%

East 2,60( 2,43¢ 16€ 7

West 93¢ 83¢ 108 12

Southeas 2,70C 2,54¢ 151 6
Total 11,92° 11,05: 874 8%

1 Includes 2,816 BlueCard members as of Decembe2®13 and 2,419 BlueCard members as of Decemb&08P..

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2@28| tmembership increased approximately 874,008%rprimarily in our Natione
Accounts and Individual businesses.

The primary driver of our membership change wasrbeease in National Accounts membership of 64%,00 16%, which primarily
resulted from a significant increase in BlueCariivdg and enrollment gains
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in our other self-funded National Accounts busin@geCard growth is primarily attributed to incsea sales by other Blue Cross Blue Shield
licensees to accounts with members who reside iragel to our licensed areas. Our National Accewealf-funded business growth is
attributed to increased sales in our existing mariee to recognition of the value of our netwaks the related discounts we can secure, and
our competitive advantage resulting from the breadtour product offerings and distinctive custorservice.

Also contributing to our membership increase wadividual business enrollment gains of 118,000, 1%, primarily due to the
introduction of new, more affordable product designd an overall increase in consumer awarenaasr afide variety of quality products and
services.

Self-funded membership increased 795,000, or 14¥hgpily due to increases in BlueCard activity and other self-funded National
Accounts business. Fully-insured membership ine@#éy 79,000 members, or 1%, primarily in our Iidiial and Small Group businesses, as
explained above. In addition, we experienced a gham our mix of business by funding arrangemerteatain Local Large Group and
National Accounts customers shifted from f-insured to self-funded during the year ended Ddxr31, 2003. Due to current economic
conditions, certain large accounts are assumintehéh care risk associated with insuring theipkayees. This shift in funding arrangements
did not have a material impact on our financialhesfor the year ended December 31, 2003.

IV. Cost of Care—Year Ended December 31, 2003 @pared to the Year Ended December 31, 2002

The following discussion summarizes our aggregast of care trends for the -month period ended December 31, 2003 compared
12-month period ended December 31, 2002, for ogalbarge Group and Small Group fully-insured basses only. Membership in these
two customer groups represented approximately 608tmopremium income for the year ended DecembeRB@3. In all of our cost of care
trends presented below, we have included the nagesgormation associated with Trigon experienmelfoth rolling 12-month periods,
including periods prior to our July 31, 2002 acgigs. Our cost of care trends are calculated bygaring the year over year change in ave
per member per month claim costs for which we asponsible, which excludes memberpayments and deductibles. Our consolidated cc
care trends as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Percent of cos

Cost of
care trend of care expens
Aggregate 9% 10C%
Inpatient service 1C 21
Outpatient service 10 24
Professional service 10 36
Pharmacy 8 19

Our aggregate cost of care trend was approxim@8lydriven primarily by increased professional &gy costs and outpatient services
costs. We believe that our cost of care trendsrawige from 9.5% to 10.5% in 2004, an increase 2008 trends primarily due to expected
increases in our 2004 pharmacy costs.

Inpatient services costs increased approximatedy. bout 80% of this trend resulted from unit ciostreases and about 20% resulted
from utilization increases. The unit cost increasesge primarily due to implementation of new prasidontracts and a health care industry
shift of lower-cost procedures to outpatient sggirresulting in a mix of more complex and expemgikocedures being performed in inpatient
settings. Utilization increases resulted primatfiigm increases in cardiovascular and orthopedicisslons. In response to increasing inpatient
services costs, we have implemented and continegpgand our disease management programs, whigir@geams that address specific
diseases such as diabetes and asthma, and oucadw@re management programs, which are prograsigneel to focus on our members v
needs for care in response to complex and acutthteellenges. In addition, we continue to impletngerformance-based contracts that
reward improved clinical outcomes, quality and @atisafety.
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Outpatient services costs increased approximat®ly, Hriven approximately two thirds by unit costri@ases and one third by utilization
increases. Unit costs per visit increased as maeeplures are being performed during each visintoutpatient provider, as well as the img
of price increases imposed within certain provictamtracts. Efforts to mitigate unit cost trendsdatpatient services include contracting
strategies using fixed rate fee schedules, plaigaehanges to include new or higher co-paymentsddain outpatient services, selective
contracting with freestanding specialty facilitiexpansion of our radiology management network ianogand broader use of national
contracting programs. Increased utilization is ity due to additional visits for outpatient sungand radiology services, as well as a
continuing shift of certain procedures previoustyfprmed in an inpatient setting to an outpatiettirsg, such as selected cardiac care
procedures.

Professional services costs increased approxima@8ty. Our professional services trend increasedoappately 45% due to utilization
and approximately 55% due to unit cost. Utilizatinareases were driven primarily by increases iyspian office visits, radiology procedures
such as Magnetic Resonance Imaging, or MRIs, PosiEmission Tomography procedures, or PET scatssladoratory procedures. Office
visit utilization was driven by increased visitsdardiology, oncology and gastroenterology spest&liUnit cost increases were driven primz
by increases in physician reimbursement scheduegssponse to increasing professional servicetsco® continue to promote and implement
performance-based contracts that reward clinicedaues and quality; develop clinical affiliatiorsadvance uniform, evidence-based medical
care and preventive guidelines; and expand oualoothtive relationships with professional medicaliaties.

Pharmacy benefit costs increased approximately®36 pharmacy trend increased approximately 75%tawait cost and approximate
25% due to utilization. Unit costs were increasgcharily by price increases on existing brand dragd, to a lesser extent, the introduction of
new, higher cost drugs. However, unit cost grovah slowed due to an increase in the use of geakeimatives to branded drugs and price
reduction on certain older generic drugs. Growthtitization has slowed due to plan design chantiesimpact of Claritin, an antihistamine
drug, becoming available over-the-counter in [&82 the impact of a study that concluded that lworereplacement therapy for most post-
menopausal women is not recommended; and lowdsiatiti usage. The introduction of new drugs corgiito increase trends, supported by
direct-toconsumer advertising by pharmaceutical companidssapanded physician prescriptions of drugs thataga chronic conditions su
as high cholesterol and gastrointestinal disease.

In response to increasing pharmacy benefit costsane implementing modified plan designs and we=hragontracted with retail
pharmacies in an effort to secure better pricing. Mive also expanded several clinical initiativesighed to improve quality such as drug
utilization review, programs to detect and prewaiguse of prescription drugs and programs desigmeducate physicians and members about
the appropriate use of antibiotics. In addition,aeatinually evaluate our drug formulary to ensappropriate pharmaceutical therapies for our
members. We have about two-thirds of our membeiishiipree-tier drug programs and do not expectiagmt change from that level.
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V. Results of Operations—Year Ended December 32003 Compared to the Year Ended

December 31, 2002
Our consolidated results of operations for the yesmded December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31 Change
2003 2002 $ %
(% in Millions, Except Per Share Data,

Premiums $15,170.: $11,941.( $3,229.: 27%
Administrative fee: 1,180." 962.2 218.t 23
Other revenu 126.2 87.2 38.€ 45

Total operating revenue 16,477.. 12,990.! 3,486.¢ 27
Net investment incom 278.1 260.% 17.4 7
Net realized gains on investme| 17.¢ 30.4 (12.6) (47)
Gain (loss) on sale of subsidiary operati NM

(1.6 0.7 (2.9 2

Total revenue 16,771. 13,282. 3,489.: 26
Benefit expens 12,263.¢ 9,839.¢ 2,424} 25
Administrative expens 3,1009.¢ 2,506.¢ 603.( 24
Interest expens 131.2 98.t 32.7 33
Amortization of other intangible asst 47.€ 30.2 17.4 58

Total expens: 15,552.: 12,474, 3,077.¢ 25
Income before taxes and minority inter 1,219.: 807.¢ 411.F 51
Income taxe: 440.1 255.2 184.¢ 72
Minority interest 4.7 3.3 14 42
Net income $ 774 $ 549.1 $ 225.2 41%
Average basic shares outstanding (in millic 138.< 119.( 19.c 16%
Average diluted shares outstanding (in millio 142.( 121.¢ 20.2 17%
Basic net income per she $ 5.6 $ 461 $ 0.9¢ 21%
Diluted net income per sha $ 5.4t $ 451 $ 0.9/ 21%
Benefit expense ratid 80.6% 82.4% (26C) bp 4
Administrative expense ratfo 18.€% 19.2% (40) bp 4
Income before income taxes and minority interest percentage of total reven

7.2% 6.1% 12Chp 4

Net income as a percentage of total reve’ 4.€% 4.1% 50 bp 4

Certain of the following definitions are also applble to all other results of operations tablethis discussion:

1

Premium equivalents, which are not revenue, aresurea of the amount of claims attributable to-Medicare, setfunded healtt
business where we provide a complete array of mestgervice, claims administration, billing andaiment services, but the customer
retains the risk of funding payments for healthdf#s provided to members. We add premium equivalemoperating revenue to allow
for a comparison of business volume among comparitbsdiffering levels of revenues from fully-in®d and self-funded businesses.
We believe operating revenue and premium equivalisra useful analytical measure because it eliminfluctuations in operating
revenue caused by changes in the mix of fully-iedwand self-funded business. Premium equivaleritishware not included in operating
revenue above, for the years ended December 33,&0D2002 were $7,692.5 million and $5,271.0 orillirespectively

NM = Not meaningful

Benefit expense ratio = Benefit expense + Premit
bp = basis point; one hundred basis points =
Administrative expense ratio = Administrative exper Total operating revenue.

Income before income taxes and minority interest psrcentage of total revenue = income beforenirectaxes and minority interes!
total revenue
Net income as a percentage of total revenue =ngehie + total revenu

45



Table of Contents

Throughout the following discussion of our resatoperations, “same-store” excludes the operatesglts of our Southeast segment,
which was formed following our Trigon acquisitidoy the year ended December 31, 2003 and the fivatins ended December 31, 2002.

Premiums increased $3,229.2 million, or 27%, to,$16.2 million in 2003. Our premium yields, nettafy-downs for our fully-insured
Local Large Group and Small Group businesses, agpeoximately 10% on a rolling 12-month basis aBetember 31, 2003. On a same-
store basis, premiums increased $1,108.9 millioi086, primarily due to premium rate increasesunlocal Large Group, Small Group and
Federal Employee Program businesses. Also contriptd premium growth was higher fully-insured mearghip, primarily in our Individual
and Small Group businesses, which was partiallyedfity changes in the mix of our fully-insured protd with members selecting less rich
benefit designs, resulting in lower priced produéiso offsetting the growth were shifts by certaivcal Large Group and National Accounts
customers to self-funding arrangements, resultingwer revenues. The claims costs in certain Szaghlines of business were much lower
than anticipated. Therefore, our Southeast segissmed premiums refunds to certain Individual besenpolicyholders in the aggregate am
of $40.4 million, offsetting our premium growth.

Administrative fees increased $218.5 million, o#230 $1,180.7 million in 2003. On a same-storadhasiministrative fees increased
$30.8 million, or 4%, primarily due to increasediBCard activity and increased revenues fromfs@ldled membership, some of which rest
from the shift of customers from fully-insured arggments. These increases were partially offselelsyeased administrative fees from
AdminaStar Federal’s 1-800 Medicare Help Line cacitwvith the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid ey or CMS. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, CMS awarded a new contract far ¢$bivice to a competitor. The transition of tluatecact was substantially completed by .
30, 2003. Administrative fee increases were alstiglly offset by the termination of an East segihird party administrator arrangement in
2002.

Other revenue, which is comprised principally ofpayments and deductibles associated with Anthesadfiption Management'’s, or
Anthem Prescription’s, sale of mail-order drugsréased $38.9 million, or 45%, to $126.2 millior2B03. Anthem Prescription is our
pharmacy benefit management company that provideivices principally to members of other Anthedffiliates. On a same-store basis,
other revenue increased $34.2 million, or 42%, prim due to additional mail-order prescription wnle and increased prices of prescription
drugs sold by Anthem Prescription. Increased roaler prescription volume resulted from both mersbgrincreases and additional utilizat
of Anthem Prescription’s mail-order pharmacy.

Benefit expense increased $2,424.5 million, or 268%412,263.9 million in 2003. Included in thes®20esults was a $31.7 million net
favorable prior year reserve development recordeihd the second quarter of 2003, primarily in 8autheast and Midwest segments, and a
$24.5 million favorable adjustment for resolutidreditigation matter in our Midwest segment in fivst quarter of 2003. On a same-store
basis, benefit expense increased $773.6 millio8%yto $9,523.6 million in 2003. Included in thesene-store 2003 results was the
recognition of a $24.5 million favorable adjustméatresolution of a litigation matter in our Midsatesegment and a $15.9 million net
favorable prior year reserve development recordeahgd the second quarter of 2003. Included in #maes-store 2002 results was a $26.6
million net favorable prior year reserve developm&ame-store benefit expense increased primauiytd increased cost of care, which was
driven primarily by higher costs in professionatvéges and outpatient services. See “Cost of Carear¥nded December 31, 2003 Compared
to the Year Ended December 31, 2002.” Our bengfierse ratio decreased 160 basis points from 842802 to 80.8% in 2003 due in part
to the impact of our Trigon acquisition in 2002. ®same-store basis, our benefit expense rati@dsed 120 basis points to 81.4% in 2003,
primarily due to lower than anticipated medicaltspthe favorable resolution of litigation, diséi@d pricing and mix of business shifts from
fully-insured to self-funded arrangements by grotad have had historically higher loss ratios.

Administrative expense increased $603.0 million24%6, to $3,109.6 million in 2003. Included in 2@03 results was a $10.0 million
contribution to Anthem’s charitable foundation mdyeour Southeast segment and a $10.0 million dmrtton to Anthem’s charitable
foundation made by our East segment. Includedear?602
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results was an unfavorable $23.0 million adjustrmentrded to reflect the accrual of additional premtaxes in the state of Ohio and a $10.1
million reduction in the carrying value of our irstment in MedUnite. On a same-store basis, admaiiaé expense increased $160.8 million,
or 7%, primarily due to increases in volume-semsitiosts such as higher commissions, premium x@®ther expenses associated with
growth in our business and higher salary and benedists resulting from normal merit and benefitéases. On a same-store basis, our
administrative expense ratio decreased 60 basidsim 18.9% in 2003, primarily due to our growtloperating revenue and the leveraging of
costs over these higher revenues.

Net investment income increased $17.4 million, %, Yo $278.1 million in 2003. This increase in istraent income primarily resulted
from the investment of additional assets in 20@8flour Trigon acquisition and reinvestment of cgsherated from operations, which were
partially offset by a decrease in yields from neweistments.

A summary of our net realized gains on investmengs follows:

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2003 2002
($ in Millions)
Net realized gains from the sale of fixed matusiéguritie: $417 $32¢ $ 8.8 27%
Net realized gains from the sale of equity seas 0.t 0.€ (0. a7
Other-thar-temporary impairment (24.9) (3.2 (21.9) 687
Net realized gains on investmel $17.¢ $30.4 $ (12.€) (41)%

Other-than-temporary impairments recognized in 2088 substantially related to our equity investtaeprimarily due to the length of
time that the securities’ fair value had been thas cost. As of December 31, 2003, our equity s&esl had gross unrealized gains of $26.2
million. In 2002, we recorded a $3.1 million otitben-temporary impairment on a limited partnership.

During 2004, the Company began reallocating seeari its fixed maturity portfolio, primarily topdimize after tax investment income.
This reallocation will result in realized gains dndses during 2004.

Interest expense increased $32.7 million, or 3881131.2 million in 2003, primarily resulting froadditional interest expense incurred
on the debt issued in conjunction with our Trigequisition. Interest expense on this debt was dedifor twelve months in 2003 and five
months in 2002.

Amortization of other intangible assets increasgd.4 million, or 58%, to $47.6 million in 2003, prarily due to additional amortization
expense on intangible assets resulting from owgofriacquisition. This amortization expense wasuidet! for twelve months in 2003 and five
months in 2002.

Income tax expense increased $184.9 million, or,2%440.1 million in 2003, primarily due to ineed income before taxes. In
addition, our effective income tax rate increase@8.1% in 2003 from 31.6% in 2002. This 450 basist increase in the effective income tax
rate is primarily due to the release of a defeteedvaluation allowance in 2002. Our current effgrtax rate is more consistent with our
expected rate on future earnings.

Both basic and diluted net income per share foB206reased from 2002 primarily due to increasddnmemme. These increases were
partially offset by an increase in the number ofghted average shares primarily due to sharesdssusonnection with our Trigon acquisition
outstanding for twelve months in 2003 and five nherih 2002. Partially offsetting these increaseséighted average shares was our
repurchase of shares of our common stock.
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We use operating gain to evaluate the performahoerareportable segments, as described in FAS i3t]Josure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Informati.. Operating gain is calculated as total operatevgnue less benefit and administrative expensedsel not
include net investment income, net realized gamseestments, gain (loss) on sale of subsidiasraiions, interest expense, amortization of
other intangible assets, income taxes and minorgrest, as these items are managed in a corpsirated service environment and are not the
responsibility of operating segment managementalditional information, see Note 18 to our auditedsolidated financial statements for
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 ewtlincthis Form 1-K. The discussions of segment results for thesg/eaded December
31, 2003 and 2002 presented below are based oatoygegain and operating margin, which is calculate operating gain divided by operat
revenue. Our definitions of operating gain and apeg margin may not be comparable to similarketitmeasures reported by other
companies.

Midwest

Our Midwest segment is comprised of health bemefit related services for members in Indiana, Kégytand Ohio. Our Midwest
segment’s summarized results of operations foy#aes ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are aw$ollo

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2003 2002

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $6,689.: $6,051. $637.5 11%
Operating gait $ 441.( $ 271.¢ $169.¢ 62%
Operating margi 6.€% 4.5% 21Chbg
Membership (in 000s< 5,68¢ 5,23¢ 454 9%

Operating revenue increased $637.7 million, or 1t946,689.1 million, primarily due to premium ratereases in our Local Large
Group, Federal Employee Program and Small Groumbsses. Also contributing to this growth were mership increases in our Individual
and Small Group businesses. Operating revenueaisesenere partially offset by changes in the migwfproducts with members selecting
less rich benefit designs, resulting in lower pdipeoducts. Also offsetting the growth were shiifiscertain National Accounts and Local La
Group customers to self-funded arrangements, reguft lower revenues.

Operating gain increased $169.4 million, or 62%$441.0 million, primarily due to improved undertirg results in our Medicare +
Choice, Local Large Group and Small Group busiregbe recognition of a $24.5 million favorablewsdiment for resolution of a litigation
matter in the first quarter of 2003, and an unfabée $23.0 million adjustment recorded in 2002titect the accrual of additional premium
taxes in the state of Ohio. Partially offsettingglh improved results were lower operating gaingrdsx by our Individual business, primarily
due to spending on systems to replace our claints/lment and customer service technology and mesndmlecting Individual products with
less rich benefit designs. Also included in ourragiag results were the recognition of a net falatgarior year reserve development of $12.5
million recorded during the second quarter of 2868 a $15.7 million net favorable prior year resetevelopment in 2002.

Membership increased 454,000, or 9%, to 5.7 millmmmarily due to additional BlueCard activity aedrollment gains in our other
National Accounts and Individual businesses. Irdlial sales benefited from a wider variety of pradfterings. This membership incree
included a shift in membership from fully-insuregsiness to self-funded business, primarily dueréaig employers’ choosing self-funded
insurance benefits in a weakening economy.
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East

Our East segment is comprised of health benefitraladed services for members in Connecticut, Nampishire and Maine. Our E:
segment’s summarized results of operations foyéaes ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are aw$ollo

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2003 2002

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $4,508.¢ $4,151.! $ 357.1 9%
Operating gair $ 290.( $ 222.¢ $ 67.1 30%
Operating margi 6.4% 5.4% 10C bg
Membership (in 000s 2,60( 2,43¢ 16€ 7%

Operating revenue increased $357.1 million, or 844,508.6 million in 2003, primarily due to prami rate increases in our Local
Large Group, Small Group and Federal Employee Rrodrusinesses. These increases were partiallyt bffgbe termination of a third party
administrator arrangement in 2002 and changeseimiitt of our products with members selecting léds penefit designs, resulting in lower
priced products. Also offsetting the growth weré#tstby certain Local Large Group customers fromtyfinsured to self-funding arrangements,
resulting in lower revenues.

Operating gain increased $67.1 million, or 30%$280.0 million in 2003, primarily due to improvedderwriting results in our Local
Large Group and Small Group businesses. Operatiimgigcreases were partially offset by a $10.0iarilcontribution to Anthem’s charitable
foundation during 2003.

Membership increased 166,000, or 7%, primarily wuenroliment gains in our National Accounts busgjéncluding BlueCard activity.
East membership also experienced a shift in merhipefiom fully-insured business to self-funded Imesis, primarily due to group employers’
choosing self-funded insurance benefits in a weiakeaconomy.

West

Our West segment is comprised of health benefitrataded services for members in Colorado and Nevadir West segme’s
summarized results of operations for the years@&mEember 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2003 2002

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $1,039.( $920.1 $118.¢ 13%
Operating gait $ 111t $ 74.7 $ 36.¢ 49%
Operating margi 10.7% 8.1% 26C bg
Membership (in 000s 93¢ 83€ 103 12%

Operating revenue increased $118.9 million, or 18%41,039.0 million in 2003, primarily due to heghpremium rates in our Local
Large Group and Small Group businesses. Also darting to operating revenue growth was higher mestbp in our Individual and Federal
Employee Program businesses. These increases artigdlp offset by the impact of decreases in mershi@ in our Local Large Group and
Small Group businesses.

Operating gain increased $36.8 million, or 49%$141.5 million in 2003, primarily due to improvedderwriting results in our Local
Large Group and Individual businesses. Also coutitity to the improvement
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was a $10.1 million case-specific reserve estabtisturing the normal course of business during 20@PRa $6.3 million reduction of this
reserve upon the resolution of this case in 20@8tidty offsetting these improvements to operatjagn was a $10.9 million net favorable pi
year reserve development recorded during the thiedter of 2002

Spending on our current claims, enrollment andasust service technology is expected to continueudiinout 2004. Additionally, durir
the third quarter of 2003 we exited the Medicaidketin Nevada. As a result of these factors, dpggagain and operating margins are
expected to decline in 2004.

Membership increased 103,000, or 12%, primarily uacreased BlueCard activity. Also impactingsthiembership growth were
increases in our Individual and our other Natiohetount businesses due to improved marketing effort

Southeas

Our Southeast segment is comprised of health learedirelated services for members in Virginialeding the immediate suburbs
Washington D.C. Our Southeast segment was establisith the acquisition of Trigon on July 31, 2082sults of operations for this segment
have been included in our consolidated financetieshents beginning August 1, 2002. Our Southegstaet’'s summarized results of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2003renfive months ended December 31, 2002 are kosvsil

Periods Ended
December 31

$ Change % Change
2003 2002
($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $3,780.¢ $1,467.¢ NM NM
Operating gait $ 335.€ $ 116.C NM NM
Operating margi 8.9% 7.€% 10C bg
Membership (in 000s 2,70C 2,54¢ 151 6%

The comparison of these two time periods is notmimggdul as the period ended December 31, 2003 stssf twelve months of
operating results while the period ended DecembeRB02 consists of five months of operating result

Operating revenue and operating gain for the yede@ December 31, 2003 included issuance of premiefunds to certain
policyholders totaling $40.4 million, which partiabffset our premium growth. These refunds weseiésl because claims costs in certain
Southeast lines of business were much lower thpeat&d. Also impacting 2003 operating gain was@a&fnillion net favorable prior year
reserve development in the second quarter and .@ $didion contribution to Anthem'’s charitable fodition. Our integration activities remain
on schedule, and we expect to achieve synergy gauin2004 of at least $75.0 million. We achieveaaterthan $60.0 million of synergy
savings in 2003, primarily related to the reductidrorporate overhead and information technolaggtsas we integrated our Southeast
segment.

Membership increased 151,000, or 6%, to 2.7 milli@mbers in 2003, primarily due to increased Blud@ativity and increased
membership in our other self-funded National Acdsuusiness, reflecting the strength of the Blues€Blue Shield networks and distinctive
customer service.

Specialty

Our Specialty segment includes our group life aisdHlity insurance benefits, pharmacy benefit ngeemaent, dental and visic
administration services and behavioral health hengérvices. On June 1, 2002, we created AnthelnaBeral Health, or ABH, by acquiring
certain assets of PRO Behavioral Health, a Denver,
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Colorado-based behavioral health company in omérdaden our specialty product offerings. Redutis this acquisition are included from
that date forward. Our Specialty segment’s sumredriesults of operations for the years ended Deeeih 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

$ Change % Change
2003 2002
($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $732.( $523.t $208.t 40%
Operating gait $ 69.1 $ 50.7 $ 18. 36%
Operating margi 9.4% 9.7% (30) br

Operating revenue increased $208.5 million, or 4@/4,732.0 million in 2003, primarily due to incesal mail-order prescription volume
and increased wholesale drug costs which are palssmeyh to our customers at Anthem Prescriptisnyall as the results of ABH, which
evolved from our acquisition of PRO Behavioral Hiean June 1, 2002. The increased mail-order pipggnm volume resulted from both
membership increases and additional utilizatioAmthem Prescription’s mail-order pharmacy optioar the year ended December 31, 2003,
mail-order prescription volume increased 26% andilrprescription volume increased 12% comparetthéoyear ended December 31, 2002.
Effective January 1, 2004, Anthem Prescription Inetggprovide pharmacy benefit management servizesit Southeast segment. Operating
revenue from our behavioral health business isesing as we begin to provide these services te wfoour existing health membership.

Operating gain increased $18.4 million, or 36%$&9.1 million in 2003, primarily due to increasedilrorder prescription volume.
Improved behavioral health results due to addifioe@enues from existing Anthem health members whee converted to ABH during 2003
also contributed to Specialty’s increasing operaiains. These improvements in operating gain wartally offset by start-up and integration
expenses associated with our dental and visioratipas.

Our Specialty segment will continue efforts to exghgales to our existing health membership in ora@rovide our members a wider
range of cost effective products. These integradictivities will occur over the next several yeansd the related costs will partially offset
future margin expansion in the Specialty segmetmtagration costs are incurred.

Other

Our Other segment includes administration of Mediqgaograms in Indiana, lllinois, Kentucky, OhioaMe and New Hampshire;
elimination of intersegment revenue and expensebsgrarporate expenses not allocated to operatmeets. Our summarized results of
operations for our Other segment for the years @ftBzember 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2003 2002

($ in Millions)
Operating revenue from external custon $ 185.¢ $178.2 $ 74 4%
Elimination of intersegment revenu (457.9) (302.7) (155.%) 52%
Total operating revent (272.2) (123.9) (148.9) 12(%
Operating los! (143.¢) (91.9 (52.2) 57%

Operating revenue from external customers incredgetimillion, or 4%, to $185.6 million in 2003,imrarily due to cost reimbursement
activity being reflected in our Medicare adminisiba operations. This increase was partially offsethe loss of AdminaStar Federal’'s 1-800
Medicare Help Line contract with CMS. During thesfth quarter of 2002, CMS awarded a new contracthis service to a competitor. The
transition of
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the contract was substantially completed by Jun@803. Elimination of intersegment revenues inseela$155.7 million, or 52%, reflecting
additional sales by Anthem Prescription to our theségments and sales between our health segments.

Operating loss increased $52.2 million, or 57%&%(b43.6) million in 2003, primarily due to additmirtechnology expenses, incentive
compensation not allocated to the operating segrassociated with better than expected performanddegal fees and expenses paid in
2003. Partially offsetting these operating losséases was the reduction in our carrying valueuofiovestment in MedUnite in 2002.

VI.  Membership—December 31, 2002 Compared to Dember 31, 2001

The following table presents our health memberblipustomer type, funding arrangement and segnseot Becember 31, 2002 a
2001, comparing total and same-store membershgectisely. We define same-store membership as @mipership at a given period end for
a particular customer type, funding arrangemeiih @arsegment after excluding the impact of membebtained through acquisitions or lost
through dispositions during such period. We belidhzt same-store membership best captures thefratganic growth of our operations
period over period. The membership data presestadaudited and in certain instances includes agtisrof the number of members
represented by each contract at the end of thedhevunded to the nearest thousand.

Same-

Southeast Same-Store Store Same-
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Change Change
Store
2002 2002 2002 2001 % %
(in thousands)
Customer Type
Local Large Grouj 3,861 971 2,89¢ 2,82 1,04C 37% 69 2%
Small Groug 1,16¢ 34C 82¢ 81: 35E 44 15 2
Individual 1,08¢ 28¢ 79E 701 38¢ 55 94 13
National Accounts 3,951 65€ 3,29¢ 2,90z 1,04¢ 36 392 14
Medicare + Choict 10¢s — 10¢ 97 6 6 6 6
Federal Employee
Program 677 227 45C 423 254 60 27 6
Medicaid 20z 66 137 11¢ 84 71 18 15
Total 11,05z 2,54¢ 8,50¢ 7,88: 3,17( 40% 621 8%
Funding Arrangement
Self-funded 5,617 1,16¢ 4,451 4,052 1,56¢ 39% 39¢ 10%
Fully-insured 5,43¢ 1,38: 4,05z 3,831 1,60t 42 222 6
Total 11,05: 2,54¢ 8,50¢ 7,88: 3,17( 40% 621 8%
Segment
Midwest 5,23¢ — 5,23¢ 4,85¢ 38C 8% 38C 8%
East 2,43¢ — 2,43¢ 2,26( 174 8 174 8
West 83¢€ — 83€ 76¢ 67 9 67 9
Same-Store 8,50« — 8,50¢ 7,88: 621 8 621 8
Southeas NM
2,54¢ 2,54¢ — — 2,54¢ 2 — —
Total 11,05: 2,54¢ 8,50¢ 7,88: 3,17( 40% 621 8%

1 Includes BlueCard members of 2,419 as of Decembg2@2 (including 325 from our Southeast segmamd) 1,626 as of December 31,
2001.
2 NM = Not meaningful

During the year ended December 31, 2002, total neeshiip increased approximately 3.2 million, or 4@¥marily due to our acquisitic
of Trigon, which became our Southeast segment. €amree-store basis, total membership increased ®2100 8%, primarily in National
Accounts, Individual and Local Large Group busirasd he following discussion of membership chargga/een periods excludes our
Southeast members, which are identified separatehe table above.
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National Accounts membership increased 392,000486, primarily due to a significant increase in &Bard activity.

Individual membership increased 94,000, or 13%h Wit majority of this growth resulting from higtsales in our under age 65 business
in all segments due to the introduction of new, enaffordable product designs and an overall iner@asonsumer awareness of our product
offerings.

Local Large Group membership increased 69,000%arg@2imarily from sales to new fully-insured custensin our Midwest segment. In
our Midwest segment, this growth was partially effesy a decrease in our self-funded business pitinee a result of pricing actions taken to
better align our administrative fee revenue witbts@f administering this business.

Self-funded membership increased 399,000, or 10Fhapily due to an increase in National AccountadTard activity. Fully-insured
membership grew by 222,000 members, or 6%, prignaribur Individual and Local Large Group businesses explained above.

VII. Cost of Care—Year Ended December 31, 2002dinpared to the Year Ended December 31, 2001

The following discussion summarizes our aggregast of care trends for the I3enth period ended December 31, 2002 compared
12-month period ended December 31, 2001, for oealLbarge Group and Small Group fully-insured basges only. Membership in these
two customer groups represented approximately 6flétiopremium income for the year ended DecembeRB02. Our cost of care trends are
calculated by comparing the year over year changeérage per member per month claim costs forlwivie are responsible, which excludes
member co-payments and deductibles. Our cost eftcands as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:

Percent of cos

of care expens

Cost of
care trend
Aggregate 12% 10C%
Inpatient service 9 22
Outpatient service 12 24
Professional service 12 35
Pharmacy 16 19

Our aggregate cost of care trend for the rollingrighth period ended December 31, 2002 was approgiynd2%. This trend includes
the Southeast segment, including information fromformer Trigon for periods prior to our July 2002 acquisition. Our aggregate cost of
care trend excluding the impact of our Trigon asijigin was approximately one-half percentage pligler, driven primarily by increased
professional services costs and outpatient serciosts.

Inpatient services costs increased approximatelyr@dading the impact of our Trigon acquisition footh rolling 12-month periods,
including periods prior to our July 31, 2002 acgigs. Excluding the impact of our Trigon acquieiti our inpatient services trend was
approximately one percentage point lower. Approxétyatwo thirds of this trend resulted from unitst@ncreases and approximately one third
of this trend resulted from utilization increas€ke unit cost trend was primarily due to a headtredndustry shift of lower-cost procedures to
outpatient settings, leaving more expensive proedperformed in inpatient settings. In additiomvgth in inpatient trend was due to
implementation of new provider contracts that r@fthe hospital industry’s more aggressive standbeir contracting with health benefit
companies. Utilization increases resulted primdriyn increases in the frequency of inpatient stiege We are implementing advanced care
management programs and disease management progtachshave shown to reduce deterioration in heatith the need for hospitalization.
As a result of these programs, hospital utilizatias been essentially stable.
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Cost increases for outpatient services were apprately 12% including the impact of our Trigon aaition for both rolling 12-month
periods, including periods prior to our July 3102Gcquisition. Excluding the impact of our Trigacquisition, our outpatient services trend
was approximately one percentage point higher.dDsiwof this outpatient trend include a continuihit®f certain procedures such as certain
cardiac care procedures previously performed impatient setting to an outpatient setting andeased cost of emergency room services as
more procedures are being performed at each enmrgeom visit. Costs are also increasing for ougreitsurgery and radiology services.

Cost increases for professional services were appately 12% including the impact of our Trigon aition for both rolling 12-month
periods, including periods prior to our July 3102@Gcquisition. Excluding the impact of our Trigacqguisition, our professional services trend
was approximately one and one-half percentage pbigher. This trend is due to both higher utii@atand higher unit costs. Utilization
increases were driven primarily by increases insptign office visits, radiology procedures suctMagynetic Resonance Imaging procedure
MRIs, Positron Emission Tomography procedures,BBF Bcans, and laboratory procedures. Unit coseasas were driven primarily by
increases in physician fee reimbursement schedulessponse to increasing professional servicetscwe continue to work with our
providers through education and contracting to enthat our members receive the most appropriateatehe proper time in the appropriate
clinical setting.

Pharmacy costs increased by approximately 16%diroduthe impact of our Trigon acquisition for batiling 12-month periods,
including periods prior to our July 31, 2002 acgiga. Excluding the impact of our Trigon acquisiti our pharmacy cost trend remained
consistent at approximately 16%. Increases weragily due to the introduction of new, higher cdaigs and higher overall utilization as a
result of increases in direct-to-consumer advagigly pharmaceutical companies and expanded phayspriescribed use of drugs that manage
chronic conditions such as high cholesterol. ipoase to increasing pharmacy costs, we are eviadudiiferent plan designs, recontracting
with retail pharmacies and continuing the impleratioh of tiered drug benefits for our members. €htier drug programs reflect benefit
designs that have three different co-payment levetich depend on the drug selected. Generic dnage the lowest co-payment, brand name
drugs included in the drug formulary have a higteepayment and brand name drugs omitted from thg firmulary have the highest co-
payment. Drug formularies are lists of prescriptilvags that have been reviewed and selected forghality and effectiveness by a commit
of community-based practicing physicians and céihgtharmacists. Through our pharmacy benefit designencourage use of these formulary
listed brand name and generic drugs to ensure nrsmieeive quality and cost-effective medicatiohe Tavorable impact of three-tier drug
programs on prescription drug cost trends is migsiftcant in the first year of implementation. Exding Southeast membership, we have
already implemented three-tier drug programs f@raxmately 66% of our members as of December 8022as compared to approximately
60% of our members as of December 31, 2001.
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VIIl. Results of Operations—Year Ended DecembeB1, 2002 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2001

Our consolidated results of operations for the yesded December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31 Change
2002 2001 $ %
(% in Millions, Except Per Share Data

Premiums $11,941.( $ 9,244.¢ $2,696.: 29%
Administrative fee: 962.2 817.c 144.¢ 18
Other revenur 87.2 58.2 29.1 50

Total operating revenue 12,990.! 10,120.: 2,870.: 28
Net investment incom 260.% 238.€ 22.1 9
Net realized gains on investme| 30.4 60.¢ (30.49 (50)
Gain on sale of subsidiary operatic 0.7 25.C (24.2) (97

Total revenu 13,282.: 10,444, 2,837.¢ 27%
Benefit expens 9,839.¢ 7,814. 2,024.° 26
Administrative expens 2,506.¢ 1,986.: 520.t 26
Interest expens 98.t 60.2 38.2 64
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible ass 30.2 31.t (1.9 4
Demutualization expensi NM

— 27.¢ (27.6) d

Total expense 12,474, 9,920.! 2,554.¢ 26
Income before taxes and minority inter 807.¢ 524.¢ 283.( 54
Income taxe: 255.2 183.¢ 71.¢ 39
Minority interest (credit) NM

3.3 (2.0 4.3 2

Net income $ 549.1 $ 342: $ 206.¢ 60%
Average basic shares outstanding (in millichs) 119.( 103.c 15.7 15%
Average diluted shares outstanding (in milliohs) 121.¢ 103.¢ 18.C 17
Basic net income per shdfe $ 461 $ 331 $ 1.3C 39
Diluted net income per shate $ 451 $ 3.3C $ 121 37%
Benefit expense ratid 82.4% 84.5% (21C) bp 4
Administrative expense ratfo 19.2% 19.€% (30) bp *
Income before taxes and minority interest as agreage of total revenife 6.1% 5.C% 11Cbp 4

Net income as a percentage of total reve’ 4.1% 3.3% 80 bp *

1 Premium equivalents, which are not revenue, aresuorea of the amount of claims attributable to nosdidare, self-funded health
business where we provide a complete array of metservice, claims administration, billing andaiment services, but the customer
retains the risk of funding payments for healthdfits provided to members. We add premium equivalemoperating revenue to allow
for a comparison of business volume among compavitbsdiffering levels of revenues from fully-in®d and self-funded businesses.
We believe operating revenue and premium equivalisra useful analytical measure because it elitesi#uctuations in operating
revenue caused by changes in the mix of fully-iedwand self-funded business. Premium equivaleritishware not included in operating
revenue above, for the year ended December 31,@802$5,271.0 million (including $730.7 milliorofn our Southeast segment) and
for the year ended December 31, 2001 were $3,98illidn.

8 December 31, 2001 amounts include pro forma easrpeg share for the period prior to our initial fpaloffering. See Note 11 to our
audited consolidated financial statements for #ery ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 irtlndeart 11, Item 8 of this K.
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For the remaining footnote explanations, see “RefflOperations—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Coedpa the Year Ended
December 31, 2002 table.

On May 31, 2001, we sold our TRICARE operationsuténg in a gain of $25.0 million. The resultsmir TRICARE operations were
reported in our Other segment during 2001 and dexdu$263.2 million in operating revenue and $4.Baniin operating gain for the five
months ended May 31, 2001.

Throughout the following discussion of our reswfoperations, “same-store” excludes our TRICARErations from 2001 and the
operating results of our Southeast segment, whahfarmed following our Trigon acquisition, frometdate of purchase in 2002.

Premiums increased $2,696.2 million, or 29%, to,$41.0 million in 2002. On a same-store basis, fwem increased $1,543.1 million,
or 17%, due to premium rate increases and growttuirfully-insured membership. Our premium yieldst of benefit buy-downs for our fully-
insured Local Large Group and Small Group busireseereased approximately 14% on a rolling 12-rdatsis as of December 31, 2002,
both on a same-store basis and after includingh@aist premiums. Also contributing to premium growts higher fully-insured membership
in all of our business segments.

Administrative fees increased $144.9 million, of4,8ncluding administrative fees following Trigorésquisition date in 2002. On a
same-store basis, administrative fees increase@ $8ilion, or 13%, primarily due to increased BGard activity and increased administrative
fees from AdminaStar Federal’'s 1-800 Medicare Héfye contract with CMS. During the fourth quartér2002, CMS awarded a new contract
for this service to a competitor. The transitiortto§ contract was substantially completed by BMhe2003.

On a same-store basis, other revenue, which is isatpprincipally of co-payments and deductiblesasmted with Anthem
Prescription’s sale of mail-order drugs, increa®24.2 million, or 42%. Mail-order revenues increghpeimarily due to additional volume.
Anthem Prescription launched mail conversion cagmsto inform members of the benefits and convexieri using Anthem Prescription’s
mail-order pharmacy option during 2002. In additiénthem Prescription increased its penetratioawfhealth benefits membership, with a
resulting larger enroliment base and thereforetgratdemand for mail-order service.

Benefit expense increased $2,024.7 million, or 28P2002. On a same-store basis, benefit expersedsed $1,132.7 million, or 15%,
primarily due to increased cost of care trendstdgbler average membership. Higher costs of care drven primarily by higher costs in
professional services and outpatient services:'Sest of Care—Year Ended December 31, 2002 Comparéite Year Ended December 31,
2001.” Our benefit expense ratio decreased 216 Ipasints from 84.5% in 2001 to 82.4% in 2002 duelypto the sale of our TRICARE
operations in 2001 and the impact of our Trigonuégitjion in 2002. On a same-store basis, our beagfiense ratio decreased 160 basis points
from 84.2% in 2001 to 82.6% in 2002, primarily dodower than anticipated medical costs in all of business segments. Our 2002 benefit
expense was also reduced by net favorable develdgroéprior year reserves reported as of Decer@bgP001.

Administrative expense increased $520.5 million2@%b, in 2002. On a same-store basis, adminiseraxpense increased $319.6
million, or 17%, primarily due to higher salary tasd merit increases, other volume sensitive cigth as higher commissions and premium
taxes and higher incentive compensation costs ededavith above targeted results. On a same-btsis, our administrative expense ratio
remained consistent with 2001 at 19.5%.

Net investment income increased $22.1 million, %r. This increase in investment income primarilyufesd from the investment of
additional assets in 2002 from our Trigon acquasitiwhich was partially offset by decreased avesaglel from investment securities. Also
contributing to the increase was the impact ofremgased allocation of fixed maturity securitiesgeercentage of our investment portfolio
during the third quarter of 2001.
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A summary of our net realized gains on investmengs follows:

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2002 2001
($ in Millions)
Net realized gains from the sale of fixed matusiéguritie: $32¢ $207 $ 127 58%
Net realized gains from the sale of equity seas 0.€ 69.C (68.4) (99)
Other-thar-temporary impairment (3.2 (28.9) 25.¢ 89
Net realized gains on investmel $30.4 $60.8 $ (30.9 (50)%

Net realized gains from the sale of equity seasitlecreased $68.4 million primarily due to outization of $65.2 million of gains in
2001 resulting from the restructuring of our pditfoln 2002, we realized a $3.1 million loss olinaited partnership, and in 2001 we
recognized $28.9 million of impairment losses oniggsecurities.

Interest expense increased $38.3 million, or 649Mmarily reflecting additional interest expenseuned on the debt issued in conjunc
with our Trigon acquisition and the issuance of 8100% Equity Security Units on November 2, 2001.

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assdecreased $1.3 million. Due to our adoption 08F42 on January 1, 2002,
amortization decreased approximately $17.5 milliinis decrease was partially offset by $16.2 milla¥ new amortization expense, including
$15.8 million of amortization expense on intangi$sets resulting from our Trigon acquisition. Seées 2 and 3 to our audited consolidated
financial statements for the years ended Decembe2@®3, 2002 and 2001 included in Part I, Iterof&his Form 10-K for additional
information concerning our adoption of FAS 142.

Income tax expense increased $71.8 million, or 399marily due to increased income before taxes. éfective income tax rate
decreased to 31.6% in 2002 from 35.0% in 2001. 3B basis point decrease in the effective incaredte is primarily due to the reduction
of a deferred tax valuation allowance in 2002 dueur continued improvement in taxable earningsdeductible demutualization expenses
incurred during 2001 and the impact of FAS 142.

Net income increased $206.9 million, or 60%, pritgatue to our Trigon acquisition, the improveménbur operating results in each
health business segment as described below, highénvestment income, lower amortization of goddand other intangible assets resulting
from the adoption of FAS 142 on January 1, 2002andeduced effective tax rate. Assuming FAS 142 bheen in effect for the year ended
December 31, 2001, our net income would have ise@&191.8 million, or 54%.

Both basic and fully diluted earnings per sharegased as a result of increased net income ashiedabove and the impact of our st
repurchases under our stock repurchase prografDi Zhese increases were partially offset by arease in the number of average shares
outstanding due to the stock issued in conjunatiith our Trigon acquisition on July 31, 2002, amdigcrease in the effect of dilutive
securities.

We use operating gain to evaluate the performahoeraeportable segments, as described in FAS Rt]osure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Informati.. Operating gain is calculated as total operatevgnue less benefit and administrative expensdsel not
include net investment income, net realized gamgeestments, gain on sale of subsidiary operatioerest expense, amortization of
goodwill and other intangible assets, demutualiraéxpenses, income taxes and minority interestl{r as these items are managed in a
corporate shared service environment and are raeponsibility of operating segment managemanta8ditional information, see Note 18
to our audited consolidated financial statementsife
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years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 ettlmdhis Form 1-K. The discussions of segment results for thesyeaded December
31, 2002 and 2001 presented below are based oatoygegain and operating margin, which is calculate operating gain divided by operat
revenue. Our definitions of operating gain and apieg margin may not be comparable to similarligtitmeasures reported by other
companies.

Midwest

Our Midwest segment is comprised of health berefit related services for members in Indiana, Kéytaod Ohio. Our Midwest
segment’s summarized results of operations foyéaes ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 are aw$ollo

Years Ended
December 31

$ Change % Change

2002 2001

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $6,051. $5,093.( $ 958.¢ 19%
Operating gait $ 271.¢ $ 161.t $110.1 68%
Operating margi 4.5% 3.2% 13C bg
Membership (in 000s 5,23¢ 4,85¢ 38C 8%

Operating revenue increased $958.4 million, or 1pftnarily due to premium rate increases in ourdldarge Group and Small Group
businesses and membership increases in our Loogé [Group fully-insured and Individual businesses.

Operating gain increased $110.1 million, or 68%marily due to improved underwriting results in dwgcal Large Group fully-insured
and Small Group businesses. Our operating gainaigasmpacted by the recognition of a $15.7 millieat favorable prior year reserve
development recognized in the third quarter of 280@ an $11.2 million strengthening of reservesnduthe third quarter of 2001. Operating
gain improvements were partially offset by a $28ilion unfavorable adjustment recorded during 2@®2eflect the accrual of additional
premium taxes in the state of Ohio.

Membership increased 380,000, or 8%, primarily uadditional BlueCard activity and enrollment gain our Local Large Group fully-
insured and Individual businesses. Individual shksgefited from the introduction of new, lower piem products. Our Midwest segment
experienced a decrease in Local Large Group setfédd membership, which was anticipated and waswdtref pricing actions designed to
better align revenue with costs of services to tisnbership class.

East

Our East segment is comprised of health benefitraladed services for members in Connecticut, Nempishire and Maine. Our East
segment’s summarized results of operations foy#aes ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 are aw$ollo

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2002 2001

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $4,151. $3,667.1 $484.2 13%
Operating gait $ 222.¢ $ 128.¢ $ 94.1 73%
Operating margil 5.4% 3.5% 19C bg
Membership (in 000s 2,43¢ 2,26( 174 8%

Operating revenue increased $484.2 million, or 1@fitnarily due to premium rate increases, partidylen our Local Large Group and
Small Group businesses.
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Operating gain increased $94.1 million, or 73%mariily due to improved underwriting results, partarly in our Individual and Local
Large Group businesses, and an unfavorable resaamgthening adjustment of $9.4 million recordadrdy the third quarter of 2001.

Membership increased 174,000, or 8%, primarily wuiecreased BlueCard activity and enrollment g&insur Local Large Group self-
funded business. Our growth in Local Large Groufsfsaded business primarily resulted from chanigesur Local Large Group mix of
business from fully-insured to self-funded.

On February 28, 2002, a subsidiary of Anthem InsceaAnthem Health Plans of Maine, Inc., complétegurchase of the remaining
50% ownership interest in Maine Partners Healtim Alac. for an aggregate purchase price of $10l6omi We had previously consolidated
financial results of this entity in our consolidat@nancial statements and recorded minority irdefer the percentage we did not own.

West

Our West segment is comprised of health benefitrateded services for members in Colorado and Nev@dr West segme’s
summarized results of operations for the years@iidEember 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31
$ Change % Change
2002 2001

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $920.1 $774.¢ $145.% 19%
Operating gait $ 740 $ 20.1 $ 54.¢ 272%
Operating margil 8.1% 2.6% 55C bg
Membership (in 000s 83¢€ 76¢ 67 9%

Operating revenue increased by $145.7 million, 986 1primarily due to higher premium rates partidylén our Local Large Group fully-
insured and Small Group businesses, and higher esinip in our Individual business.

Operating gain increased $54.6 million to $74.7iowilin 2002, primarily due to improved underwrginesults in our Local Large Group
fully-insured and Small Group businesses. Also Gbating to the improvement was a $10.9 million faatorable prior year reserve
development recorded during the third quarter &2 hese reserve releases were offset by a $lilidnmneserve increase for case specific
reserves incurred during the normal course of lassiiin 2002.

Membership increased 67,000, or 9%, primarily dumtreased BlueCard activity and higher salesuinledividual business.

Southeas

Our Southeast segment is comprised of health learedirelated services for members in Virginialeding the immediate suburbs of
Washington D.C. Our Southeast segment’s summaresdts of operations for the five months endeddbawer 31, 2002 are as follows:

Five Months
Ended
December 31, 20C

($ in Millions)
Operating revenu $ 1,467.¢
Operating gait $ 116.(
Operating margi 7.5%
Membership (in 000s 2,54¢
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Our Southeast segment was established with thesitboi of Trigon on July 31, 2002. Results of agtérns for this segment have been
included in our consolidated financial statememgibning August 1, 2002. These five months of ofiegaesults may not be sustainable or
indicative of future performance, as we were inghdy stages of transitioning business practicespmlicies. We captured approximately
$11.0 million of synergies in 2002, primarily reddtto corporate overhead and information technotugy savings.

Specialty

Our Specialty segment includes our group life aisdhlity insurance benefits, pharmacy benefit ngeemaent, dental and vision
administration services and behavioral health biensérvices. During the third quarter of 2002,seél our third party occupational health
services businesses, the operating results of wiéek not material to the earnings of this segreoiur consolidated results. On June 1, 2
we acquired certain assets of PRO Behavioral Healbbenver, Colorado-based behavioral health cosnpaarder to broaden our specialty
product offerings. Results from this acquisitioe arcluded from that date forward and are not niegtay the operating revenue or operating
gain of this segment in the year ended Decembe2(B12.

Our Specialty segment’s summarized results of djpemfor the years ended December 31, 2002 andl 2@9as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

$ Change % Change

2002 2001
($ in Millions)

Operating revenu $523.5 $396.1 $127.¢ 32%

Operating gair $ 50.7 $ 32.¢ $ 17.¢ 54%

Operating margi 9.7% 8.2% 14C bg

Operating revenue increased $127.4 million, or 3@fitnarily due to increased mail-order prescriptamtume at Anthem Prescription,
which launched mail-order campaigns to inform mersloé the benefits and convenience of using AntReascription’s mail-order pharmacy
option for maintenance drugs. In addition, Antherasription increased its penetration of our helagthefits members. Anthem Prescription
implemented its pharmacy benefit programs in oustMgegment and in Maine during the first six momth2001. Excluding the impact of our
TRICARE operations, mail-service prescription vokiicreased 29% and retail prescription volumesased 10%.

Operating gain increased $17.8 million, or 54%ariily due to increased mail-order prescriptionumoé and additional margin resulting
from further penetration of generic drug prescaps at Anthem Prescription. Improved results inlifieeand dental businesses also contributed
to the growth in operating gain, which was modestfget by startip and integration expenses associated with ownvietal health, vision ar
dental operations.
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Other

Our Other segment includes administration of Medigaograms in Indiana, lllinois, Kentucky, OhiogMe and New Hampshir
elimination of intersegment revenue and expensebsrarporate expenses not allocated to operatipgeets. In 2001, our Other segment also
contained Anthem Alliance, a subsidiary that predidhe health care benefits and administrationiria states for active and retired military
employees and their dependents under the Departh®wfense’s TRICARE program for military familieur TRICARE operations were
sold on May 31, 2001. Our summarized results ofatpns for our Other segment for the years endecehber 31, 2002 and 2001 are as
follows:

Years Ended
December 31

$ Change % Change

2002 2001
($ in Millions)

Operating revenue from external custon $178.2 $403.F $(225.9) (56)%

Elimination of intersegment revenu (302.) (214.0 (88.]) 41%

Total operating revent (123.9) 189.t (313.9 (165)%

Operating los! (91.9 (23.9) (67.6) 284%

Operating revenue from external customers decresa2s.3 million, or 56%, primarily due to the safeour TRICARE operations.
Excluding our TRICARE operations from 2001, opergtievenue from external customers increased $8illi®n, or 27%, primarily due to
revenue from our AdminaStar Federal's 1-800 Medidédelp Line contract with CMS. During the fourthagter of 2002, CMS awarded a new
contract for this service to a competitor. The $iion of the contract was substantially compldigdune 30, 2003.

Operating loss increased $67.6 million primarilyeda higher unallocated corporate expenses anahibence of TRICARE operating
gain. These unallocated expenses accounted foB $8illion in 2002 and $33.0 million in 2001. Thiscrease in unallocated corporate expe
was primarily related to higher incentive compeimgatosts associated with better than expectedatipgrresults. Also contributing to this
increased operating loss was the reduction in atyimg value of our investment in MedUnite.

IX. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statementsirormity with accounting principles generallycapted in the United States.
Application of these accounting principles requimesnagement to make estimates and assumptionaftbett the amounts reported in our
consolidated financial statements and accompanyatgs and within this Management’s Discussion andlysis. We consider some of our
most important accounting policies that requirénestes and management judgment to be those poligiesespect to liabilities for unpaid
life, accident and health claims, income taxesdgolb and other intangible assets, investmentsratitement benefits, which are discussed
below. Our significant accounting policies are adsmmarized in Note 1 to our audited consolidaiegiicial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included in Rdtem 8 of this Form 10-K.

Liability for Unpaid Life, Accident and Health Clans

The most significant accounting estimate in ourstdidated financial statements is our liability forpaid life, accident and health clait
At December 31, 2003, this liability was $1,866.8ion and represented 25% of our total consoliddiabilities. We record this liability and
the corresponding benefit expense for pending daimd claims that are incurred but not reporteduding the estimated costs of processing
such claims. Pending claims are those receivedstyutinot yet processed through our systems. liiglsiffor both incurred but not reported .
reported but not yet paid claims are determinec&mh of our business segments employing actuag#iods that are commonly used by
health insurance actuaries and meet Actuarial @talstf Practice. These Actuarial Standards oftleepequire that the claim liabilities be
adequate under moderately
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adverse circumstances. We determine the amouhedfability for incurred but not reported claime fach of our business segments by
following a detailed actuarial process that entadimg both historical claim payment patterns ak asgemerging medical cost trends to project
our best estimate of claim liabilities. Under thiecess, historical data of paid claims is fornhtteo claim triangles which compare claim
incurred dates to the dates of claim payments. ififismation is analyzed to create “completion fast that represent the average percentage
of total incurred claims that have been paid thipagiven date after being incurred. Completiondiescare applied to claims paid through the
financial statement date to estimate the ultimigncexpense incurred for the current period. Adalastimates of claim liabilities are then
determined by subtracting the actual paid claimmfthe estimate of the ultimate incurred claims.

For the most recent incurred months, the percergigkaims paid for claims incurred in those monthgenerally low. This makes the
completion factor methodology less reliable forlsawonths. Therefore incurred claims for recent hesmre not projected from historical
completion and payment patterns; rather they asegted by estimating the claims expense for tmoseths based upon recent claims expense
levels and health care trend levels, or “trenddiesct

Because the reserve methodology is based uponib@tmformation, it must be adjusted for knownsomispected operational and
environmental changes. These adjustments are nyaoler lactuaries based on their knowledge and #gtimate of emerging impacts to ben
costs and payment speed. Circumstances to be eoedith developing our best estimate of reservdade changes in utilization levels, unit
costs, mix of business, benefit plan designs, plenieimbursement levels, processing system coiovesisclaim inventory levels, claim
processing patterns and claim submission pattéresmparison of prior period liabilities to re-estited claim liabilities based upon
subsequent claims development is also considerstaking the liability determination. In the actwngprocess, the methods and assumptions
are not changed as reserves are recalculatedather the availability of additional paid claim$armation drives our changes in theastimat:
of the unpaid claim liability. To the extent appriape, changes in such development are recordadchange to current period benefit expense.

In addition to the pending claims and incurred ittreported claims, the liability for unpaid lifegcident and health claims includes
reserves for premium deficiencies. Premium defidiehare recognized when it is probable that exggeckaims and loss adjustment expenses
will exceed future premiums on existing health attter insurance contracts without consideratiomeéstment income. For purposes of
premium deficiencies, contracts are grouped in ameaconsistent with our method of acquiring, sg8ng and measuring the profitability of
such contracts.

Management regularly reviews its assumptions réggrur claims liabilities and makes adjustmentbéanefit expense recorded, when
necessary. If it is determined that managemensgsraptions regarding cost trends and utilizationségaificantly different than actual results,
our income statement and financial position coddrbpacted in future periods. Adjustments of pyiear estimates may result in additional
benefit expense or a reduction of benefit expemdkd period an adjustment is made. Further, dtieet@onsiderable variability of health care
costs, adjustments to claims liabilities occur eqichrter and are sometimes significant as compartite total benefit expense recorded in that
guarter. Prior year development is recognized imately upon the actuary’s judgment that a portibthe prior year liability is no longer
needed or that additional liability should haverbaecrued. That determination is made when suffidgiformation is available to ascertain t
the re-estimate of the liability is accurate antl mat fluctuate significantly with future develommnt.
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As described above, the completion factors anditfaators can have a significant impact on thelébility. The following example
provides the estimated impact to our December @23 2inpaid claims liability assuming hypothetichdnges in the completion and trend
factors:

Completion Factor Claims Trend Factor 2
(Decrease) Increas Increase (Decreas¢ (Decrease) Increas (Decrease) Increas
in Completion in Unpaid Claims in Claim Trend in Unpaid Claims
Factor Liabilities Factor Liabilities
($ in Millions) ($ in Millions)
(3)% $ 136.C (3)% $ (23.0
(2)% 90.C (2)% (15.0)
(D)% 45.( (D)% (8.0)
1% (44.0) 1% 8.C
2% (87.0) 2% 15.C
3% (129.0 3% 23.C

1 Assumes (decrease) increase in the completionrgaftiothe most recent four months
2 Assumes (decrease) increase in the claims tremoréafor the most recent two months

In addition, assuming a hypothetical 1% total défece between our December 31, 2003 estimated sl&bility and the actual claims
paid, net income for the year ended December 313 #duld increase or decrease by $12.1 million evbdsic net income per share would
increase or decrease by $0.09 per share and ditetddcome per share would increase or decrea$6 .0y per share.

Note 8 to our audited consolidated financial staets for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002@01 included in Part II, Item 8
of this Form 10-K provides historical informatiosgarding the accrual and payment of our unpaidnddiability. Components of the total
incurred claims for each year include amounts aatfor current year estimated claims expense dsaweldjustments to prior year estimated
accruals. In Note 8 to our audited consolidatedrfoial statements, the line labeled “incurred esldb prior years” accounts for those
adjustments made to prior year estimates. The itrgfaamy reduction of “incurred related to priorays” claims may be offset as we establish
the estimate of “incurred related to current ye@ur reserving practice is to consistently recogrie actuarial best estimate of our ultimate
liability for our claims within a level of confidee required by actuarial standards. Thus, only whemelease of a prior year reserve is not
offset with the same level of conservatism in eating the current year reserve will the redundasreate a net reduction in current benefit
expense. When we recognize a release of the redupdae disclose the amount that is not in theradi course of business. We believe we
have consistently applied our methodology in deteimg our best estimate for unpaid claims liabilityeach reporting date.
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The reconciliation of the beginning and ending bedafor unpaid life, accident and health claimstfar years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, as presented in Note 8 to our aldaasolidated financial statements is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
(In Millions)
Balances at January 1, net of reinsure $ 1,821.0 $1,352.° $1,382.:
Business purchases, divestitures and purchasetiaejots (20.¢) 379.¢ (139.)
Incurred related tc

Current yea 12,462.. 9,965.: 7,843..

Prior years (226.]) (150.7) (96.4)
Total incurrec 12,236.: 9,814.¢ 7,746."
Paid related tc

Current yea 10,685. 8,396.¢ 6,521.

Prior years 1,495.( 1,328.¢ 1,115.f
Total paid 12,180.: 9,725.1 7,637.(
Balances at December 31, net of reinsur: 1,856. 1,821.: 1,352.°
Reinsurance recoverables at Decembe 10.4 4.8 7.6
Reserve gross of reinsurance recoverables on unfzids at

December 3: $ 1,866.¢ $1,826.( $1,360.!

Amounts incurred related to prior years vary frorayiously estimated liabilities as the claims atenately settled. Liabilities at any ye
end are continually reviewed and re-estimated fasrimation regarding actual claims payments, or utnbecomes known. This information is
compared to the originally established year entllitg. Negative amounts reported for incurred tetato prior years result from claims being
settled for amounts less than originally estimalée redundancy of $226.1 million shown in the ¢zdtbove and in Note 8 to our audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ériglecember 31, 2003, represents an estimate baggaid claim activity from January 1,
2003 to December 31, 2003. Medical claim liabifitare usually described as having a “short taificly means that they are generally paid
within several months of the member receiving serfitom the provider. Accordingly, the majority, aproximately 90%, of the $226.1
million redundancy relates to claims incurred itecdar year 2002, with the remaining 10% relatecdddoms incurred in 2001 and prior.

We calculate the percentage of prior year redunidani the current period to total incurred claimsorded in each prior year in order to
demonstrate the development of the prior year veseiThis metric was 2.3% for 2003, 1.9% for 200@ &.5% for 2001. Having only five
months of incurred claims for our Southeast segrdaring 2002 impacted the ratio for 2003. Had thatBeast segment been included for the
full year 2002, the ratio would have been approxétya2.0%.

A review of the current year paid indicates that dimount of claims paid in the current year asregmage of incurred related to current
year has increased. This ratio was 85.7% for 2803% for 2002 and 83.1% for 2001. The increageimarily attributable to ou
implementation of new systems and improved eleatroonnectivity with our networks. The result isr@bility to adjudicate and pay claims
quicker.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance witheBtant of Financial Accounting Standards No. J8&;ounting for Income Taxes
This standard requires, among other things, tharagprecognition of deferred tax assets and defdax liabilities. Such deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities represent the taxctftd temporary differences between financial réipgrand tax reporting measured at tax rates
enacted at the time
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the deferred tax asset or liability is recordediaduation allowance must be established for defeta® assets if it is “more likely than not” that
all or a portion may be unrealized. Our judgemsmeguired in making this analysis.

At each financial reporting date, we assess thguatsy of the valuation allowance by evaluating ezfobur deferred tax assets based on
the key elements that follow:

 the types of temporary differences that createdidierred tax asset;
» the amount of taxes paid in prior periods and atéeél for a carr-back claim;
» the forecasted future taxable income and therdilkety future deduction of the deferred tax itemga

* any significant other issues impacting the likedglization of the benefit of the temporary diffezes.

During 2003, we utilized additional alternative imimm tax, or AMT, credits and net operating losse®our federal tax return for which
we had a deferred tax asset with a correspondilugtian allowance. As deferred tax assets relaigdse deductions are recognized in the
return, a valuation allowance is no longer requaed is reduced. While the valuation allowance el@eed $81.9 million, we recorded
additional deferred tax liabilities of $81.9 milfidor uncertainty on several tax items. These iterolside uncertainty arising from the lack of
clear guidance from the Internal Revenue Serviceasious tax issues relating to our conversiond@7lfrom tax exempt to tax paying status.

During 2002, based on our assessments of the i@lugtowance it was determined that the only itehzd require a valuation allowance
are those that relate to specific deferred tax teany differences as opposed to those that redateet anticipation of future taxable income.
This determination was due to the levels of taxatdeme reported on our 2001 tax return, incomeegeed during 2002 and taxable income
expected in future periods. As a result of thisdaination, during 2002, we reduced our valuatibmwaance. The net decrease in the valuation
allowance for 2002 was $112.4 million. During 20$28.0 million of the change in the valuation allowe was recorded as a reduction to
goodwill. This adjustment resulted from recognitmfrdeferred tax assets previously determined tortvealizable. Because of uncertainties
noted above regarding both the timing and the amoludeductions, we recorded a $57.2 million defértax liability. We also recorded a
reduction to income tax expense of $37.2 milliohisTreduction contributed to a reduced effectivertde of 31.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

We, like other companies, frequently face challesnfgem tax authorities regarding the amount of sackee. These challenges include
guestions regarding the timing and amount of dedastthat we have taken on our tax returns. Inugatailg any additional tax liability
associated with our various filing positions, weam additional tax liability for potential advertse outcomes that we judge to be appropriate.
Based on our evaluation of our tax positions, wieelee we have appropriately accrued for possibjgosures. To the extent we prevail in
matters we have accrued for, our future effectaverate would be reduced and net income would asgelf we are required to pay more than
accrued, our future effective tax rate would inseand net income would decrease. Our effectiveataxand net income in any given future
period could be materially impacted. As of Decentfer2003, the Internal Revenue Service continisesdamination of two of our five open
tax years.

For additional information, see Note 12 to our &diiconsolidated financial statements for the yeaded December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 included in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our consolidated goodwill at December 31, 2003 $2450.1 million and intangible assets were $1 227illion. The sum of goodwill
and intangible assets represented 27% of ourdotedolidated assets at December 31, 2003.
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On January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of FiabActounting Standards No. 1Ausiness Combinationsand Statement of
Accounting Standards No. 14@podwill and Other Intangible AssetEAS 141 requires business combinations complfted June 30, 2001
to be accounted for using the purchase methodaafuanting. It also specifies the types of acquirdgdngible assets that are required to be
recognized and reported separately from goodwill.

Under FAS 142, goodwill and other intangible aséeith indefinite lives) will not be amortized bwill be tested for impairment at least
annually. We completed our annual impairment tésixasting goodwill and other intangible assetstiwndefinite lives) for the year ended
December 31, 2003 during the fourth quarter of 20@2&ddition, for the year ended December 31, 20@2completed our transitional
impairment test of goodwill and other intangibleets (with indefinite lives) during the second germof 2002 and our annual impairment test
during the fourth quarter of 2002. Based upon thests we have not incurred any impairment losskesed to any goodwill and other
intangible assets (with indefinite lives).

On July 31, 2002, we completed our purchase of 16D8te outstanding stock of Trigon. In accordawith FAS 141, we allocated the
purchase price to the fair value of assets acquinetuding intangible assets, and liabilities amed. This allocation process included the
review of relevant information about the assetslaiilities, independent appraisals and other atiuns to determine the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The allocaticuited in $2,146.1 million of non-tax deductibleogwill and $1,172.7 million of acquired
intangible assets.

While we believe we have appropriately allocategighrchase price of our acquisitions, this allasatequires many assumptions to be
made regarding the fair value of assets and ltedslacquired. In addition, the annual impairmestinhg required under FAS 142 requires us to
make assumptions and judgments regarding the estinfiar value of our goodwill and intangibles. 8ussumptions include the discount
factor used to determine the fair value of a repgrtinit, which is ultimately used to identify pateal goodwill impairment. Such estimated {
values might produce significantly different restiftother reasonable assumptions and estimates twédre used. Because of the amounts of
goodwill and other intangible assets included in@ansolidated balance sheet, the impairment aisalysignificant. If we are unable to
support a fair value estimate in future annual gathdmpairment tests or if significant impairmeinidicators are noted relative to other
intangible assets subject to amortization, we neayeluired to record impairment losses againstéufcome.

For additional information, see Note 3 to our aeditonsolidated financial statements for the yeaded December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Form 10-K

Investments

Total investment securities were $6,915.2 milliolacember 31, 2003 and represented 51% of odrdotsolidated assets at December
31, 2003. Our fixed maturity and equity securites classified as “available-for-sale” securitiad are reported at fair value. We have
determined that all investments in our portfolie awailable to support current operations, andraaogly, have classified such securities as
current assets. Investment income is recorded whared, and realized gains or losses, determinagédxific identification of investments
sold, are included in income when the securitiessaid.

An impairment review of securities to determindetlines in fair value are other-than-temporargujective and requires a high degree
of judgement. We evaluate our investment securitiea quarterly basis, using both quantitative gqumalitative factors, to determine whether a
decline in value is other than temporary. Suchoi@ctonsidered include the length of time and #terg to which a security’s market value has
been less than its cost, financial condition aral erm prospects of the issuer, recommendatioirssetment advisors, and forecasts of
economic, market or industry trends. If any dediaee determined to be other than temporary, wegehte losses to income when that
determination is made. The current economic enwiemt and recent

66



Table of Contents

volatility of securities markets increase the diflty of determining fair value and assessing itwesit impairment. The same influences tend
to increase the risk of potential impairment ofsthassets. During the three months ended Jun®@8, e recorded a $22.3 million charge
other-than-temporary impairment of our equity séims, primarily due to the length of time that #ecurities’ fair value had been less than
cost. An additional $2.1 million impairment losssv@corded for investments in certain other resii@ssets and joint ventures. Our equity
securities, which are comprised of indexed mutuatl§, had gross unrealized gains of $26.2 millidbecember 31, 2003.

Management believes it has adequately reviewenpairment and that its investment securities areied at fair value. However, over
time, the economic and market environment may pieeidditional insight regarding the fair value eftain securities, which could change
management’s judgment regarding impairment. Thigdcccesult in realized losses relating to othemttemporary declines being charged
against future income.

We have evaluated the impact on the fixed matyatgfolio’s fair value considering an immediate 100 basiatpgiange in interest rat
A 100 basis point increase in interest rates woesdilt in an approximate $276.0 million decreaskinvalue, whereas a 100 basis point
decrease in interest rates would result in an aqpeEte $249.9 million increase in fair value. Annmadiate 10% decrease in each equity
investment's value, arising from market movemerduld result in a fair value decrease of $19.4 wnilliAlternatively, an immediate 10%
increase in each equity investment’s value, attaible to the same factor, would result in a falueancrease of $19.4 million.

A summary of investments with unrealized lossesfddecember 31, 2003 along with the related falueaaggregated by the length of
time that investments have been in a continuousalized loss position, is as follows:

Less than Twelve Twelve Months or
Months More Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(In Millions)
Fixed maturity securities
United States Government securit $ 172.¢ $ 1.8 $ 3.6 $ 0.2 $ 176.C $ 2C
Obligations of states and political subdivisions —
Corporate securitie —
404.1 5.C — 404.1 5.C
Mortgage-backed securitie —
562.¢ 6.6 — 562.¢ 6.€
Total fixed maturity securitie 1,139.¢ 13.4 3.6 0.2 1,143.( 13.€
Equity securities—indexed mutual funds —
Total $1,139.¢ $ 134 $ 3.6 $ 0.2 $1,143.( $ 13

The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolosiensitive to interest rate fluctuations, whiclpaet the fair value of individual
securities. All unrealized losses reported abovieewaused by the effect of a rising interest ratérenment on certain securities with stated
interest rates currently below market rates. The@any has the ability and intent to hold these stes until their full cost can be recovered.
Therefore, the Company does not believe the uzezhliosses represent an other-than-temporary impairas of December 31, 2003.

Through our investing activities, we are exposefintancial market risks, including those resultingm changes in interest rates and
changes in equity market valuations. Our primargdive is the preservation of the asset base amdmization of portfolio income given an
acceptable level of risk. We manage the markesiiskough our investment policy, which establistreslit quality limits and limits of
investments in individual issuers. If we are undbleffectively manage these risks, it could havénapact on our future earnings and financial
position.

67



Table of Contents

For additional information, see Part Il, Item 7Atbis Form 10-K, “Quantitative and Qualitative Ossures about Market Riskind Note
4 to our audited consolidated financial statemértshe years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 antliéluded in Part Il, Item 8, of this
Form 10-K.

Retirement Benefit:
Pension Benefits

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for oysleyees, and account for these plans in accordaitbé=AS 87,Employers’
Accounting for Pensior, which requires that amounts recognized in finalngtiatements be determined on an actuarial b&sigermitted by
FAS 87, we calculate the value of plan assets (et below). Further, the effects on our compotatf pension expense from the
performance of the pension plans’ assets and ckangeension liabilities are amortized over futpegiods.

An important factor in determining our pension exgeis the assumption for expected long-term redarplan assets. As of our
September 30, 2003 measurement date, we loweregkpacted rate of return on plan assets to 8.088m(8.50% for 2003 expense
recognition). We use a total portfolio return asédyin the development of our assumption. Factaech sis past market performance, interest
rates, inflation and asset allocations are coneitler the assumption. The assumption includes tmate of the additional return expected
from active management of the investment portfdfieer data and historical returns are also revidaregppropriateness of the selected
assumption. The expected long-term rate of remalculated by the geometric averaging methodghvbalculates an expected multi-period
return. We believe our assumption of future retusnmeasonable. However, if we lower our expectedjiterm return on plan assets, future
contributions to the pension plan and pension es@evould likely increase.

This assumed longerm rate of return on assets is applied to a tatled value of plan assets, which recognizes clsaimgihe fair value ¢
plan assets in a systematic manner over three.yBaissproduces the expected return on plan a#isatss included in the determination of
pension expense. The difference between this esgeeturn and the actual return on plan assetsfésred and amortized over the average
remaining service of the workforce as a componépeasion expense. The net deferral of past asses @r losses affects the calculated value
of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension egpe

The discount rate reflects the current rate at Wwitie pension liabilities could be effectively dtat the end of the year based on our
measurement date. At our last measurement datéefS8ker 30, 2003), we selected a discount rate2®26, which was developed using a
benchmark rate of the Moody's Aa Corporate Bondgin Changes in the discount rates over the peest frears have not materially affected
pension expense, and the net effect of changé®idiscount rate, as well as the net effect ofrathanges in actuarial assumptions and
experience, have been deferred and amortized aspanent of pension expense in accordance with &AS

In managing the plan assets, our objective is ta tEsponsible fiduciary while minimizing financi&@k. Plan assets include a diversified
mix of investment grade fixed maturity securitiesl @quity securities maximize the long-term retioma prudent level of risk. Plan assets are
not invested in Anthem stock. As of our measurerndate of September 30, 2003, we had approxima&¥y 6f plan assets invested in equity
securities, 31% in fixed maturity securities and iB%ther assets.

At December 31, 2003, our consolidated prepaidiparesset was $258.3 million, an increase from $4illion at December 31, 200
The increase was primarily due to the funding afcash balance pension plans in the amount of $Irh8lion during 2003. For the year
ending December 31, 2004, the Company does noteapg required contributions under ERISA. The Campmay elect to make
discretionary contributions up to the maximum amaleductible for income tax purposes.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 arld 2@0recognized consolidated pretax pension expeh$21.3 million, $14.3
million and $10.5 million, respectively.
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Other Postretirement Benefits

We provide most employees certain life, medicaiori and dental benefits upon retirement. We usews actuarial assumptio
including a discount rate and the expected trerftbalth care costs to estimate the costs and befdfjations for our retiree benefits. We
recognized a postretirement benefit liability oB814 million at December 31, 2003.

At our last measurement date (September 30, 20@33¢elected a discount rate of 6.25%, which wagldped using a benchmark rate of
the Moody’s Aa Corporate Bonds index.

The assumed health care cost trend rates usedasuneethe expected cost of other benefits at ttessurement date are as follows:

2003 2002
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next 11.0(% 10.0(%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed ttinge¢he ultimate trend rat: 5.5(% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 200¢ 2007

See “New Accounting Pronouncements” below for dison of the Financial Accounting Standards Bodadf $osition 106-1,
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Relatededvtedicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modsation Act of 200..

For additional information regarding Retirement B#ts, see Note 15 to our audited consolidatedhfiied statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included in Rdtem 8, of this Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

On January 1, 2003, we adopted the interim repprigquirements of Statement of Financial AccounStgndards No. 14/Accounting
for Stocl-Based Compensation—Transition and DisclogiFAS 148”"). FAS 148 requires more prominent discice and specifies the form,
content and location of these disclosures in batheanual and interim financial statements. Adaptibthis statement had no impact on our
financial position or results of operations, asasatinue to account for stock-based compensatimguke intrinsic method under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Employe8se Note 10 to our audited consolidated finarstatements
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K fdret disclosures required by FAS 148.

On November 12, 2003, the Emerging Issues TaskeROEITF") of the Financial Accounting Standardsad, as part of its discussion
surrounding EITF Issue No. 03-0Ohe Meaning of Other-than-Temporary Impairment asd\pplication to Certain Investmentgeached a
consensus to require certain year end quantitatidequalitative disclosures about the unrealizedds from debt and equity securities, and
management’s conclusion that any impairment is teary. The required disclosures are required tludequantitative information about (1)
the aggregate amount of unrealized losses anthé23dgregate related fair values of investments witealized losses, summarized by the
time period during which the investment has beemnininrealized loss position. See “Critical AccingptPolicies and Estimates — Investments”
above and Note 4 to our audited consolidated filmhstatements included in Part Il, Item 8 of thiwm 10-K for these required disclosures.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and &tadation Act of 2003 became law in December 2888 expanded Medicare,
primarily adding a prescription drug benefit for teare-eligible retirees starting in 2006. The Campanticipates that the benefits it pays in
2006 and beyond will be lower as a result of the Medicare provisions. However, the retiree mediddigations and costs reported in the
audited consolidated financial statements includdeiart Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K do not reflebe impact of this legislation. As
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permitted by Financial Accounting Standards Boaaff$osition 106-1Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Relatetledtedicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernizatiort 82003, the Company has deferred the recognition ofripgact of the new Medicare
provisions due to open gquestions about some dfi¢heMedicare provisions and a lack of authoritatigeounting guidance about certain
matters. The final accounting guidance could rexjoiranges to previously reported information. Sete N5 to our audited consolidated
financial statements included in Part I, Item 8§ Form 10-K for information regarding our rerobligations for life, medical, vision and
dental benefits.

On December 23, 2003, the Financial Accounting &atfs Board issued a revised version of Statenfdfihancial Accounting
Standards No. 13Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Othetrietieement Benefit§'FAS 132"). The revised standard did not img
our financial position or results of operationstatid not change the methodologies underlyingrtteasurement of obligations or calculation of
pension expense, but makes significant changdseteeqjuired disclosures in the financial statemeffts adopted the new reporting
requirements in our financial statements for tharynded December 31, 2003. See Note 15 to outeauthinsolidated financial statements
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K fdret disclosures required by FAS 132, as revised.

There were no other new accounting pronouncemssiied during 2003 that had a material impact orfioancial position, operating
results or disclosures.

X. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Introduction

Our cash receipts consist primarily of premiumsnanistrative fees, investment income, other reveamet proceeds from the sale or
maturity of our investment securities. Cash diseomsnts result mainly from claims payments, adnmaliste expenses, taxes, purchase of
investment securities, interest expense, paymenisng term borrowings, capital expenditures anmirehase of our common stock. Cash
outflows fluctuate with the amount and timing oftkement of these transactions. As such, any fulledine in our profitability would likely
have some negative impact on our liquidity.

We manage our cash, investments and capital steustuwe are able to meet the short and long-téligations of our business while
maintaining financial flexibility and liquidity. Wéorecast, analyze and monitor our cash flows ebéninvestment and financing within the
overall constraints of our financial strategy.

A substantial portion of the assets held by ouulegd subsidiaries are in the form of cash antl egsiivalents and investments. After
considering expected cash flows from operatingvaigls, we generally invest cash that exceeds ear term obligations in longer term
marketable fixed maturity securities, to improve ouerall investment income returns. Our investngtrategy is to make investments
consistent with insurance statutes and other regylaequirements, while preserving our asset b@se.investments are available for sale to
meet liquidity and other needs. Excess capitahid pnnually in the form of dividends by subsidiario their respective parent companies for
general corporate use, as permitted by applicagelations.

The availability of financing in the form of debt equity is influenced by many factors including puofitability, operating cash flows,
debt levels, debt ratings, contractual restrictisagulatory requirements and market conditions.Halee access to a $1.0 billion commercial
paper program supported by $1.0 billion of revadvaredit facilities, which allow us to maintain flaer operating and financial flexibility.

Liquidity—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Hridecember 31, 2002

During 2003, net cash flow provided by operatintivities was $1,143.4 million, as compared to $39illion in 2002, an increase
$152.3 million. The increase resulted from improwed income, including the impact of our Trigon @isgtion, offset by a decline in operating
cash flow from our operating assets and
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liabilities. The decline in cash from operatingetssand liabilities primarily resulted from increasn receivables resulting from growth in our
revenue base, payment for resolution of a litigatimatter and higher incentive payments during 28808ompared to 2002.

Net cash flow used in investing activities was $B,6 million in 2003, compared to cash used of $1.4 million in 2002, a decrease in
cash used of $298.3 million. The table below oesithe changes in investing cash flow betweenwbeyears (in millions):

Increase in net purchases of investm: $492.1
Decrease in net purchases and sales of subsic (782.0)
Decrease in net purchases and proceeds from sptepérty and equipme (8.3

Total decrease in cash used in investing activ $(298.9)

The purchase of investment securities increasegasating cash was moved into our investment plastéond cash balances held by our
investment managers was reduced. The decreasbsidsuwy purchases resulted primarily from miniraalivity in 2003 versus 2002, which
included our Trigon acquisition. The decrease inpneperty and equipment purchases was nominal.

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $26@illion in 2003 compared to cash provided byfining activities of $709.3 million
in 2002. During 2003, $217.2 million was used fourehase our common stock. In addition, $100.0imnilvas used to fund the payment of
senior guaranteed notes, which matured on Juld®@3. These payments were offset by $57.0 millioproceeds from the issuance of
common stock related to the exercise of stock apgtemd our employee stock purchase program.

During 2002, proceeds of $938.5 million were reedifrom the issuance of senior notes used to fysat#on of the Trigon acquisition.
In addition, $30.9 million was received from theuance of common stock due to the exercise of siptikns and from our employee stock
program. Offsetting these amounts was $256.2 millised to repurchase shares of common stock ahd#lion used for costs related to the
issuance of shares for the Trigon acquisition.

Liquidity—Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Hridecember 31, 2001

During 2002, net cash flow provided by operatintivittes was $991.1 million, an increase of $33@G#lion, or 51%, over 2001. The
increase is a reflection of our improved net incoReevorable changes in our operating assets abitlitles complemented this increased net
income to generate improved cash flow from openatio

Net cash flow used in investing activities was $1,8 million in 2002, compared to $498.1 million2@01, an increase of $913.8 milli
The table below outlines where the changes betweetwo years occurred (in millions):

Increase in purchases of subsidiaries, net of E=ived $(785.5)
Decrease in proceeds from sales of subsidi (44.7)
Increase in net purchases of investm (40.9
Increase in net purchases and proceeds from sal®pérty and equipme (43.9)

Total increase in cash used in investing activ $(913.9)

The increase in subsidiary purchases resulted phinfeom the Trigon acquisition in 2002, for whiete paid $772.4 million in net cash.
Cash acquired on Trigon’s balance sheet was $36#lian, which partially offset $1,134.6 million ad for the purchase price and transaction
costs. The net decline in cash received from ditwges between the two years reflects proceeds thensale of TRICARE in 2001, which did
not occur in 2002. The purchase of investment stsiincreased as operating cash was moved intoeestment
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portfolio. The increased property and equipmentpases include $24.6 million of expenditures mad&rigon following the acquisition date,
primarily on the construction of additional fadéis. The remainder of the increased property pweheesulted from investments in computer
technology and software.

Net cash flow provided by financing activities wig&09.3 million in 2002 compared to $46.6 million2601. On July 31, 2002, Anthem
issued $950.0 million of long-term senior unsecuretés ($150.0 million of 4.875% notes due 2008, $800.0 million of 6.800% notes due
2012). The net proceeds of $938.5 million fromtioée offering were used to pay a portion of therappnately $1,134.5 million of cash
consideration and expenses associated with Anthaoafgisition of Trigon. In addition, $30.9 milliaf proceeds resulted from the issuance of
common stock related to the exercise of stock aptand through the employee stock purchase proghtarused $256.2 million to repurchase
our common stock during 2002. The $46.6 milliorcash provided by financing activities during 208%elated to the demutualization and
initial public offering, after making payments tligéble statutory members. During our initial pubbffering, net proceeds of $2,110.2 million
were received from issuance of common stock andt¥&ecurity Units. These cash receipts were offiggpayments of $2,063.6 million to
eligible statutory members in the demutualization.

Financial Condition

We maintained a strong financial condition anditiéty position, with consolidated cash, cash eqigints and investments of $7.4 billion
at December 31, 2003. Total cash, cash equivatgntsnvestments increased by $736.7 million sineedinber 31, 2002, primarily resulting
from improved cash flows from operations partiafiset by cash used for share repurchases andejgdtments.

Many of our subsidiaries are subject to variousaegprnent regulations that restrict the timing anadant of dividends and other
distributions that may be paid to their respecigeent companies. During 2003, Anthem received $488llion of dividends from its
subsidiaries. At December 31, 2003, Anthem hetti@parent company approximately $666.4 milliomaif $7.4 billion of cash, cash
equivalents and investments, which are availabigéneral corporate use, including investment inbasinesses, acquisitions, share and debt
repurchases and interest payments.

Our consolidated debt-to-total-capital ratio (ctédted as the sum of debt divided by the sum of gl shareholders’ equity) was 21.7%
as of December 31, 2003 and 24.7% as of Decemb@082.

Our senior debt is rated “BBB+” by Standard & Pspt’A-" by Fitch, Inc., “Baal” by Moody’s Invest@ervice, Inc. and “a-" by AM
Best Company, Inc. We intend to maintain our sedeit investment grade ratings. A significant doraag in our debt ratings could adversely
affect our borrowing capacity and costs.

Future Sources and Uses of Liquidity

We will have cash requirements of approximately@$8llion for the pending transaction with WellPgimcluding both the cash portion
of the purchase price and estimated transactiais.ddsring October 2003, we obtained a commitmenafbridge loan of up to $3.0 billion.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2003, we have $&66illion of cash, cash equivalents and investismiantl access to $1.0 billion of credit
facilities, as discussed below. All indebtednessenrthe bridge loan must be repaid in full no latemn March 31, 2005. At or near the expe:
closing of the WellPoint transaction in mid-2004 plan to issue up to $2.0 billion of debt secesitin a public offering to provide permanent
financing. In addition, we expect to put in placeexpanded $2.5 billion revolving credit facilitgplacing our current $1.0 billion of credit
facilities. Upon issuance of the $2.0 billion obtlsecurities and the increase of $1.5 billionun evolving credit facilities, the $3.0 billion
commitment for the bridge loan will be terminatedaddition, as part of the debt recapitalizatiseariated with the WellPoint transaction, and
using sources of liquidity described above, we megurchase a portion of our surplus notes, subjectarket conditions at that time.
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Anthem maintains $1.0 billion of revolving lines aedit with its lender group. Under one faciliyhich expires November 5, 2006,
Anthem may borrow up to $400.0 million. On July2D03 a second facility was renewed which now espitme 29, 2004. Under this second
facility, Anthem may borrow up to $600.0 millionng amounts outstanding under this facility at JB8£2004 (except amounts that bear
interest rates determined by a competitive bidgiragess) convert to a one-year term loan at Anteemtion. Anthem’s ability to borrow
under these credit facilities is subject to comm@with certain covenants. We were in complianitk these covenants as of December 31,
2003. There were no borrowings under these faslitdr the year ended December 31, 2003.

On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors autledrimanagement to establish a $1.0 billion comrakpeiper program. Proceeds from
any issuance of commercial paper may be used feergecorporate purposes, including the repurcb&sgebt and common stock of Anthem.
Commercial paper notes are short-term senior umsdgwtes, with a maturity not to exceed 270 deys fdate of issuance. When issued, the
notes bear interest at current market rates. Tlere no borrowings under this commercial paper rogduring the year ended December 31,
2003.

On December 18, 2002, Anthem filed a shelf rediistnawith the SEC to register any combination dbtder equity securities in one or
more offerings up to an aggregate amount of $1lidti Specific information regarding terms of tbffering and the securities being offered
will be provided at the time of the offering. Preds from any offering will be used for general aygie purposes, including the repayment of
debt, capitalization of our subsidiaries or thafining of possible acquisitions or business expan#is of December 31, 2003, Anthem had
$1.0 billion of the shelf registration capacity r@ning.

As discussed in “Financial Condition” above, mafipor subsidiaries are subject to various goverrtmegulations that restrict the
timing and amount of dividends and other distribnsi that may be paid. Based upon these requirenveatsre currently estimating
approximately $400.0 million of dividends to begh&d Anthem during 2004.

In 2003, the Board of Directors authorized us fourehase up to $500.0 million of stock under a progthat will expire in February
2005. Under this program, repurchases may be nmmadetime to time at prevailing prices, subject éotain restrictions on volume, pricing and
timing. We purchased nearly 3.4 million shareswf@mmon stock during the year ended Decembe2(13, at a cost of $217.2 million. We
currently have $282.8 million of authorization remiag under this program.

Anthem Insurance repaid $100.0 million of senicamgunteed notes which matured on July 15, 2003.€Thetes were repaid from
operating cash flows of Anthem Insurance.

On November 15, 2004, the purchase contracts iedludthin our Equity Security Units, or Units, witquire each holder to purchase,
for $50.00, a number of newly issued shares oftoutmon stock equal to a settlement rate deternbyete fair value of our common stock
that time. We will receive aggregate cash of $23@il0on upon exercise of the purchase contracseld on the 4,600,000 Units outstanding at
December 31, 2003. We will be required to issugvbeh 5,244,000 and 6,394,000 shares of our comtock, glepending on the average fair
value of our common stock on each of the twentyseountive trading days ending on the third tradiag prior to November 15, 2004.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we fusdé8.0 million to our cash balance pension plans.fGnding strategy,
implemented during 2003, is to fund our pensiompmla a quarterly basis, rather than making a sitagtger annual contribution. Future
quarterly funding amounts may be adjusted basethanges in the market value of plan assets andyelsan related assumptions. For the year
ending December 31, 2004, the Company does noteapg required contributions under ERISA. The Campmay elect to make
discretionary contributions up to the maximum amaleductible for income tax purposes.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In connection with our pending transaction with WWeint, WellPoint shareholders will receive consat®n of twent-three dollars an
eighty cents in cash and one share of Anthem constomk for each WellPoint share outstanding. Tha& talue of the transaction is estima
to be approximately $16.4 billion, based on thesicig price of our common stock on the New York 8tBgchange on October 24, 2003. The
transaction is expected to close by mid-2004, stilbge among other things, state regulatory andetivdder approval.

Our other estimated contractual obligations andragments as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less thar More than

Contractual Obligations and Commitments (In Millions) Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Long term debt and capital leas $1,662.¢ $ — $ 375.¢ $ 1€ $1,285.¢
Operating lease 305.k 46.¢ 81.€ 55.1 122.(
Venture capital commitmen 23.¢ — — 16.€ 7.3
Purchase obligatioris 92.t 53.t 37.¢ 1.1 —
Other long term liabilities reflected on

our balance she: 1,004 . — 275.¢ 201.¢ 527.(
Total contractual obligations and commitme $3,089.: $ 100.: $ 770.¢ $ 276.- $1,941.°
1 Includes obligations related to IT service agreeimand telecommunication contracts

In addition to the contractual obligations and cdtmrents discussed above, we have a variety of aihwetractual agreements related to
acquiring materials and services used in our ojeratHowever, we do not believe these other agea¢sicontain material non-cancelable
commitments.

We believe that funds from future operating caskw, cash and investments and funds available ukaliem’s credit agreements or
from public or private financing sources will beftient for future operations and commitments é&mdcapital acquisitions and other strategic
transactions.

For additional information on our future debt métes and lease commitments, see Notes 5 and 4decévely, to our audited
consolidated financial statements for the yeargdikecember 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included inIR#&em 8, of this Form 10-K.

Risk-Based Capital

Our regulated subsidiaries’ states of domicile hete¢utory risk-based capital, or RBC, requiremémtdiealth and other insurance
companies largely based on the NAIC's RBC Model. Attese RBC requirements are intended to measpilcadequacy, taking into
account the risk characteristics of an insureng#tments and products. The NAIC sets forth thenéda for calculating the RBC requirements,
which are designed to take into account asset, fiisggrance risks, interest rate risks and othewraat risks with respect to an individual
insurance company’s business. In general, undett, an insurance company must submit a repdats ®BC level to the state insurance
department or insurance commissioner, as apprepaathe end of each calendar year. Our risk-beapital as of December 31, 2003, which
was the most recent date for which reporting wgsired, was in excess of all mandatory RBC thrafhdh addition to exceeding the RBC
requirements, we are in compliance with the liqyidind capital requirements of a licensee of theeRrross Blue Shield Association.

Xl. Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Seaities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

This document contains certain forward-looking miation intended to be covered by the safe harbotforward-looking statements”
provided by the Private Securities Litigation RefoAct of 1995. Forwarlooking statements are statements that are nodticstl facts. Word:
such as “expect(s)”, “feel(s)”,
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“believe(s)”, “will”, “may”, “anticipate(s)” and si milar expressions are intended to identify forw#wdking statements. These statements
include, but are not limited to, financial projemtis and estimates and their underlying assumptistagements regarding plans, objectives and
expectations with respect to future operationsdpigis and services; and statements regarding fyteréormance. Such statements are subject
to certain risks and uncertainties, many of whicé difficult to predict and generally beyond thentrol of Anthem, that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressgdoir implied or projected by, the forward-lookimjormation and statements. These risks and
uncertainties include: those discussed and idesatifih public filings with the U.S. Securities anccEange Commission (“SEC”) made by
Anthem; trends in health care costs and utilizatiates; our ability to secure sufficient premiunteéncreases; competitor pricing belc

market trends of increasing costs; increased gavemt regulation of health benefits and managed;cgmificant acquisitions or divestitures
by major competitors; introduction and utilizatiofinew prescription drugs and technology; a dowgrén our financial strength ratings;
litigation targeted at health benefits companiesr ability to contract with providers consistenttiwvpast practice; our ability to consummate
Anthen’s merger with WellPoint, to achieve expected sgmsrand operating efficiencies in the merger witiie expected time-frames or at
all and to successfully integrate our operations;ls integration may be more difficult, time-consugnor costly than expected; revenues
following the transaction may be lower than expértgperating costs, customer loss and businessigliEm, including, without limitatior
difficulties in maintaining relationships with erogkes, customers, clients or suppliers, may betgreélaan expected following the transaction;
the regulatory approvals required for the transactimay not be obtained on the terms expected theanticipated schedule; our ability to
meet expectations regarding the timing, complegind accounting and tax treatments of the transacéiod the value of the transaction
consideration; future bio-terrorist activity or ath potential public health epidemics; and genem@momic downturns. Readers are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on these forwhlrdking statements that speak only as of the datedf. Anthem does not undertake any oblige

to republish revised forward-looking statementsatect events or circumstances after the date dfeseto reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events. Readers are also urged tefodly review and consider the various disclosureAnthem’s various SEC reports.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK.

As a result of our investing and borrowing actgsti we are exposed to financial market risks, tholy those resulting from changes in
interest rates and changes in equity market valostiPotential impacts discussed below are basenl sgnsitivity analyses performed on
Anthem’s financial positions as of December 31,208ctual results could vary from these estimafas. primary objectives with our
investment portfolio are preserving the asset hasgjmizing investment income, and achieving arrepgate return commensurate with an
acceptable level of risk.

Investments

Our investment portfolio is exposed to three priyregurces of risk: credit quality risk, interesteraisk and market valuation risk for
equity holdings.

The primary risks associated with our fixed magusiecurities are credit quality risk and interegémrisk. Credit quality risk is defined as
the risk of a credit downgrade to an individuakfixmaturity security and the potential loss attable to that downgrade. We manage this risk
through our investment policy, which establisheddrquality limitations on the overall portfolis avell as diversification and percentage lir
on securities of individual issuers. Since we ahésed of circumstances surrounding credit ratiogmgrades, we are able to promptly avoi
minimize exposure to losses by selling the sulgectrity. The result is a well-diversified portfobf fixed maturity securities, with an average
credit rating of approximately A. Interest ratekris defined as the potential for economic lossefixed maturity securities, due to a change in
market interest rates. Our fixed maturity portfatimnsists exclusively of U.S. dollar-denominateskss, invested primarily in U.S. government
securities, corporate bonds, asset-backed bondsarigage-related securities, all of which représenexposure to changes in the level of
market interest rates. We manage interest ratebyisk
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maintaining a duration commensurate with our inscediabilities and shareholderjuity. Additionally, we have the capability of Haig any
security to maturity, which would allow us to reaifull par value. Our investment policy prohihitse of derivatives to manage interest rate
risk associated with our investment portfolio.

Our portfolio includes corporate securities (apimately 46% of the total fixed maturity portfolio Becember 31, 2003) which are
subject to credit/default risk. In a declining eooric environment, corporate yields will usuallyriease prompted by concern over the abilit
corporations to make interest payments, thus cgusitecrease in the price of corporate securdigsd the decline in value of the corporate
fixed maturity portfolio. This risk is managed thgh fundamental credit analysis, diversificationssuers and industries and an average credi
rating of the corporate fixed maturity portfolio abproximately A.

Our equity portfolio is comprised of index mutuahtls that replicate the risk and performance o8&f 500 and S&P 400 indices an
subject to the volatility inherent in the stock ketr driven by concerns over economic conditioasnimgs and sales growth, inflation, and
consumer confidence. These systematic risks cdrenotanaged through diversification alone. Howeweme routine risks, such as
stock/industry specific risks, are managed by itimgsan these index mutual funds, resulting ineedsified equity portfolio.

All of our current investments are classified aaitable-for-sale. As of December 31, 2003, appratety 97% of these were fixed
maturity securities. Market risk is addressed jvaty managing the duration, allocation and diVfézation of our investment portfolio. We
have evaluated the impact on the fixed maturityfpbio’s fair value considering an immediate 10Gisgpoint change in interest rates. A 100
basis point increase in interest rates would réswh approximate $276.0 million decrease invValue, whereas a 100 basis point decrease in
interest rates would result in an approximate $248illion increase in fair value. As of December 3003, no portion of our fixed maturity
portfolio was invested in non-US dollar denominatatkestments.

Our equity portfolio, as of December 31, 2003, wpproximately 3% of our current investments. Eqinityestments consists of indexed
mutual funds. An immediate 10% decrease in eachyemprestment’s value, arising from market movemeavould result in a fair value
decrease of $19.4 million. Alternatively, an immagdi10% increase in each equity investment’s valtigbutable to the same factor, would
result in a fair value increase of $19.4 millioro Nortion of our equity portfolio was invested iorRUS dollar denominated investments as of
December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, we melderivative financial or commodity-based instants.

Long Term Debt

Our senior unsecured notes are obligations of AntHec., or Anthem, and have fixed interest rates the fair value of these instrume
is affected by changes in market interest rates.SEmior unsecured notes consist of two issue$).880illion of 6.80% notes due 2012 and
$150.0 million of 4.875% notes due 2005. Thesesb&al a combined carrying value of $940.1 milliod 939.9 million at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The estimated fainesaf these instruments exceeded the carrying anbyu$127.6 million and $80.3 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Shottddst rates increase or decrease in the futigesgtimated fair value of these notes would
decrease or increase accordingly.

Our debentures included in our Equity Security Elnitr debentures, are obligations of Anthem andiasecured and subordinated in
right of payment to all of Anthem'’s existing andute senior indebtedness. At December 31, 200 tlere 4,600,000 Equity Security Units
outstanding. Each Equity Security Unit containsiechase contract under which the holder agreearichpse, for fifty dollars, shares of
Anthem common stock on November 15, 2004, and 296 .8ubordinated debenture. The number of shardes issued under the purchase
contract will be determined based on the averaigeddue of our common stock on each of the twemaiysecutive trading days ending on the
third trading day preceding November 15, 2004héf applicable fair
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value of our stock is greater or equal to $43.88,gettlement rate will be 1.14 shares of our comstock per purchase contract. If the
applicable fair value of our common stock is ldemnt$43.92 but greater than $36.00, the settleragaivill be equal to $50.00 divided by the
applicable market value of our common stock peclpase contract. If the applicable fair value of common stock is less than or equal to
$36.00, the settlement rate will be 1.39 sharemiotommon stock per purchase contract. Our cormstamrk closing price as of December 31,
2003 was $75.00. The interest rate on the debenisifixed at 5.95% until November 15, 2004, atahtpoint it will be reset to 100.5% of a
value determined by re-marketing of the Units. ABecember 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, theyicay value of the debentures were
$224.3 million and $222.2 million. The debenturssmeated fair value exceeded the carrying valug181.6 million and $135.1 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Any asmer decrease in market interest rates in theefutill accordingly decrease or increase
the estimated fair value of the debentures.

Our subordinated debt consists of two issues gfissmotes ($300.0 million of 9.125% notes due 28d6 $200.0 million of 9.000%
notes due 2027) with fixed interest rates. Surphtes are unsecured obligations of Anthem Insur@umrapanies, Inc., or Anthem Insurance,
and are subordinate in right of payment to all oftfem Insurance’s existing and future indebtedn®sg.payment of interest or principal on
the surplus notes may be made only with the pppraval of the Indiana Department of Insurance. ddmbined carrying value of the surplus
notes was $494.1 million and $493.6 million at Dmber 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The estinfaiedalue of the surplus notes
exceeded the carrying value by $157.9 million ab@7$0 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, resgy. Should interest rates increase
decrease in the future, the estimated fair valusuofsurplus notes would decrease or increase diocyy.

Cash Flow Hedges

On February 6, 2004, we entered into forward stgntiay fixed hedging transactions with a notiomabant of $500.0 million. Thes
hedges are being used to eliminate uncertaintyekd future interest payments on the expectedis® of debt securities to partially fund the
cash portion of the WellPoint transaction, whiclexpected to close in mid-2004. The hedge trarmastiad no impact on our financial
position or results of operations at inception. léwer, in future reporting periods, these hedgekbgilffected by changes in market interest
rates. Should interest rates increase or decraahke future, the estimated fair value of the hadgeuld increase or decrease accordingly.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Anthem, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Anthem, Inc. as of December 31, 2662802, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholdetstyegnd cash flows for each of the three yeatfiénperiod ended December 31, 2003. Our
audits also included the financial statement scleclitied in the Index at Item 15(a). These finahstatements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audgiagdards generally accepted in the United Statesse standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgahe amounts and disclosures in the finarstilements. An audit also includes asse:
the accounting principles used and significantnesties made by management, as well as evaluatirayérall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonablis f@sour opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Anthem, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, anddhsolidated results of its operations and ité dlsvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity &itbounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when consibier relation to the basic financial statemerkenaas a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidatesh€ial statements, on January 1, 2002 the Comadogted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 14Rusiness Combinationsind Statement of Financial Accounting Standaras1¥2,Goodwill and Other
Intangible Asset.

/s/ ERNST& Y OUNGLLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
January 26, 2004

79



Table of Contents

(In Millions, Except Share Data)

Assets
Current assett
Investments availak-for-sale, at fair value
Fixed maturity securitie
Equity securitiet

Cash and cash equivalel

Premium and se-funded receivable
Reinsurance receivabl

Other receivable

Income tax receivable

Other current asse

Total current asse

Restricted cash and investme
Property and equipme
Goodwill

Other intangible asse
Prepaid pension benefi

Other noncurrent asse

Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Policy liabilities:
Unpaid life, accident and health clail
Future policy benefit
Other policyholder liabilitie!

Total policy liabilities

Unearned incom

Accounts payable and accrued expel
Bank overdraft:

Income taxes payab

Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities

Long term debt, less current porti
Postretirement benefi

Deferred income taxe

Other noncurrent liabilitie

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

ANTHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Preferred stock, without par value, shares autec—100,000,000; shares issued and outsta—none
Common stock, par value $0.01, shares authorized;000,000; shares issued and outstanding:

2003, 137,641,034; 2002, 139,332,
Additional paid in capita
Retained earning
Unearned restricted stock compensa
Accumulated other comprehensive incc

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.

80

December 31

2003 2002
$ 6,721 $ 5,797
1937 1507
6,915.: 5,948
464.F 694.¢
1,068« 892.7
96.¢ 76.
254.( 192

8.€ 117

57.4 60.2
8,865.( 7,876
58.2 49.1
510.f 537.¢
2,450.. 2,484.¢
1,227.( 1,274.¢
258.¢ 146.
69.4 70.€
$13,438.( $12,439.:
$ 1,866.¢ $ 1,826.
372.€ 344.
505.( 497.
2,744.: 2,668.(
4111 326.€
493 471.¢
401 357.¢
147.¢ 109.¢
573.¢ 514.¢
4,771 4,448
1,662.¢ 1,659.¢
188.¢ 196.¢
524.¢ 389.¢
291 382.(
7,438. 7,077.(
14 14
4,708. 4,762..
1,154.. 481.
(3.2) 6.2
138 122
5,999.¢ 5,362.
$13,438.( $12,439.:
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ANTHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

Revenues
Premiums
Administrative fee:
Other revenui

Total operating revent
Net investment incom
Net realized gains on investme|
Gain (loss) on sale of subsidiary operati

Expenses

Benefit expens

Administrative expens

Interest expens

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible ass
Demutualization expens:

Income before income taxes and minority interes
Income taxe:
Minority interest (credit

Net income

Net income per sharé
Basic

Diluted

Net income for the period from November 2, 2001tédz demutualization and initial publ
offering) to December 31, 20(

Basic and diluted net income per share for theogefriom November 2, 2001 (date of
demutualization and initial public offering) to Denber 31, 200

1 Amounts for 2001 include pro forma earnings perealmior to the initial public offering.

See accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 3.

2003 2002 2001
$15,170.: $11,941.( $ 9,244.¢
1,180.% 962.2 817.:
126.2 87.c 58.2
16,477.: 12,990.! 10,120.:
278.1 260.% 238.¢
17.€ 30.4 60.€

(1.6) 0.7 25.C
16,771. 13,282.. 10,444,
12,263.¢ 9,839.¢ 7,814."
3,109.¢ 2,506.¢ 1,986.:
131.2 98.t 60.2
47.€ 30.2 31.t

— — 27.€
15,552.: 12,474, 9,920.:
1,219.. 807.¢ 524.¢
440.1 255.2 183.2

4.7 3.2 (1.0

$ 774.: $ 549.1 $ 342.:
$ 5.6( $ 4.61 $ 3.31
$ 5.4t $ 4.51 $ 3.3C
— — $ 55.7

— = $ 0.54
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ANTHEM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY

(In Millions, Except Share Data)
Balance at December 31, 2C
Net income before the date of demutualization
initial public offering
Net income after the date of demutualization atthir
public offering
Change in net unrealized losses on investn
Change in additional minimum pension liabil

Comprehensive incorr

Initial public offering of common stoc

Common stock issued in the demutualiza

Cash payments to eligible statutory members indieu
stock

Balance at December 31, 2C

Net income

Change in net unrealized gains on investm
Change in additional minimum pension liabil

Comprehensive incomrr

Acquisition of Trigon Healthcare Inc., net of issu@sts

Repurchase and retirement of common s

Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plach a
employee stock purchase pl

Adjustments related to the demutualizat

Balance at December 31, 2C

Net income

Change in net unrealized gains on investm
Change in additional minimum pension liabil

Comprehensive incorr

Repurchase and retirement of common s

Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plah
employee stock purchase pl

Balance at December 31, 2C

Common Stock

Unearned

Accumulated

Additional Restricted Other Sha:-e?]talders'
Number of Par Paid in Retained Stock Comprehensive .
Shares Value Capital Earnings Compensation Income Equity
= $ — $ — $ 1,848.¢ $ = $ 71.z2 $ 1,919.¢
— — — 286.5 — — 286.5
— — — 55.7 — — 55.7
— — — — — (29.3) (29.3)
_ _ — = — 0.£ 0.£
313.¢
55,200,00 0.€ 1,889.¢ — — — 1,890.
48,095,67 0.t 71.C (71.5) — — —
— — — (2,063.¢) — — (2,063.¢)
103,295,67 1.1 1,960.¢ 55.7 — 42.4 2,060.(
— — 549.1 — — 549.1
— — — — — 87.¢ 87.¢
. _ _ _ — (7.€) (7.€)
629.¢
38,971,90 0.4 2,899.: — — — 2,899.f
(4,121,39) 0.3 (132.¢) (123.5) — — (256.7)
1,109,89: — 34.7 — (5.3 — 29.4
76,04¢ — 0.2 — — — 0.2
139,332,13 14 4,762.; 481.c (5.3) 122.% 5,362.
— — 774.% — — 774.%
— — — — — 6.8 6.8
— — — — — 9.2 9.2
790.¢
(3,390,801 — (115.9 (101.3) — — (217.9)
1,699,70: — 62.4 — 21 — 64.t
137,641,03 $ 14 $ 4,708. $ 1,154. $ 3.9 $ 138.7 $ 5,999.¢
L] I | I I I I

1 Amounts prior to the demutualization on Novembe?001 represent “Policyholders’ surplus”.

See accompanying notes.
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ANTHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 3.

. 2003 2002 2001
(In Millions)

Operating activities
Net income $ 774.: $ 549.1 $ 342.:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢

provided by operating activitie

Net realized gains on investme| (17.¢) (30.9 (60.§)
Loss (gain) on sale of subsidiary operati 1.6 (0.7) (25.0)
Depreciation, amortization and accret 245.( 157.C 120.t
Deferred income taxe 64.4 63.2 71.4
Loss on sale of asse 0.4 2.2 3.1

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett
of purchases and divestiture

Restricted cash and investme (9.7 4.7 8.1
Receivable: (251.9) (207.9) (28.0
Other asset 10.4 (5.5 (16.7)
Policy liabilities 97.4 228.t 192.%
Unearned incom 84.¢ 477 29.7
Accounts payable and accrued expel 23.¢ 37.C 27.¢
Other liabilities 59.5 20.2 (48.9)
Income taxe: 61.5 258 38.4
Cash provided by operating activiti 1,143. 991.1 654.¢
Investing activities
Purchases of investmer (5,120.7) (5,059.9 (3,957.9
Sales or maturities of investmei 4,115.( 4,546.; 3,484.¢
Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash acq (3.5 (789.6 4.1
Sales of subsidiaries, net of cash ¢ (3.2 0.9 45.C
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 9.4 13.7 4.1
Purchases of property and equipm (110.%) (123.9 (70.9
Cash used in investing activiti (1,113.¢ (1,411.9 (498.])

Financing activities

Proceeds from long term borrowin — 938.t —
Payments on long term borrowin (100.0 — —
Repurchase and retirement of common s (217.2) (256.2) —
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan andisger

of stock option: 57.C 30.€ —
Costs related to the issuance of common stockhiTtigon acquisitiol — (4.2 —
Net proceeds from common stock issued in the Irptidlic offering — — 1,890.¢
Net proceeds from issuance of Equity Security L — — 219.¢
Payments and adjustments to payments to eligibtatsry members

in the demutualizatio — 0.2 (2,063.6
Cash provided by (used in) financing activit (260.2) 709.: 46.€
Change in cash and cash equivalt (230.9) 288.t 203.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 694.¢ 406.4 203.:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 4645 $ 694¢ $ 406.

See accompanying notes.
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ANTHEM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2003
(Dollars in Millions, Except Share Data)

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accouimg Policies

Basis of Presentation On November 2, 2001, Anthem Insurance Compairies(“Anthem Insurance”) converted from a mutual
insurance company to a stock insurance companyinaess known as a demutualization. Concurrefht thi2 demutualization, Anthem
Insurance became a wholly owned subsidiary of AmtHac. (“Anthem”), and Anthem completed an initalblic offering of common stock.
The demutualization was accounted for as a reargtion using the historical carrying values of fissets and liabilities of Anthem Insurance.
Accordingly, immediately following the demutualizat and the initial public offering, Anthem Insura’s policyholders’ surplus was
reclassified to par value of common stock and &mftil paid in capital.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefiéithem and its subsidiaries (collectively, tl@o'mpany”) have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States. All significant interguany accounts and transactions have beer
eliminated in consolidation. The Company is licehse49 states and is the Blue Cross Blue Shiekbgigtion licensee in Indiana, Kentucky,
Ohio, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Maine, Coloradeyada, and Virginia (excluding the immediate sbiswf Washington, D.C.). Products
include health and group life insurance, managedtiheare, pharmacy benefit management, dentaVisi@h benefits and government health
program administration.

Minority interest represents other shareholden&rigsts in subsidiaries which are majority-ownedhgyCompany.

Use of Estimates: Preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires management to make estimates amahpiésns that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahiinl statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ from those estimates.

Investments: All fixed maturity and equity securities arassified as “available-for-sale” and are reportieiia value. The Company
has determined that all investments in its portfalie available to support current operations aadordingly, has classified such investment
securities as current assets without regard fotraotual maturities. The unrealized gains or logsethese securities are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income as a sepamaiponent of shareholders’ equity unless therdeei value is deemed to be other-
than-temporary, in which case the loss is chargeddome. The Company evaluates its investmentrgesufor other-than-temporary declines
based on quantitative and qualitative factors. $twment securities that have declines in fair vélelew cost, which are deemed to be other-
than-temporary, are written down to fair value.

Realized gains or losses, determined by specifintiication of investments sold or impaired, areliided in income.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with maturitied three months or less when purchased are clagsifiecash
equivalents.

Premium and Self-Funded Receivables: Premium and self-funded receivables includeutieollected amounts from insured and self-
funded groups, and are reported net of an allowércgoubtful accounts of $18.0 and $29.5 at Deaamndd, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on his&bigollection trends and management’s judgmerdroigg the ability to collect specific
accounts.
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1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accouimg Policies (continued)

Reinsurance Receivables: Reinsurance receivables represent amountseeaiae on claims paid or incurred and are estimiated
manner consistent with the liabilities associatétth the reinsured policies. There was no allowdoceincollectible reinsurance receivables at
December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Other Receivables: Other receivables include amounts for inteeashed on investments, proceeds due from brokeirsvestment
trades, government programs, pharmacy sales, ckgioveries and other miscellaneous amounts duret@ompany. These receivables have
been reduced by an allowance for uncollectible antsoaf $25.1 and $20.4 at December 31, 2003 and,286pectively.

Restricted Cash and Investments: Restricted cash and investments representifiduamounts held under trust arrangements used for
future obligations under certain unfunded bendéihp and are reported at fair value.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is recorded at costphaepreciation. Depreciation is computed printtyplhy the
straight-line method over estimated useful liveggiag from 15 to 39 years for buildings, threeg¢wen years for furniture and equipment, and
three to ten years for computer software. Leaseingiilovements are depreciated over the term ofdlaged lease. Certain costs related to the
development or purchase of internal-use softwagecapitalized and amortized in accordance with AA@@atement of Position 98-1,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Dmped or Obtained for Internal Us.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FASBuiness Combinationsand FAS 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset§AS 141 requires business combinations complfted June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. It also specifiegythes of acquired intangible assets that arenextjto be recognized and reported separately
from goodwill. Under FAS 142, goodwill and othetangible assets with indefinite lives are not aimed but are tested for impairment at least
annually. Goodwill represents the excess of cosicqtiisition over the fair value of net assets aequ Other intangible assets represent the
values assigned to subscriber bases, provider @splthl networks, Blue Cross and Blue Shield traaléms licenses, non-compete and other
agreements.

Retirement Benefits: Prepaid pension benefits represent prepaidfibvensts for liabilities related to defined berigfension plans.
Liabilities for pension benefits are determine@atordance with FAS 8Employers’ Accounting for Pensions

Postretirement benefits represent outstanding atidigs for retiree medical, life, vision and deriahefits. These benefits are accrued in
accordance with FAS 106mployers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefitegd Than PensionThe Company accrues the estimated costs
of retiree health and other postretirement bendfiting the periods in which eligible employeesd®nservice to earn the benefits.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and &taization Act of 2003 became law in December 2808 expanded Medicare,
primarily adding a prescription drug benefit for teare-eligible retirees starting in 2006. The Campanticipates that the retiree medical
benefits it pays in 2006 and beyond will be lowglaaesult of the new Medicare provisions; howetrer retiree medical obligations and costs
reported in the accompanying consolidated finarstetiements do not reflect the impact of this latjn. As permitted by Financial
Accounting Standards Board Staff Position 108«dcounting and Disclosure Requirements Relatetlédvtedicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2(, the Company has deferred the recognition ofripgact of the new Medicare provisions due to
open questions about some of the new Medicare giomg and a lack of authoritative accounting guigasbout certain matters. The final
accounting guidance could require changes to pusliiaeported information.
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1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accouimg Policies (continued)

Policy Liabilities:  Liabilities for unpaid claims include estimateavisions for both reported and unreported cldamesrred on an
undiscounted basis, as well as estimated provigmmexpenses related to the processing of clalths.liabilities are determined by actuarial
methods that are commonly used by health insuraciteries and meet Actuarial Standards of Praatibish require that claim liabilities be
adequate under moderately adverse circumstancediaHilities are regularly reviewed and adjustedknown or suspected operational and
environmental changes. Circumstances considerdevialoping the estimate of the liability includeadlgyes in utilization levels, unit costs, mix
of business, benefit designs, provider reimburseresels, processing system conversions, claimritorg levels, claim processing patterns
and claim submission patterns. Due to the condidieraariability of health care costs, adjustmentslaims liabilities occur each quarter.
Although it is not possible to measure the degfeanability inherent in such estimates, managenbetieves these liabilities are adequate
has consistently applied the methodology in deteimgithe best estimate for unpaid claims liabitityeach reporting date.

Future policy benefits include liabilities for liend long term disability insurance policy benefit$176.3 and $175.3 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively, and represents pilyrgnoup benefits determined using standard ingusiortality tables with interest rates
ranging from 2.5% to 6.5%. Future policy benefisanclude liabilities for insurance policies fohich some of the premiums received in
earlier years are intended to pay anticipated litsrtefbe incurred in future years. Future polienéfits are continually monitored and
reviewed, and when reserves are adjusted, diffeseare reflected in benefit expense. The Compaligves that its liabilities for future policy
benefits, along with future premiums received,adequate to satisfy its ultimate benefit liabilingwever, these estimates are inherently
subject to a number of variable circumstances.

Other policyholder liabilities include certain caggecific reserves as well as rate stabilizati@emnees associated with retrospective rated
insurance contracts. Rate stabilization reserveesent accumulated premiums that exceed whatroassoowe based on actual claim
experience and are paid based on contractual esqairts.

Premium deficiencies are recognized when it is abbdthat expected claims and loss adjustment eggenill exceed future premiums
on existing health and other insurance contradisout consideration of investment income. For pagsoof premium deficiencies, contracts
deemed to be either short or long duration andyereped in a manner consistent with the Compangthod of acquiring, servicing and
measuring the profitability of such contracts. Oastablished, premium deficiencies are amortizest the remaining life of the contract.

Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income includes net income, lla@ge in unrealized gains (losses) on investmemntste
change in the additional minimum pension liability.

Revenue Recognition: Gross premiums for fully-insured contracts m@ognized as revenue over the period insurancerage is
provided. Premiums applicable to the unexpired remttal coverage periods are reflected in the apemying consolidated balance sheets as
unearned income. Premiums include revenue frorngpérctive rated contracts where revenue is baséteogstimated ultimate loss experie
of the contract. Premium revenue includes an adjeist for retrospective rated refunds based on tim&® of incurred claims. Premium rates
for certain lines of business are subject to apgrby the Department of Insurance of each respestiate.

Administrative fees include revenue from certaiougr contracts that provide for the group to besitfor all, or with supplemental
insurance arrangements, a portion of their clairpggence. The Company charges
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1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accouimg Policies (continued)

these self-funded groups an administrative feeckis based on the number of members in a grotipeogroup’s claim experience. In
addition, administrative fees include amounts nesetifor the administration of Medicare or certaihes government programs. Under the
Company’s self-funded arrangements, revenue igrézed as administrative services are performeldbériefit payments under these
programs are excluded from benefit expense.

Other revenue principally includes amounts fromlroeder prescription drug sales, which are recogghias revenue when the Company
ships prescription drug orders.

Federal Income Taxes: Anthem and the majority of its subsidiaries fl consolidated income tax return. Deferred inctar@ssets
and liabilities are recognized for the differenbesween the financial and income tax reporting baseassets and liabilities based on enacted
tax rates and laws. The deferred income tax expanisenefit generally represents the net changeferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year. The current income tax expenseesgnts the tax consequences of revenues and expamently taxable or deductible on
various income tax returns for the year reported.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company has a plan that provides for stiaded compensation, including stock options, metti
stock awards and an employee stock purchase piack Sptions are granted for a fixed number of ehavith an exercise price at least equ
the fair value of the shares at the date of thatgRestricted stock awards are issued at thevédire of the stock on the grant date. The
employee stock purchase plan allows for a purchese per share which is 85% of the lower of tHeyalue of a share of common stock or
the first trading day of the plan quarter, or tfii¢ last trading day of the plan quarter. The Camgeccounts for stock-based compensation
using the intrinsic method under Accounting PritespBoard Opinion No. 2%ccounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd, accordingly,
recognizes no compensation expense related to sfiimns and employee stock purchases. For gramésticted stock, other than those
awarded under long term incentive agreements, nedasompensation equivalent to the fair value efghares at the date of grant is recorded
as a separate component of shareholagygity and subsequently amortized to compensatiparese over the vesting period. The Compan
adopted the disclosure-only provisions of FAS 3amended by FAS 148¢counting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transéiwth
Disclosure.

Earnings Per Share: Earnings per share amounts, on a basic anttdihasis, have been calculated based upon thétedigverage
common shares outstanding for the period aftedéte of the demutualization and initial public oiffig.

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution andnspaited by dividing income available to common shatders by the weightealrerage
number of common shares outstanding for the pebddted earnings per share includes the dilutiffect of stock options, restricted stock
purchase contracts included in Equity Security §Jnising the treasury stock method. The treasogkshethod assumes exercise of stock
options, vesting of restricted stock and conversibstock purchase rights under purchase contiaclisded in Equity Security Units, with the
assumed proceeds used to purchase common stdukatdrage market price for the period. The diffeecbetween the number of shares
assumed issued and number of shares assumed mdckpsesents the dilutive shares. Under long becentive plans, when cumulative net
income, as defined, meets or exceeds thresholdttargpntingently issuable shares are dilutiveatoiegs per share.

Reclassifications: Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiehform to the current year presentation.
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2. Business Combinations and Divestitures
2003
Pending Transaction with WellPoint Health NetworKac.

On October 27, 2003, Anthem and WellPoint Healtimdeks Inc. (“WellPoint”) announced that they emtlinto a definitive agreement
and plan of merger (“Merger Agreement”) pursuanvtioch WellPoint will merge into a wholly-owned sibiary of Anthem. WellPoint offers
a broad spectrum of network-based managed cars filesugh its subsidiaries operating under theetremmes of Blue Cross of California,
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Georgia, Blue Cross Bield of Missouri, Blue Cross Blue Shield Unitdd/isconsin, HealthLink and
UNICARE. WellPoints managed care plans include preferred providemizgtions, health maintenance organizations aimt pbservice ani
other hybrid plans and traditional indemnity plaimsaddition, WellPoint offers managed care sermsjigecluding underwriting, actuarial
services, network access, medical management aimdscprocessing. WellPoint also provides a broaalyasf specialty and other products,
including pharmacy benefits management, dentabwijdife insurance, preventive care, disabilitgunance, behavioral health, COBRA and
flexible benefits account administration. Under kherger Agreement, WellPoint’s stockholders wikeé/e consideration of twenty-three
dollars and eighty cents in cash and one sharentifedn common stock for each WellPoint share oudétgn The value of the transaction was
estimated to be approximately $16,400.0 based®xltsing price of Anthem’s common stock on the Néwk Stock Exchange on October
24, 2003. The transaction is expected to close iby2004, subject to, among other things, regulatorg shareholder approvals.

Disapproved Acquisition of Blue Cross and Blue Shief Kansas

On May 31, 2001, Anthem Insurance and Blue CrodsBine Shield of Kansa“BCBS-KS”) announced they had signed a definii
agreement pursuant to which BCBS-KS would becomeally-owned subsidiary of Anthem Insurance. Onteeby 11, 2002, the Kansas
Insurance Commissioner (“Commissioner”) disapproWedproposed transaction, which had been prewiapmroved by the BCBS-KS
policyholders in January 2002. The Company join@BB-KS in an appeal of the Commissioner’s decisidrich was filed with the Shawnee
County District Court (“District Court”) on March, 2002. On June 7, 2002, the District Court ruletaivor of Anthem and BCBS-KS,
vacating the Commissioner’s decision and remanttiagnatter to the Commissioner for further procegslinot inconsistent with the District
Court’s order. On June 10, 2002, the Commissioppealed the District Court’s ruling to the Kansapi®@me Court (“Supreme Court”). On
August 6, 2003, the Supreme Court overturned tiséribi Court’s ruling and reinstated the Commissits 2002 disapproval of the proposed
transaction. The Company and BCBS-KS decided napfeeal this decision and the definitive agreemexs terminated.

2002

Acquisition of Trigon Healthcare, Inc

On July 31, 2002, Anthem completed its purchasE)0f6 of the outstanding stock of Trigon Healthcére, (“Trigon”), in accordance
with an agreement and plan of merger announced 29r2002. Trigon was Virginig'largest health care company and was the Blues@ur
Blue Shield licensee in Virginia, excluding the imdiate suburbs of Washington, D.C. With the actjoisi the Company formed the Southe
segment.

Trigon’s shareholders each received consideratidhirdy dollars in cash and 1.062 shares of Antlmmon stock for each Trigon
share outstanding. The purchase price was $4,@38l Included cash of $1,104.3, the issuance of73888 shares of Anthem common stock,
valued at $2,708.1, Trigon stock options
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converted into Anthem stock options for 3,866, 7farss, valued at $195.5 and $30.2 of transactists cOn July 31, 2002, the Company
issued $950.0 of long term senior unsecured nokéshwvere used, along with the sale of investmentsties and available cash, to fund the
cash portion of the purchase price.

In accordance with FAS 141 Anthem allocated thelpase price to the fair value of assets acquirddiahilities assumed, including
identifiable intangible assets. The excess of paselprice over the fair value of net assets actjuésulted in $2,146.1 of non-tax deductible
goodwill. The initial goodwill recorded in 2002 wesduced by $20.5 for purchase price allocationstdjents.

The estimated fair values of Trigon assets acquiretlliabilities assumed at the date of acquisiiesummarized as follows:

Current assel $1,958.:
Goodwill 2,146.;
Other intangible asse 1,172.°
Other noncurrent asse 208.¢
Total assets acquire 5,486.(
Current liabilities 904.2
Noncurrent liabilities 543.7
Total liabilities assume 1,447 .¢
Net assets acquire $4,038.:

Of the $1,172.7 of acquired intangible assets, $7@&s assigned to Blue Cross and Blue Shield tnades, which are not subject to
amortization due to their indefinite life. The reimiag acquired intangible assets consist of $468 Subscriber base with a weighted-average
life of 23 years, $8.4 of provider and hospitawatks with a 20 year life, and $4.2 of non-compaiecements with a 26 month life.

The results of operations for Trigon are includednthem’s consolidated income statement aftectmpletion of the acquisition on
July 31, 2002.

The following unaudited pro forma summary preseet®nues, net income and per share data of Antldfittee Trigon acquisition had
occurred on January 1, 2001. The pro forma findmtiarmation is presented for informational purpe®nly and may not be indicative of the
results of operations had Trigon been owned by émtffor the full years ended December 31, 2002 &3d 2nor is it necessarily indicative of
future results of operations. The pro forma infotioraincludes the results of operations for Trigonthe periods prior to the acquisition,
adjusted for interest expense on long term debteddced investment income related to the castiraedtment securities used to fund the
acquisition, additional amortization and depreoiatissociated with the purchase and the relatednadax effects.

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001
Revenue: $ 15,254.! $ 13,446..
Net income 592.( 377.7
Pro forma earnings per sha
Basic $ 4.1¢ $ 2.65
Diluted 4.07 N/A
Pro forma shares outstandir
Basic 141,517,00 142,267,00
Diluted 145,392,00 N/A
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The diluted pro forma earnings per share for the y@ded December 31, 2001 were not calculateddsanounts would not be
meaningful as no stock or dilutive securities eedgprior to November 2, 2001, the effective datthefdemutualization. The pro forma basic
earnings per share for the year ended Decemb@081, were calculated using the weighted-averagesstmutstanding for the period from
November 2, 2001 to December 31, 2C
Other

During 2002, the Company completed two other adtpis and made an additional contingent purchaise payment on a 1999
acquisition as follows:

* PRO Behavioral Health, a Denver, Color-based behavioral health care comps
» Remaining 50% ownership interest in Maine Parthialth Plan, Inc.; and
» Matthew Thornton Health Plan, Inc. contingent pasdhprice payment.

The aggregate purchase price for these transaatian$22.1. Goodwill recognized in these transasteomounted to $14.1 of which $9.4
was deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill was assigto the East and Specialty segments in the aimofi$10.7 and $3.4, respectively. The
pro forma effects of the acquisitions on resultspieriods prior to the purchase dates are not fmahterthe Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

2001
Divestitures

On May 31, 2001, Anthem Insurance and its subsidiathem Alliance Health Insurance Compa*“Alliance”), sold the TRICARE
operations of Alliance to a subsidiary of Humame, for $45.0. The transaction, which closed on &y2001, resulted in a pretax gain on
sale of subsidiary operations of $25.0, net ofrsglexpenses.

3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
A summary of the change in the carrying amountaafdyvill by reportable segment (see Note 18) for80d 2002 is as follow

Midwest
East West Southeast Specialty Total
Balance as of January 1, 2C $133.€ $121.f $74¢ $ — $ 81 $ 338.1
Goodwill acquirec — 10.7 — 2,166.¢ 3.4 2,180.°
Adjustments — (7.0 (13.9) (11.2) (0.9 (32.9
Goodwill related to divestiture — — — — (1.7 (1.2
Balance as of December 31, 2( 133.¢ 125.2 61.1 2,155.. 9.6 2,484.¢
Goodwill acquirec — 3.C — — — 3.C
Adjustments — (0.2) (0.8 (36.9) — (37.¢)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $133.€ $128.1 $60.& $2,118! $ 9.6 $2,450.
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3.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (contined)

Goodwill adjustments for 2003 of $36.9 for the $mast segment include a $16.4 tax benefit assdoidth the exercise of stock options
issued as part of the Trigon acquisition and $&r.purchase accounting adjustments. AdjustmemtthioWest segment of $0.8 were for
purchase accounting adjustments resulting fromrateRevenue Service refunds for pre-acquisitiornytsars. During 2002, goodwill relating
to previous acquisitions was reduced $18.0 foptheacquisition adjustment of deferred tax assets Note 12) and $3.6 for the
postacquisition adjustment of other liabilitiesaddished in purchase accounting. Further, goodwal also adjusted in 2002 by $11.2 for the
tax benefit that resulted from the exercise oflstmgtions issued as part of the Trigon acquisition.

The components of other intangible assets as oémber 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets with finite live
Subscriber bas $ 519.¢ $ (96.6 $ 423.: $ 519.¢ $ (55.9 $ 464.¢
Provider and hospital networ 33.¢ (10.5) 23.c 33.¢ (7.€) 26.8
Other 15.1 (8.6) 6.5 15.1 (5.9 9.8
568.¢ (115.7) 453.1 568.¢ (68.1) 500.7
Intangible assets with indefinite lif
Blue Cross and Blue Shield tradema 773.¢ — 773.¢ 773.¢ — 773.¢

$1,342.7 $ (115.%) $1,227.( $1,342.° $ (68.]) $1,274.¢

As required by FAS 142, the Company completedritaial impairment test of existing goodwill and atheangible assets with
indefinite lives during the fourth quarter of 2003is test involved the use of estimates relatatiedair value of the business with which the
goodwill and other intangible assets with indegrlives is allocated. There were no impairmentdesecorded during 2003. In addition, for
year ended December 31, 2002, the Company comptstensitional impairment test during the secquodrter of 2002 and its annt
impairment test during the fourth quarter of 200Rere were no impairment losses recorded in 2002.
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With the adoption of FAS 142 on January 1, 2002,Gompany ceased amortization of goodwill. Thenigtiale asset established for B
Cross and Blue Shield trademarks is deemed to &avwedefinite life and beginning January 1, 200@adonger amortized. Net income and
earnings per share on a comparable basis as iflA2%ad been adopted January 1, 2001 are as follows

Year ended December 3

2003 2002 2001
Reported net incomr $774.5 $549.1  $342.:
Amortization of goodwill (net of tax — — 13.1
Amortization of Blue Cross and Blue Shield tradeksgnet of tax — — 2.C
Net income adjusted for FAS 1. $774.: $549.1  $357.C
Basic earnings per shal
As reported and pro forn $56( $461 $3.31
Amortization of goodwill (net of tax — — A2
Amortization of Blue Cross and Blue Shield tradeksar
(net of tax) — — .03
Basic earnings per share adjusted for FAS $560C $461 $ 3.4¢
Diluted earnings per shat
As reported and pro formn $54 $451 $ 3.3C
Amortization of goodwill (net of tax — — A2
Amortization of Blue Cross and Blue Shield tradeksar
(net of tax) — — .02
Diluted earnings per share adjusted for FAS $545 $451 $ 3.4

Aggregate amortization expense for definitive-limthngible assets for 2003, 2002 and 2001 was$s$430.2 and $31.5, respectively.
As of December 31, 2003, estimated amortizatioreegp for each of the five years ending Decembeis3s follows: 2004, $44.3; 2005,
$39.6; 2006, $37.1; 2007, $34.8; and 2008, $32.7.

4. Investments
A summary of availab-for-sale investments is as follow

Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair
Cost Gains (Losses) Value
December 31, 200
Fixed maturity securities
United States Government securit $1,243.¢ $ 281 $ (2.0 $1,270.
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 13.2 0.2 — 13t
Corporate securitie 2,955.: 127.( (5.0 3,077.:
Mortgage-backed securitie 2,319. 47 L (6.€) 2,360.:
Total fixed maturity securitie 6,531.° 203.4 (13.6) 6,721.!
Equity securitie—indexed mutual fund 167.t 26.2 — 193.7

$6,699.: $ 229.¢ $ (13.€) $6,915.
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Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair
Cost Gains (Losses) Value
December 31, 200
Fixed maturity securitie:
United States Government securil $ 991.1 $ 48.¢ $ — $1,039.¢
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 2.2 0.4 (0.7 2.t
Corporate securitie 2,183.; 120.t (7.€) 2,296.:
Mortgage-backed securitie 2,375.( 84.C (0.7 2,458.¢
Total fixed maturity securitie 5,5651.! 253.7 (7.8 5,797..
Equity securitie—indexed mutual fund 189.: — (38.¢) 150.7

$5,740.¢ $ 253.7 $ (46.4) $5,948.

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed matusiegurities at December 31, 2003, by contractuélinty, are shown below. Expected
maturities may be less than contractual maturitexzsause the issuers of the securities may hawigtiteto prepay obligations without
prepayment penalties.

Amortized Fair

Cost Value
Due in one year or let $ 1982 $ 199.1
Due after one year through five ye. 1,869.: 1,914
Due after five years through ten ye 1,659.° 1,735.:
Due after ten yeal 485.: 512.¢
4,212 4,361.
Mortgage-backed securitie 2,319.. 2,360.:

$6,531.° $6,721.¢

The major categories of net investment income arfelipws:

2003 2002 2001
Fixed maturity securitie $274.5  $255.2  $220.f
Equity securitie: 3.7 3.€ 6.4
Cash, cash equivalents and ot 6.€ 7.C 15.7
Investment revenu 284.¢ 265.¢ 242.¢
Investment expens (6.7) (5.7 (4.0
Net investment incom $278.1  $260.7  $238.¢

Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity and equitusées during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $4,11%4(535.9 and $3,488.8,
respectively. Gross gains of $60.4, $72.7 and $léAd gross losses of $18.2, $39.2 and $74.6 watized on those sales in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

The Company recorded charges for other-than-termpargairment of securities of $24.4, $3.1 and $28spectively, for 2003, 2002
and 2001. Charges for other-than-temporary impaitroésecurities are reported with net realizedhgdiosses) on investments.
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A summary of investments with unrealized lossesfddecember 31, 2003 along with the related falueaaggregated by the length of
time that investments have been in a continuousalized loss position, is as follows:

Less than Twelve Twelve Months or
Months More Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Fixed maturity securities
United States Government securit $ 172. $ 1.8 $ 3.€ $ 0.2 $ 176.C $ 2C
Obligations of states and politic —
subdivisions — — — — —
Corporate securitie —
404.1 5.C — 404.] 5.C
Mortgage-backed securities —
562.¢ 6.6 — 562.¢ 6.€
Total fixed maturity securitie 1,139. 13.4 3.€ 0.2 1,143.( 13.€
Equity securities—indexed mutual funds —
Total $1,139.¢ $ 134 $ 3.6 $ 0.2 $1,143.( $ 13.€

The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolosiensitive to interest rate fluctuations, whiclpaet the fair value of individual
securities. All unrealized losses reported abovieewgenerally caused by the effect of a rising ederate environment on certain securities'
stated interest rates currently below market ratee. Company has the ability and intent to holdéhgecurities until their full cost can be
recovered. Therefore, the Company does not betlevenrealized losses represent an other-than-tempionpairment as of December 31,
2003.

5. Long Term Debt and Commitments
At December 31 the carrying value of l-term debt consists of the followin

2003 2002
Surplus notes at 9.125% due 2( $ 296.7 $ 296.:
Surplus notes at 9.000% due 2( 197.¢ 197.c
Senior guaranteed notes at 6.750% due : — 99.¢
Debentures included in Equity Security Units ab8% due 200! 2242 222.2
Senior unsecured notes at 6.800% due : 790.% 789.¢
Senior unsecured notes at 4.875% due : 149.¢ 149.1
Other 4.7 5.0
Long term deb 1,663.: 1,759.¢
Current portion of long term de (0.9 (100.2)
Long term debt, less current porti $1,662.¢ $1,659.¢

Surplus notes ($300.0 of 9.125% notes due 201(%260d.0 of 9.000% notes due 2027) are unsecuredatinns of Anthem Insurance
and are subordinate in right of payment to all attfem Insurance’s existing
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5. Long Term Debt and Commitments (continued)

and future indebtedness. Any payment of interegtioicipal on the surplus notes may be made onllg thie prior approval of the Indiana
Department of Insurance (“IDOI”), and only out @fpital and surplus funds of Anthem Insurance thatDOI determines to be available for
the payment under Indiana insurance laws.

On July 15, 2003, $100.0 of 6.750% senior guarantetes of Anthem Insurance matured and were répafhthem Insurance.

Debentures included in Equity Security Units arbgatiions of Anthem and are unsecured and subaetina right of payment to all of
Anthem'’s existing and future senior indebtednesshEEquity Security Unit contains a purchase cahwader which the holder agrees to
purchase, for fifty dollars, shares of Anthem commstock on November 15, 2004, and a 5.95% subdedindebenture. In addition, Anthem
will pay quarterly contract fee payments on thechase contracts at the annual rate of 0.05% dftdted amount of fifty dollars per purchase
contract, subject to Anthem'’s rights to defer theagments. The applicable interest rate on therttabes outstanding on and after August 15,
2004 will be reset on the third business day priecedugust 15, 2004, effective for interest accréredn August 15, 2004 to November 15,
2006. The reset rate will be the interest ratehendebentures determined by the reset agent toffi@ent to cause the then current aggregate
market value of all then outstanding debenturdsetequal to 100.5% of the re-marketing value. Tétgedtures will mature on November 15,
2006.

On July 31, 2002, Anthem issued $950.0 of long-teemior unsecured notes ($800.0 of 6.800% note2@di2 and $150.0 of 4.875%
notes due 2005). The net proceeds of $938.5 frenmdite offerings were used to pay a portion ofcéh consideration and expenses
associated with Anthem’s acquisition of Trigon.

On July 1, 2003, Anthem renewed its $600.0 revgharedit facility with its lender group, which naxpires June 29, 2004. Any
amounts outstanding under this facility at June22®4 (except amounts that bear interest ratesrdieted by a competitive bidding process)
convert to a one-year term loan at Anthem’s opthamthem’s $400.0 revolving credit facility, which expire®¥ember 5, 2006, continues to
effective. The Company can select from three opgtion borrowing under both facilities. The firsttmm is a floating rate equal to the greate
the prime rate or the federal funds rate plus calégercent. The second option is a floating rafga¢ to LIBOR plus a margin determined by
reference to the ratings of Anthem'’s senior, unsstdebt. The third option, is a competitive bidgess, under which borrowings may bear
interest at floating rates determined by referandd BOR, or at fixed rates. Anthem’s ability tobow under these credit facilities is subject to
compliance with certain covenants. There were mooldngs under any of these facilities during tleass ended December 31, 2003 or 2002.

On December 18, 2002, Anthem filed a shelf redistnawith the Securities and Exchange Commissioretister any combination of
debt or equity securities in one or more offerinpgo an aggregate amount of $1,000.0. Specifariméation regarding terms of the offering
and the securities being offered will be providetha time of the offering. Proceeds from any affgiwill be used for general corporate
purposes, including the repayment of debt, investmim or extensions of credit to Anthem’s subsid®or the financing of possible
acquisitions or business expansion.

On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors autledrmanagement to establish a $1,000.0 commemgi@rprogram. Proceeds from
any future issuance of commercial paper may be fagegeneral corporate purposes, including the remse of debt and common stock of the
Company. There were no borrowings under this cornig@epaper program during the year ended Decembe2(®)3.
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Anthem will have cash requirements of approxima$dy900.0 for the pending transaction with WellRgimcluding both the cash porti
of the purchase price and estimated transactiais.ddsring October 2003, Anthem obtained a comnmitnfier a bridge loan of up to $3,000.0.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2003, Anthem h&@86&4 of cash and investments and access to $0,808evolving credit facilities, as
discussed above. All indebtedness under the biaigemust be repaid in full no later than March 2005. Subsequent to December 31, 2003,
the Company entered into forward starting pay fikedging transactions with a notional amount of380These hedges are being used to
eliminate the uncertainty related to future intepes/ments on the expected issuance of debt sesuidt partially fund the cash portion of the
WellPoint transaction, which is expected to clasenid-2004. The hedge transactions had no impath@®ompany’s financial position or
results of operations at inception.

Interest paid during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $137.4.1 and $57.4, respectively.
Future maturities of debt are as follows: 20044$2005, $150.9; 2006, $224.9; 2007, $0.7; 2008 $ad thereafter $1,285.4.

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Considerable judgment is required to develop estémaf fair value for financial instruments. Accimgly, the estimates shown are not
necessarily indicative of the amounts that woulddzdized in a one time, current market exchangdlaf the financial instruments.

The carrying values and estimated fair values ghaefinancial instruments at December 31 areolie\s:

2003 2002

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Value Value Value Value
Fixed maturity securitie $6,721.f  $6,721f  $5,797.¢  $5,797.
Equity securitie: 193.7 193.7 150.7 150.7
Restricted investmen 56.¢ 56.¢ 48.4 48.L

Long term debt

Equity Security Unite 224.% 405.¢ 222.2 357.%
Other 1,438.¢ 1,724.! 1,537.¢ 1,727.1

The carrying value of all other financial instrunteapproximates fair value because of the relatighbrt period of time between the
origination of the instruments and their expectalization. Fair values for securities, restridgtetestments and Equity Security Units are bi
on quoted market prices, where available. For $esinot actively traded, fair values are estirdatsing values obtained from independent
pricing services. The fair value of other debtasdxd on quoted market prices for the same or giolat or, if no quoted market prices were
available, on the current rates estimated to b#adla to the Company for debt of similar terms aechaining maturities.
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7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment at December 31 is as foll

2003 2002
Land and improvemen $ 34.: $ 344
Building and component 357.€ 347.2
Data processing equipment, furniture and othergqgant 408.< 378.¢
Computer software, purchased and internally dewssl 272.¢ 262.2
Leasehold improvemen 47.F 46.€

1,120.¢ 1,069.:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (609.9) (531.9

$ 510. $ 537.

Property and equipment includes noncancelablealdpéses of $7.3 and $7.4 at December 31, 2002@0®, respectively. Total
accumulated amortization on these leases at Deae3hb2003 and 2002 was $4.6 and $4.3, respectiVbly related lease amortization
expense is included in depreciation and amortinagikpense. Depreciation and leasehold improvenreattazation expense for 2003, 2002 .
2001 was $127.8, $108.1 and $89.6, respectivelgitéleed costs related to the internal developnoésbftware of $117.2 and $116.4 at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, are tegharith computer software.

8. Unpaid Life, Accident and Health Claims
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending bakstor unpaid life, accident and heeclaims is as follows

2003 2002 2001
Balances at January 1, net of reinsure $ 1,821 $1,352.7  $1,382.:
Business purchases, divestitures and purchasetiaejots (20.6) 379.¢ (139.)
Incurred related tc

Current yea 12,462. 9,965.! 7,843.:

Prior years (226.) (150.%) (96.9)
Total incurrec 12,236.: 9,814.¢ 7,746."
Paid related tc

Current yea 10,685.. 8,396.¢ 6,521.t

Prior years 1,495.( 1,328.¢ 1,115.f
Total paid 12,180.: 9,725.1 7,637.(
Balances at December 31, net of reinsur: 1,856.¢ 1,821.: 1,352.°
Reinsurance recoverables at Decembe 10.4 4.8 7.6
Reserve gross of reinsurance recoverables on uofzaims a

December 3: $ 1,866.6 $1,826.( $1,360.:

Amounts incurred related to prior years vary frorayiously estimated liabilities as the claims atenately settled. Liabilities at any ye
end are continually reviewed and re-estimated fasrimation regarding actual claims payments becdmesvn. This information is compared
to the originally established year end liabilityedative amounts reported for incurred related itor yrears result from claims being settled for
amounts less than originally estimated. This exgree is primarily attributable to actual medicadtoexperience more favorable than that
assumed at the time the liability was established.
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9. Reinsurance

The Company reinsures certain of its risks witreottompanies and assumes risk from other compangsuch reinsurance is accour
for as a transfer of risk. The Company is contirilyeliable for amounts recoverable from the reirsun the event that it does not meet its
contractual obligations.

The Company evaluates the financial condition ®féinsurers and monitors concentrations of créskitarising from similar geographic
regions, activities, or economic characteristicthefreinsurers to minimize its exposure to sigatfit losses from reinsurer insolvencies.

The details of net premiums written and earnedHeryears ended December 31 are as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Written Earned Written Earned Written Earned

Consolidated

Direct $15,272.: $15,188." $12,005.¢ $11,959.¢ $9,325.° $9,285.¢
Assumec 4.4 4.€ 1.1 1.1 1.6 1.7
Ceded (23.0 (23.0) (18.9) (29.9) (42.5) (42.9)
Net premiums $15,253." $15,170.; $11,988." $11,941.( $9,284.¢ $9,244.¢
Reportable segment

Midwest $ 6,315.¢ $ 6,351.¢ $ 5,756. $ 5,707.¢ $4,814.: $4,774.:
East 4,313.¢ 4,281.¢ 3,933.¢ 3,927.: 3,462." 3,462.!
West 972.7 967.¢ 853.¢ 853.C 716.1 716.1
Southeas 3,492.F 3,469.¢ 1,341.: 1,349.¢ — —
Specialty 171.¢ 112.F 103.2 103.Z 94.¢ 94.¢
Other (23.0 (13.0 0.2 0.2 197.1 197.1
Net premiums $15,253." $15,170.: $11,988." $11,941.( $9,284.¢  $9,244.¢

The effect of reinsurance on benefit expense ferytars ended December 31 is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Assume—increase in benefit expen $10¢ $67 $6.2
Ceder—decrease in benefit exper 33.¢ 27.4 38.C

The effect of reinsurance on certain assets abditias at December 31 is as follows:

2003 2002
Policy liabilities assume $18.1  $37.t
Unearned premiums assurr 0.€ 0.8
Premiums payable ced 3.7 6.4
Premiums receivable assun 0.2 0.2
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10. Capital Stock
Stock Incentive Plan:

The Compan’s 2001 Stock Incentive Pla“ Stock Pla”) provides for the granting of stock options, reséticstock awards, performan
stock awards, performance awards and stock apficecigghts to eligible employees and non-emplogigectors. The Stock Plan permits the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directomtke grants in such amounts and at such timesrasyidetermine.

On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors apptpaad on May 12, 2003 the shareholders approvedndments to the Stock Plan
including the following: (i) increase the numbersbfares of common stock available for distributioder the plan from 7,000,000 to
20,000,000; (ii) authorize the grant of sharesestnicted and unrestricted common stock in liethefCompany’s obligations to pay cash under
other plans and compensatory arrangements, ingutisnCompany’s Annual Incentive Plan and Long Tharaentive Plan; and (iii) certain
other changes necessary in order for the StocktBlaamply with the requirements of Section 162 ¢hfhe Internal Revenue Code.

In accordance with the Plan, options to purchaseeshof common stock at an amount equal to therfaiket value of the stock at the
date of grant were granted to eligible employeeasraon-employee directors during 2003, 2002 and 20ptions vest and expire over terms as
set by the Compensation Committee at the time arfitgiThese options generally vest at the end ofomtbree years and expire 10 years from
the grant date.

In connection with the acquisition of Trigon, Anthe@ssumed the Trigon 1997 Stock Incentive Plantila@drigon 1997 Non-Employee
Directors Stock Incentive Plan, which collectivelpvided for the granting of stock options to enygles and non-employee directors. Trigon
stock options were converted to Anthem stock ogtiétursuant to this registration, no additionalas may be granted under the converted
Trigon plans. The converted stock options werenae at the acquisition date as additional paichipital and valued at $195.5 using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with weighted-averagsumptions as follows:

Risk-free interest rat 4.9%
Volatility factor 42.0(%
Dividend yield —
Weightec-average expected li 7 year

99



Table of Contents
ANTHEM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)
10. Capital Stock (continued)

A summary of the stock option activity for the yganded December 31 is as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Exercise

Options Price

Balance at January 1, 20 — $ —
Granted 1,479,001 36.0(
Forfeited (20,369 36.0(
Balance at December 31, 20 1,458,63; 36.0(
Granted 1,579,97 71.8(
Conversion of Trigon optior 3,866,77! 30.8¢
Exercisec (877,959 27.3¢
Forfeited (162,67 38.5:¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 5,864,73 43.4¢
Granted 1,809,75! 71.61
Exercisec (1,392,47) 27.7(
Forfeited (169,439 54.21
Balance at December 31, 2C 6,112,57 $ 55.11
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 36 $ 36.0(
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 2,992,89 31.9(
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 3,330,611 41.2

Information about stock options outstanding and&gable as of December 31, 2003 is summarized!as\s:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$14.58- $36.00 1,750,07! 6.5€ $29.27 1,750,07! $29.27
37.44- 68.89 1,132,93I 7.37 47.5¢ 1,094,92 46.9¢

70.40- 71.70 1,757,59I 9.3€ 71.7( — —
71.86- 77.15 1,471,97 8.34 71.8i 485,60¢ 71.8¢

During the year ended December 31, 2003, pursoahetStock Plan, the Company granted 21,713 slo&restricted stock and stock,
including 16,849 restricted shares to Anthem Saghemployees under former Trigon long-term incenéigreements and 4,864 shares to non
employee directors. The shares were issued aathedlue of the stock on the grant date. The 1% @4tricted shares vest over periods defined
by the former Trigon long-term incentive agreements

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Coyngieamted 95,300 shares of the Company’s commark st® restricted stock
awards to certain eligible executives. These shailesest as follows: (i) 1,700 will vest on tharier of, December 31, 2005, if certain
performance measures are attained, or July 1, 20@¥(ii) the remaining 93,600 will vest equally Dacember 31, 2004 and 2005. During the
year ended December 31, 2002, the Company grar@d 2hares to n-employee directors.
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10. Capital Stock (continued)

For grants of restricted stock, other than thosarded under long-term incentive agreements, undarompensation equivalent to the
fair market value of the shares at the date oftgearecorded as a separate component of sharekoédpiity and subsequently amortized to
compensation expense over the vesting period. Cosapien expense totaling $2.2 and $1.5 was recedritar 2003 and 2002, respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, there were 15,361,907esharcommon stock available for future grants urnlde Stock Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has registered 3,000,000 shares of constock for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan ¢iSRurchase Plan”) which is
intended to provide a means to encourage and assgbyees in acquiring a stock ownership intereginthem. The Stock Purchase Plan was
initiated in June 2002 and any employee that nthetgligibility requirements, as defined, may papate. No employee will be permitted to
purchase more than $25,000 (actual dollars) wdrttazk in any calendar year, based on the faiketaralue of the stock at the beginning of
each plan quarter. Employees become participan&ddaying payroll deductions from 1% to 15% of graempensation. Payroll deductions
accumulated during each plan quarter and appliwdrbthe purchase of stock on the last tradingadaach plan quarter. Once purchased, the
stock is accumulated in the employee’s investmeabant. The purchase price per share is 85% dbther of the fair market value of a share
of common stock on either the first or last traditay of the plan quarter. Employee purchases uhéeBtock Purchase Plan were $18.4 and
$6.9, respectively, for 2003 and 2002. Shares 4f62F and 135,593 were issued to employees dufig and 2002, respectively. As of
December 31, 2003, payroll deductions of $1.4 Hmeen accumulated toward purchases for the plareqending February 29, 2004. As of
December 31, 2003, there were 2,519,780 sharesnoinon stock available for issuance under the SRackhase Plan.

Pro Forma Disclosure

The pro forma information regarding net income aathings per share has been determined as if thp&uy accounted for its stock-
based compensation using the fair value methodfdihgalue for the stock options was estimatethatdate of grant using a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-erage assumptions:

2003 2002 2001
Risk-free interest rat 2.6(% 4.1€% 4.9%
Volatility factor 46.0(% 45.0(% 42.0(%
Dividend yield — — —
Weightec-average expected li 4.3 year 4.0 year 4.0 year

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was devetbfme use in estimating the fair value of tradetiaps that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofitygsubjective assumptions including the
expected stock price volatility. Because the Corgjgastock option grants have characteristics sigaiftly different from those of traded
options, and because changes in the subjectivé agsumptions can materially affect the fair vadamate, in managemestpinion, existiny
models do not necessarily provide a reliable singgasure of the fair value of its stock option ¢ggan
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10. Capital Stock (continued)
For purposes of pro forma disclosures, compensatipense is increased for the estimated fair valltlee options amortized over the

options’ vesting periods and for the differencenmatn the market price of the stock and discountedhase price of the shares on the purchase
date for the employee stock purchases. The Compamg’'forma information is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Reported net incomr $774.5 $549.1  $342.:
Add: Stockbased employee compensation expense for reststaell and stock awar
included in reported net income (net of t 1.7 1.C —
Less: Total stoc-based employee compensation expense determined fairdealue
based method for all awards (net of t (24.6) (24.7) (2.2
Pro forma net incom $751.2  $536.C $341.1
2003 2002 2001
As As As
Reported Pro Reported Pro Reported Pro
Forma Forma Forma
Earnings per shar
Basic net incom $ 560 $54: $ 461 $45C $ 331 $3.3C
Diluted net income 5.4t 5.2¢ 4.51 4.4z 3.3C 3.3C
Basic and diluted net income af
demutualization and initial public offerir — — — — 0.54 0.5:
Weightedaverage fair value of options granted dul
the yeal — 28.7¢ — 28.1¢ — 14.1%
Weighted-average fair value of employee stock
purchases during the ye — 15.5¢ — 15.2¢ — —
Weightec-average fair value of restricted stock
stock awards granted during the y — 66.9: — 62.57 — —

Stock Repurchase Program

On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors autledrthe repurchase of up to $500.0 of stock ungeogram that will expire il
February 2005. Under the program, repurchases mayaoe from time to time at prevailing prices, sab}o certain restrictions on volume,
pricing and timing. During 2003, the Company rejaised and retired 3,390,800 shares, at an aveeaghgre price of $64.06, for an
aggregate cost of $217.2. The excess of cost akfhwerchased shares over par value is chargeomrata basis to additional paid in capital
and retained earnings. Under this program, an iadadit$282.8 remains authorized for future repuselsaUnder a previously completed stock
repurchase program, the Company repurchased dretlré{121,392 shares at a cost of $256.2 duriayyéar ended December 31, 2002.

Shares Issued for the Trigon Acquisition

Effective July 31, 2002, as patrtial considerationthe purchase of Trigon, the Company issued 1sb@2es of Anthem common stock
each Trigon share outstanding, resulting in add#éi@utstanding shares of 38,971,908. The $2,7a#.alue of the common shares issued
was determined based on the average closing prikathem’s common stock for the five trading dagaging from two days before to two

days after the terms of the acquisition were agteexhd announced. Offering costs of $4.1 redukedygregate fair value and $2,704.0 was
recorded as par value of common stock and addltjmaid in capital.
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10. Capital Stock (continued)

Initial Public Offering and Equity Security Units

On November 2, 2001, Anthem completed an initiddljpuoffering of 55,200,000 shares of common statlan initial public offering
price of $36.00 per share. The shares issued imitied public offering were in addition to 48,0855 shares of common stock (which was
adjusted slightly as distribution issues were firead) distributed to eligible statutory membershia demutualization. In addition, on November
2, 2001, Anthem issued 4,600,000 of 6.00% EquituBty Units. Each Equity Security Unit containpachase contract under which the
holder agrees to purchase, for fifty dollars, shareAnthem common stock on November 15, 2004. Aumber of shares to be purchased will
be determined based on the average trading pridatbem common stock at the time of settlement.

After underwriting discount and other offering aseimutualization expenses, net proceeds from themmmstock offering were
approximately $1,862.8. After underwriting discoantd expenses, net proceeds from the Equity Sgdumits offering were approximately
$219.8. In December 2001, proceeds from the conmstawk and Equity Security Units offerings in thecamt of $2,063.6 were used to fund
payments to eligible statutory members of Anthesutance who received cash instead of common stoitleidemutualization.

11. Earnings Per Share

The denominator for basic and diluted earningsspare for 2003, 2002 and for the period from Noveng) 2001 (date ¢
demutualization and initial public offering) thrdu@ecember 31, 2001 is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Denominator for basic earnings per s—weightecaverage share 138,260,65 118,988,09 103,295,67
Effect of dilutive securities
Employee and director stock options and non vessulicted
stock award: 1,217,14. 1,280,64! 313,39°
Shares to be contingently issued under long teoanitive plar 635,84 — —
Incremental shares from conversion of Equity Séglhit
purchase contrac 1,906,61! 1,529,51! 212,76t
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 142,020,25 121,798,25 103,821,83

Weightedaverage shares used for basic earnings per sltames that shares distributed to eligible statutoeynbers as consideratior
the demutualization were issued on the effective dathe demutualization. Weighted-average shased for basic earnings per share also
assumes that adjustments, if any, to the commark stistributed in the demutualization occurredhat beginning of the quarter in which
changes were identified.

There were no shares or dilutive securities outstgnprior to the demutualization and initial pubtiffering. For comparative pro forma
earnings per share presentation, the weighted-geestaares outstanding and the effect of dilutiveistes for the period from November 2,
2001 to December 31, 2001 as shown above was asmdculate pro forma earnings per share for 2001.

Stock options, restricted stock awards, shareg twoltingently issued under long term incentiveapland the purchase contracts inclt
in the Equity Security Units are not consideredstartding in computing the
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11. Earnings Per Share (continued)

weighted-average number of shares outstandingafsickearnings per share. However, they are includeh the grant date, in determining
diluted earnings per share using the treasury staatkod. The stock options are dilutive in periadien the average market price exceeds the
grant price. The restricted stock awards are diutvhen the aggregate fair value exceeds the anodumearned compensation remaining ti
amortized. The shares to be contingently issueélotig term incentive plans are dilutive when clative earnings meet or exceed threshold
targets. The purchase contracts included in thetfE&ecurity Units are dilutive to Anthem’s earngnger share, because the average market
price of Anthem’s common stock exceeds a statesstiald price of $43.92 per share.

12. Income Taxes
The components of deferred income taxes at DeceB1ibare as follows:

2003 2002
Deferred tax asset
Pension and postretirement bene $ 99.¢ $107.
Accrued expense 195./ 156.3
Alternative minimum tax and other cred 46.¢ 120.1
Insurance reserve 72.5 58.Z
Net operating loss carryforwar 27.¢ 46.2
Bad debt reserve 15.t 16.€
Other 35.2 35.2
Total deferred tax asse 493.: 540.4
Valuation allowanct (56.1) (138.0)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe: 437.2 402.¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gains on securiti 75.¢ 74.1
Acquisition related liabilities
Goodwill and conversion issu 340.¢ 246.7
Trademarks and software developm 292.: 297.7
Subscriber base, provider and hospital netw 153.1 167.7
Other acquisition related liabilitie 28.C 11.1
Retirement liabilities 88.1 66.C
Other 37.C 33.2
Total deferred tax liabilitie 1,015. 896.5
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (578.) $(494.)
Deferred tax liabilit—current (reported with other current liabilitie $ (53.9) $(104.9
Deferred tax liabilit—noncurren (524.9 (389.9)
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (578.2) $(494.)

The net decrease in the valuation allowance foB20Ql 2002 was $81.9 and $112.4, respectivelyv@hation allowance is attributable
to the uncertainty of alternative minimum tax (“AN)Tcredits and net operating loss carryforwards dagerred tax assets related to these type
of deductions are recognized in the tax returnytigation allowance is no longer required andduced. During 2003, the valuation
allowance
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

change was due to utilization of AMT credits antl oygerating loss carryforwards and the entire arhwas recorded as additional deferred tax
liabilities. During 2002, $18.0 of the change ie traluation allowance was recorded as a reduahigoodwill (see Note 3). This adjustment
resulted from recognition of deferred tax assetwipusly determined to be unrealizable. In additauring 2002, $57.2 of the decrease was
recorded as deferred tax liabilities and $37.2 rgasrded as a reduction to income tax expense.

Due to uncertainties, including industry issuegarding both the timing and amount of deductiohs,ldenefit of the valuation allowance
releases were not reported in income but were decbas deferred tax liabilities. The industry issinelude the valuation and timing of tax
deductions for intangibles in existence as of teversion of Blue Cross Blue Shield organizatiantakable status, and the Special Tax
Deduction for Blue Cross Blue Shield entities unidéernal Revenue Code Section 833(b).

Significant components of the provision for incotares consist of the following:

2003 2002 2001
Current tax expens
Federal $365.. $173.¢  $101.1
State and loce 14.7 13k 7.7
Total current tax expen: 380.( 187.¢ 108.¢
Deferred tax expens 60.1 67.¢ 74.€
Total income tax expen: $440.1  $255.2  $183.

income tax rate is as follows:

A reconciliation of income tax expense recordethaconsolidated statements of income and amoomguated at the statutory federal

2003 2002 2001
Amount Amount Amount
% % %
Amount at statutory rat $426.7 35.C $282.7 35.C $183.€ 35.C
State and local income taxes net of federal tavetie 9.3 0.8 9.4 1.2 3.5 0.7
Amortization of goodwill — — — — 5.9 1.1
Dividends received deductic (0.6) (0.3 (0.6) (0.3 (1.4 (0.2
Deferred tax valuation allowance change, net obpetating los
carryforwards and other tax cred — — (37.2) (4.6 (20.9) (3.9
Other, ne 4.7 0.4 0.9 0.1 12.1 2.3
$440.1 36.1 $255.2 31.6 $183.2 35.C

In certain states, the Company pays premium taxéeu of state income taxes. Premium taxes arerteg with administrative expense.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had unused federaet operating loss carryforwards of approxieha$79.8 to offset future
taxable income. The loss carryforwards expire éytbars 2004 through 2021. During 2003, 2002 afd 2€deral income taxes paid totaled
$303.3, $151.2 and $74.1, respectively.
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13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
A reconciliation of the components of accumulatdteo comprehensive income at December 31 is asifsll

2002

$253.7
(46.4)

207.:
(73.6)

133.%

(18.9)
6.5

(11.9)

2003
Investments availak-for-sale:
Gross unrealized gait $229.¢
Gross unrealized loss (13.¢)
Total pretax net unrealized gai 216.(
Deferred tax liability (75.€)
Net unrealized gain 140.¢
Restricted investment
Gross unrealized gait 2.2
Gross unrealized loss (0.)
Total pretax net unrealized gai 14
Deferred tax liability (0.5
Net unrealized gain 0.¢
Additional minimum pension liability
Gross additional minimum pension liabil (4.0
Deferred tax asst 14
Net additional minimum pension liabili (2.6)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca $138.7

$122.%

A reconciliation of the change in unrealized analized gains (losses) on investments included aumelated other comprehensive

income is as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Change in pretax net unrealized gains on invests $26.¢ $167.C $15F

Less change in deferred tay (8.7 (58.9) (5.3
Less net realized gains on investments, net ofnmectaxes (2003, $6.4; 2002, $¢

2001, $21.3), included in net incor (11.9 (20.¢) (39.5

Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on inveds $ 6.8 $87.¢ $29.9

14. Leases

The Company leases office space and certain comegtépment using noncancelable operating leasaatd®l lease expense for 20

2002 and 2001 was $51.3, $47.3, and $45.2, resphcti

At December 31, 2003, future lease payments foratipg leases with initial or remaining noncancédalerms of one year or more

consisted of the following: 2004, $46.8; 2005, 42006, $37.2; 2007, $29.7; 2008, $25.4; and #fee$122.0.

A subsidiary of the Company acquired with the Trgquisition is a fifty percent limited partnerarpartnership that owns a property
occupied by the Company’s subsidiary. Under anatpey lease with the limited partnership, the Compiacurred lease expense of $2.0 and

$0.8 during 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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15. Retirement Benefits

Anthem Insurance sponsors a defined benefit perdamn Anthem Health Plans of New Hampshire, Imel Anthem Health Plans
Virginia, Inc. sponsored defined benefit pensicangl prior to their merger with the Anthem Insuraplean.

The Anthem Insurance plan is a cash balance amaggfewvhere participants have an account balancevdhelarn a pay credit equal to
three to six percent of compensation, dependingeamns of service. The Anthem Insurance plan coparstime and temporary employees as
well as full-time employees who have completed yeer of continuous service and attained the ageerfity-one. In addition to the pay credit,
participant accounts earn interest at a rate basdd-year Treasury notes.

Prior to December 31, 2003, Anthem Health Plangiafinia, Inc. sponsored a plan that was a cashriza arrangement where
participants had an account balance that earneg arpdit equal to three to ten percent of compé@msarhis plan covered all full- and part-
time employees who had completed three monthsrefcgeand there was no minimum age for participatithe pay credit was based on the
sum of the participants’ age and years of serdicaddition to the pay credit, participant accourdasned interest at a rate based on 30-year
Treasury notes. This plan merged into the Anthesariaince plan effective December 31, 2003.

Prior to December 31, 2002, Anthem Health Plaridex Hampshire, Inc. sponsored a plan that waslalzalsnce arrangement where
participants had an account balance and earneg eredit equal to five percent of compensationsT#ian generally covered all full-time
employees who had completed one year of contingensgce and had attainted the age of twenty-one.pHuticipant accounts earned interest
at a rate based on the lesser of the 1-year Treaste or 7%. Effective January 1, 2002, partictpmrtounts earned interest at a rate based on
10-year Treasury notes. This plan merged into théhém Insurance plan effective December 31, 2002.

All of the plans’ assets consist primarily of commrgiocks, fixed maturity securities, investmentdsiand short-term investments. The
funding policies for all plans are to contribute@amts at least sufficient to meet the minimum fuigdiequirements set forth in the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) plus suatiditional amounts as are necessary to providesassicient to meet the benefits to be
paid to plan participants.

In addition, the Company offers most employeesrptistment benefits including certain life, medjoasion and dental benefits upon
retirement. There are several postretirement bigpleins, which differ in amounts of coverage, dditiles, retiree contributions, years of
service and retirement age. The Company may furtdinebenefit costs through discretionary contiidog to a Voluntary Employees’
Beneficiary Association (“VEBA”) trust and otherseaaccrued, with the retiree paying a portion efc¢bsts. Postretirement plan assets held in
the VEBA trust consist primarily of bonds and eyséecurities.

The effect of acquisitions on the consolidated fienbligation and plan assets is reflected throtlghbusiness combination lines of the
tables below.

The Company uses a September 30 measurement datgesa for determining benefit obligations andfdéie value of plan assets.

The following tables disclose “pension benefits’igrhinclude defined benefit pension plans descridealve, and “other benefits” which
include other postretirement benefits describedrabo
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The reconciliation of the benefit obligation isfadows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2003 2002 2003 2002
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $782.7  $582.¢  $210.z $144.:
Service cos 43.1 35.C 25 1.7
Interest cos 51.7 45.¢ 13.€ 11.7
Plan amendmen 3.C 1.1 1.7 1.4
Actuarial loss 57.¢ 13.7 32.¢ 15
Benefits paic (68.9) (52.¢) (15.7) (12.0
Business combinatior — 157.C — 61.€
Benefit obligation at end of ye $870.1  $782.7 $244.€¢ $210..

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defibedefit pension plans was $863.3 and $772.8 atrbieee31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The changes in the fair value of plan assets afellasvs:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $716.5F  $495.. $344 $23.7
Actual return on plan asse 123.t (71.0) 4.8 (2.9
Employer contribution 93.¢ 216.¢ 14.€ 12.C
Benefits paic (68.%) (52.9) (15.7) (23.0
Business combinatior — 128.: — 14.1
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $865.6 $716.f $38.1 $34.4
The reconciliation of the funded status to thebwetefit cost recognized is as follows:
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002
Funded statu $ (45 $(66.2) $(206.5) $(175.¢)
Unrecognized net los 254.5 250.% 31.c 0.7
Unrecognized prior service cc (13.5) (20.9) (17.5) (25.5)
Net amount recognized at Septembe 236.7 164.1 (292.9) (200.6)
Contributions made after the measurement 25.€ 0.4 4.3 3.8
Net amount recognized at Decembel $262.  $164.F  $(188.9)  $(196.9)
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15. Retirement Benefits (continued)

The net amount recognized in the consolidated balaheets is as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2003 2002 2003 2002
Prepaid benefit co: $277.C $206.7 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (18.7) (61.5) (188.9) (196.9)
Intangible assel — 1.C — —
Prepaid pension benefits (postretirement bene 258.< 146.Z (188.9 (196.§)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 4.C 18.: — —
Net amount recognized at Decembel $262.5  $164.F  $(188.9  $(196.¢)

The change in the additional minimum pension ligbihcluded within other comprehensive incomesdallows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
200: 200:
2003 2002
Increase (decrease) in minimum liability in othemprehensive inconr $(14.9) $117 — —

The weighted-average assumptions used in calcgl#imbenefit obligations for all plans are asdof:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensation incree 4.5(% 45(% — —

The components of net periodic benefit cost (cyedaluded in the consolidated statements of incaneeas follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Service cos $431 $35 $29: $2&t $17 $1E
Interest cos 51.7 45.¢ 40.¢ 13.¢ 115 8.7
Expected return on asst (72.5) (63.2) (55.1) (2.9) (2.0 (2.9
Recognized actuarial loss (ga 2.8 0.€ 0.3 (0.€) — (1.7
Amortization of prior service co: (3.9 (3.9 3.9 (6.5) (6.€) (6.9
Amortization of transition ass — — (2.0 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (cred $21.2 $14: $10E $6.€ $48 $0.]

The weighte-average assumptions used in calculating the na&idiebenefit cost for all plans, are as folloy

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Discount rate 6.75% 7.28% 75(% 6.7% 7.28% 7.5(%
Rate of compensation incree 45% 45% 4.5% — — —
Expected rate of return on plan as: 85(% 9.0(% 9.0(% 6.5(% 65% 6.21%
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The assumed health care cost trend rates usedasuneethe expected cost of other benefits at ttessurement date are as follows:

Other Benefits

2003 2002
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next 11.0(% 10.0(%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed ttingeche ultimate trend rat: 5.5(% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 200¢ 2007

The health care cost trend rate assumption candaignificant effect on the amounts reported. &-percentage-point change in
assumed health care cost trend rates would haveltbeing effects:

1-Percentage 1-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decreas
Effect on total of service and interest cost congos $ 14 $ (2.2
Effect on the accumulated postretirement benefigabion 21.2 (17.2)

An important factor in determining the Company’sipien expense is the expected long-term rate ofrrein plan assets. The Company
uses a total portfolio return analysis in the depeient of its assumption. Factors such as pastanpekformance, the long-term relationship
between fixed maturity and equity securities, iegtrrates, inflation and asset allocations areidered in the assumption. The assumption
includes an estimate of the additional return etgubfrom active management of the investment pliotf@eer data and historical returns are
also reviewed for appropriateness of the seleciedraption. The expected long-term rate of retunaisulated by the geometric averaging
method, which calculates an expected multi-peratdrn, reflecting volatility drag on compound retsir On September 30, 2003, the Company
lowered its assumption of the expected long-teri® o&return on plan assets to 8.00% from 8.50%{wposes of determining 2004 net
periodic benefit costs. The Company believes issiaption of future return on plan assets is redslena

In managing the plan assets, the Com’s objective is to be a responsible fiduciary whil@imizing financial risk to the Company. P
assets include a diversified mix of investment griided maturity securities and equity securitiesoas a range of sectors and levels of
capitalization to maximize the long-term return &oprudent level of risk. Plan assets are not te¢eim Anthem stock.

In addition to producing a reasonable return, tivestment strategy seeks to minimize the volatititthe Company’s expense and cash
flow. To reduce the impact of interest rate andketfluctuations, during 2003 the Company increakedduration and allocation of fixed
maturity securities to more closely match the devitsi of plan assets with the plan obligations.
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As of the measurement date, the Company’s weigitedage targeted asset allocation and actual &itbocay asset category are as
follows:

Actual Allocation

Pension Benefit Assets Other Benefit Assets
Target Allocation
For All Plans 2003 2002 2003 2002

Equity securities

Domestic equitie 42% 54% 43% 46% 44%

International equitie 11 12 9 8 7
Fixed maturity securitie 45 31 25 42 44
Real estati — 1 2 3 4
Other 2 2 21 1 1

Total 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%

The 21% allocation in the other category for pemdienefits in 2002 represents cash contributedh&yCompany on the measurement
date that was subsequently invested 22% in fixewinty, 73% in equity securities, and 5% in other.

Beginning in 2003, the Company implemented a qugrfending strategy for contributions to the pemsplan. The amount of quarterly
funding may vary from quarter to quarter and mapdjisted based on changes in the fair value of gdaets and changes to related
assumptions. The Company’s current strategy isrid in amount at least equal to the minimum reddirading as determined under ERISA
with consideration of factors such as the minimwenggon liability requirement and maximum tax dediletamounts. The Company may elect
to make discretionary contributions up to the maximamount deductible for income tax purposes. kFewear ending December 31, 2004, the
Company does not expect any required contributiorter ERISA. Employer contributions related to othenefits represents payments to
retirees for current benefits. Contributions to HEBA are generally not material.

In addition to the defined benefit plans, the Comphlas several qualified defined contribution plaogering substantially all employe:
Eligible employees may only participate in one pMaluntary employee contributions are matchedhatrate of 50%, up to a maximum
depending upon the plan, subject to certain linaitest Contributions made by the Company totaled1%14.3 and $11.2 during 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

16. Long Term Incentive Plans

Certain executives are participants in the 2001gL6arm Incentive Plar“2001 LTIF"). The 2001 LTIP operated during the tt-year
period from 2001 to 2003. At the beginning of theee-year period, the Compensation Committee oBtieed of Directors established
performance goals, which included specific stratedijectives of the Company. Each participant'geaaward is established as a percentage
ranging from 30% to 150% of annual base salargémh year of the three-year period. Awards unde@®1 LTIP in each three-year period
become payable upon approval by the Compensatiom@tee and will be paid in 2004, with the execathaving the option to defer
payment. The 2001 LTIP will terminate after comjalrtof the 2001 to 2003 performance period and pagbany awards. The award will be
paid in cash, stock and restricted stock of the @amy. The 2001 LTIP expense for 2003, 2002 and 2@1$89.5, $73.7 and $44.9,
respectively.
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16. Long Term Incentive Plans (continued)

The Compensation Committee approved a one yeay thlar2004 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2004 LTIFYr, certain executives based
on performance goals which include specific striatefjectives of the Company. Each participanttrgéa award is established as a percentage
ranging from 30% to 150% of annual base salar2@®4. Awards under the 2004 LTIP become payabl@& approval by the Compensation
Committee and will be paid in cash or stock of @@mpany during 2005, with the executive havingdpgon to defer payment.

17. Contingencies
Litigation

A number of managed care organizations have beshiawclass action lawsuits asserting various caasaction under federal and st
law. These lawsuits typically allege that the defamt managed care organizations employ policiepamcedures for providing health care
benefits that are inconsistent with the terms efdbverage documents and other information provideékeir members, and because of these
misrepresentations and practices, a class of menfiasrbeen injured in that they received benefiitssser value than the benefits represented
to and paid for by such members. Two such procesdimhich allege various violations of the EmplojRetirement Income Security Act of
1974 (“ERISA"), have been filed in Connecticut agdithe Company or its Connecticut subsidiary. fnoeeeding was brought by the
Connecticut Attorney General on behalf of a purpditlass of HMO and Point of Service members inn@oticut. No monetary damages are
sought, although the suit does seek injunctiveféom the court to preclude the Company fromgatlly utilizing arbitrary coverage
guidelines, making late payments to providers omivers, denying coverage for medically necessargcppion drugs and misrepresenting or
failing to disclose essential information to eneel. The complaint contends that these allegedig®land practices are a violation of ERISA.
This case was dismissed by the trial court on $eipée 19, 2003; the Connecticut Attorney Generablfth motion for reconsideration by the
trial court, which was denied on October 1, 2003 Attorney General filed an appeal to the Eleveithuit on December 1, 2003. The
Eleventh Circuit has not decided whether to acttepappeal. A second proceeding, brought on belalfpurported class of HMO and Poin
Service members in Connecticut and elsewhereeddtit $5,000 (actual dollars), and was dismissid prejudice by order of the Court on
July 18, 2003.

In addition, the Company’s Connecticut subsidiara defendant in three class action lawsuits broogtbehalf of professional providers
in Connecticut. The suits allege that the Connatsabsidiary has breached its contracts by, antimgy things, failing to pay for services in
accordance with the terms of the contracts. This silgo allege violations of the Connecticut Unfaiade Practices Act, breach of the implied
duty of good faith and fair dealing, negligent rejgresentation and unjust enrichment. Two of thes s@iek injunctive relief and monetary
damages (both compensatory and punitive). The thiitd brought by the Connecticut State Medicali®g¢seeks injunctive relief only. Two
of the suits were transferred to the Multi Distlidigation (“MDL") docket in Miami, Florida, as tgalong cases. All of the tag-along cases in
the MDL are being stayed, until all motions in thain provider track cases have been ruled on.

On July 19, 2001, the Connecticut state courtwsag certified as a class action as to three oplhietiff's fifteen allegations. The class is
defined as those physicians who practice in Conmeadr group practices which are located in Cotinatthat were parties to either a
Participating Physician Agreement or a Particigatttnysicians Group Agreement with the Company ant¥&@onnecticut subsidiary during
the period from 1993 to the present, excluding-slsiring arrangements and certain other contrahsclaims which were certified as class
claims are: the Company’s alleged failure to previdhintiffs and other similarly situated physigamith consistent medical utilization/quality
management and administration of covered serviggmbping financial
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17. Contingencies (continued)

incentive and performance bonuses to providergl@€ompany’s staff members involved in makingzdiion management decisions; an
alleged failure to maintain accurate books andndswhereby improper payments to the plaintiffseweiade based on claim codes submitted;
and an alleged failure to provide senior persotmalork with plaintiffs and other similarly situatghysicians. The Company appealed the
class certification decision, and on Septembel03, the Connecticut Supreme Court reversed #es dertification decision, and remanded
the matter back to the trial court for further predings. The trial court is to consider four clagiarsd determine whether the claims are
appropriate for treatment as class claims.

On September 26, 2002, Anthem, Inc. was addeddatemdant to a MDL class action lawsuit pendinyliami, Florida brought ol
behalf of individual doctors and several medicalisties. Other defendants include Humana, Aetngn&iCoventry, Health Net, PacifiCare,
Prudential, United and WellPoint. The managed tagation around the country has been consolid&bethe U.S. District Court in Miami,
Florida, under MDL rules. The Court has split tlse into two groups, a “provider track” involvinigiens by doctors, osteopaths, and other
professional providers, and a “subscriber trackblaing claims by subscribers or members of theoter health plan defendants. The
complaint against Anthem and the other defenddieiges that the defendants do not properly payndabut instead “down-code” claims,
improperly “bundle” claims, use erroneous or impopost criteria to evaluate claims and delay apiroper claims. The suit also alleges that
the defendants operate a common scheme and canspiraiolation of the Racketeer Influenced Corr@ganizations Act (“RICO”)The suit
seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, unspedifieonetary damages, treble damages under RICOunitive damages. The court certified a
class in the provider track cases on Septembe2®®, but denied class certification in the sultsgrirack cases. Defendants in the provider
track cases sought, and on November 20, 2002 wargegl, an interlocutory appeal of the class destifon in the Eleventh Circuit. Due to the
Company'’s late addition to the case, it was nduihed in the September 26, 2002 class certificatioier, and is therefore not part of the
appeal; however, the Company may be affected bgutleome of the appeal. The appeal was arguecktBldventh Circuit panel on Septem
11, 2003; a ruling will issue in due course.

On October 10, 2001, the Connecticut State Dergabgiation and five dental providers filed suitiagathe Company’s Connecticut
subsidiary. The suit alleged breach of contract\aaldtion of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Pracsidkct. The suit was voluntarily withdrawn
on November 9, 2001. The claims were refiled onilA, 2002, as two separate suits; one by the Ectivut State Dental Association and the
second by two dental providers, purportedly on Beaifaa class of dental providers. Both suits seglnctive relief, and unspecified monetary
damages (both compensatory and punitive). Bothsoasee transferred to the MDL docket as tag-alasgs, and have been consolidated with
the MDL suits pending before Judge Moreno in Miaigrida. Both cases are being stayed, as ard #iedag-along suits in the MDL.

On May 22, 2003, in a case titl&&nneth Thomas, M.D., et al., v. Blue Cross Bluel&Kssociation, et al.several medical providers
filed suit in federal court in Miami, Florida agairthe Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and Bluess Blue Shield Plans across the country,
including the Company. The suit alleges that th&B@\ssociation and the BCBS Plans violated RICO @drallenges many of the same
practices as other suits in the MDL. On May 8, 2002 case titledr. Allen Knecht, et al., v. Cigna, et atgveral chiropractors filed a
purported class action in federal court in Portlaboegon, naming several Blue Cross Blue Shield®lmcluding the Company, as well as
several commercial insurers. This case also allggeghe defendants violated RICO and challengasynof the same practices in regards to
chiropractors. Both cases have been transferrétetIDL docket and are now assigned to Judge Moireiiami. Both cases are in the early
stages of the pleadings.
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On October 17, 2003, in a case titlffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Cigna, et s¢vyeral chiropractors and a podiatrist, along with
chiropractic and podiatric associations, filed suitederal court in Miami, Florida, against tenmaged care corporations, including the
Company. The suit alleges that the companies @dIRICO and challenges many of the same pract&ethar suits in the MDL. On
November 4, 2003, in a case titlJeffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Blue Cross Bluiel8 Association, et aJ.several chiropractors, podiatrist
psychologist and a physical therapist, along witkirtprofessional corporations and trade assodigtifiled suit in federal court in Miami,
Florida against the Blue Cross Blue Shield Assamiaand Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans across thatoguincluding the Company. The suit
alleges that the BCBS Association and the BCBS$éolated RICO and challenges many of the sametipes as other suits in the MDL.
Both cases have been transferred to the MDL daketare now assigned to Judge Moreno. Both casés tre early stages of the pleadings.

The Company intends to vigorously defend all th@eeeedings; however, their ultimate outcomes capresently be determined.

On March 11, 1998, Anthem Insurance and its Ohisigliary, Community Insurance Compar“CIC") were named as defendants i
lawsuit,Robert Lee Dardinger, Executor of the Estate oh&ist ouise Dardinger v. Anthem Blue Cross and Bheld, et al, filed in the
Licking County Court of Common Pleas in Newark, @hihe plaintiff sought compensatory damages amsperified punitive damages in
connection with claims alleging wrongful death, ffaith and negligence arising out of CIC’s deniftertain claims for medical treatment for
Ms. Dardinger. On September 24, 1999, the juryrnetd a verdict for the plaintiff, awarding $1,3%@{ual dollars) for compensatory damages,
$2.5 for bad faith in claims handling and appeategssing, $49.0 for punitive damages and unspgec#itorneys’ fees in an amount to be
determined by the court. The court later grantéataeys’ fees of $0.8. An appeal of the verdict fiasl by the defendants on November 19,
1999. On May 22, 2001, the Ohio Court of Appealfttiistrict) affirmed the jury award of $1,350ctaal dollars) for breach of contract
against CIC, affirmed the award of $2.5 compengadamages for bad faith in claims handling and afgperocessing against CIC, but
dismissed the claims and judgments against Anttmsurance. The court also reversed the award o034%unitive damages against both
Anthem Insurance and CIC, and remanded the questipunitive damages against CIC to the trial céarta new trial. Anthem Insurance and
CIC, as well as the plaintiff, appealed certainez$p of the decision of the Ohio Court of Appe@is.October 10, 2001, the Supreme Court of
Ohio agreed to hear the plaintiff's appeal, inchgdihe question of punitive damages, and deniedrbss-appeals of Anthem Insurance and
CIC. In December 2001, CIC paid the award of $2gensatory damages for bad faith and $1,350 (adtliars) for breach of contract, plus
accrued interest. On December 20, 2002, the OhpoeBue Court ruled, reinstating the judgment agdingh Anthem Insurance and CIC, but
remitted the punitive damages from $49.0 to $30I@5 interest. The Court also ruled that the pifimtould receive $10.0 of the judgment, the
plaintiff's attorneys would receive their continggrfee on the $30.0 plus interest, and that theaieder of the award would be given to The
Ohio State University Hospital for a charitable dumamed after Esther Dardinger. Anthem InsurandeGi€ paid the remitted judgment in f
on March 28, 2003 and a Satisfaction of Judgmestfiled with the Licking County Court of Common Béeon April 7, 2003. Following the
payment and Satisfaction of Judgment, this matisrifeen terminated and in March 2003, the Compelegsed pretax reserves of $24.5 to
income, which resulted in an after tax benefit @flL per diluted share for the twelve months eridecember 31, 2003.

Anthem’s primary Ohio subsidiary and primary Kerkyisubsidiary were sued on June 27, 2002, in tespective state courts. The suits
were brought by the Academy of Medicine of Cincitanas well as individual physicians, and purporbe class action suits brought on behalf
of all physicians practicing in the greater Cingitirarea and in the Northern Kentucky area, resgagt In addition to the Anthem subsidiari
both
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suits name Aetna, United Healthcare and Humana&famndants. The first suit, captionadademy of Medicine of Cincinnati and Luis Pagani,
M.D. v. Aetna Health, Inc., Humana Health Plan ¢fi@ Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, aniddd Health Care of Ohio, Inc., N
A0200494°was filed on June 27, 2002 in the Court of Commlea$, Hamilton County, Ohio. The second suit, caq@ilAcademy of Medicir
of Cincinnati and A. Lee Greiner, M.D., Victor Saimer, M.D., and Karl S. Ulicny, Jr., M.D. v. AetHaalth, Inc., Humana, IncAnthem Blus
Cross and Blue Shield, and United Health Care, Mo. 02-CI-903 was filed on June 27, 2002 in tle@ie County, Kentucky Circuit Court.

Both suits allege that the four companies actezbmbination and collusion with one another to rediie reimbursement rates paid to
physicians in the area. The suits allege thatdiseat result of the defendants’ alleged anti-cotitipe actions, health care in the area has
suffered, namely that: there are fewer hospitdigsjrians are rapidly leaving the area; medicatiiraes are unable to hire new physicians; .
from the perspective of the public, the availapibt health care has been significantly reducedhEait alleges that these actions violate the
respective state’s antitrust and unfair competitiwns, and each suit seeks class certification peareatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and
injunctive relief to prevent the alleged antimpetitive behavior against the class in the futiotions to dismiss or to send the cases to bg
arbitration, per the provider contracts, were filedboth courts. The Ohio court overruled the mudion January 21, 2003 and the Kentucky
court overruled the motions on February 19, 200&ebdants have appealed both rulings. The Ohioadpyes heard on September 23, 2003.
The Ohio appellate court affirmed the trial courtiing on November 21, 2003. On January 2, 200#th&m filed a motion seeking a
discretionary appeal to the Ohio Supreme Courulg will issue in due course. In the Kentuckyeaso date has been set for oral argument.
Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certificatiowhich was heard and rejected by the trial courfag 24, 2003. Plaintiffs have filed a renewed
motion for class certification, which is set foranieg on October 24, 2003. These suits are in tknginary stages. The Company intends to
vigorously defend the suits and believes that &hbjlity from these suits will not have a matedaverse effect on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

On October 25, 1995, Anthem Insurance and two tral&ffiliates were named as defendants in a lawifled Dr. William Lewis, et al. \
Associated Medical Networks, Ltd., et, that was filed in the Superior Court of Lake Ciyuhndiana. The plaintiffs are three related healt
care providers. The health care providers assatrthie Company failed to honor contractual assigrimef health insurance benefits and
violated equitable liens held by the health camvigers by not paying directly to them the heattsurance benefits for medical treatment
rendered to patients who had insurance with thegamy. The Company paid its customers’ claims ferttbalth care providers’ services by
sending payments to its customers as called fahdly insurance policies, and the health care piergi assert that the patients failed to use the
insurance benefits to pay for the health care plerg’ services. The plaintiffs filed the case &taas action on behalf of similarly situated
health care providers and seek compensatory danvagespecified amounts for the insurance benabtsaid to the class members, plus
prejudgment interest. The case was transferreuet&uperior Court of Marion County, Indiana, whieie now pending. On December 3, 20
the Court entered summary judgment for the Compenthe health care providers’ equitable lien claiiffee Court also entered summary
judgment for the Company on the health care prag contractual assignments claims to the extenttti@ahealth care providers do not hold
effective assignments of insurance benefits frotiepts. On the same date, the Court certified #s= @s a class action. As limited by the
summary judgment order, the class consists ofinealte providers in Indiana who (1) were not in ohthe Company’s networks, (2) did not
receive direct payment from the Company for ses/iemdered to a patient covered by one of the Cogipansurance policies that is not
subject to ERISA, (3) were not paid by the pati@ntwere otherwise damaged by the Company’s paytodts customer instead of to the
health care provider), and (4) had an effectivégassent of insurance benefits from the patient. Toenpany filed a motion seeking an
interlocutory appeal of the class certificationa@réh the Indiana Court of
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17. Contingencies (continued)

Appeals. On May 20, 2002 the Indiana Court of Appgaanted the Compars/motion seeking an interlocutory appeal of the<leertificatior
order. In February 2003, the Indiana Court of Appedfirmed the trial court’s class certificatiorhe Company filed a petition for the transfer
to the Indiana Supreme Court in March 2003. Théipetfor transfer was argued on October 2, 2008, the Indiana Supreme Court accepted
transfer in an order dated October 2, 2003. Aniopiwill issue in due course. In any event, the @any intends to continue to vigorously
defend the case and believes that any liability gy result from the case will not have a matexthlerse effect on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

In addition to the lawsuits described above, then@any is also involved in other pending and thmeadditigation of the character
incidental to the business transacted, arisingbiis insurance and investment operations, affieoia time to time involved as a party in
various governmental and administrative proceedififs Company believes that any liability that mesult from any one of these actions is
unlikely to have a material adverse effect on @sswlidated financial position or results of opienad.

Other Contingencies

The Company, like a number of other Blue CrossBilneé Shield companies, serves as a fiscal interangdor Medicare Parts A and
The fiscal intermediaries for these programs recedimbursement for certain costs and expenditwiegh is subject to adjustment upon audit
by the Federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid ®&w, formerly the Health Care Financing Administna. The laws and regulations
governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicaregram are complex, subject to interpretation amdeogose an intermediary to penalties for
non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be saibgecriminal fines, civil penalties or other sapnas as a result of such audits or reviews.
While the Company believes it is currently in corapte in all material respects with the regulatigoserning fiscal intermediaries, there are
ongoing reviews by the federal government of then@any’s activities under certain of its Medicaéil intermediary contracts.

AdminaStar Federal, Inc* AdminaSta”), a subsidiary of Anthem Insurance, has receivedraésabpoenas prior to May 2000 from"
Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) and the U.S.daetment of Justice, one seeking documents andiraftion concerning its responsibilities
as a Medicare Part B contractor in its Kentuckyceffand the others requesting certain financi@bmes and information of AdminaStar and
Anthem Insurance related to the Company’s Meditiacal intermediary (Part A) and carrier (Part Bpoations. The Company has made
certain disclosures to the government relatingstd/iedicare Part B operations in Kentucky. The Canypwas advised by the government that,
in conjunction with its ongoing review of these teat, the government has also been reviewing stepaltagations made by individuals aga
AdminaStar, which are included within the same frame and involve issues arising from the sameeuscbf operative facts as the
government’s ongoing review. The Company is na@ position to predict either the ultimate outcorhéhese reviews or the extent of any
potential exposure should claims be made agairs€tdmpany. However, the Company believes any fingenalties that may arise from th
reviews would not have a material adverse effedherconsolidated financial position or result®pérations.

As a Blue Cross Blue Shield Association licenske,Gompany participates in the Federal Employegr@m (“FEP”), a nationwide
contract with the Federal Office of Personnel Mamagnt to provide coverage to federal employeestagiddependents. On July 11, 2001, the
Company received a subpoena from the OIG, Offideéassonnel Management, seeking certain financiambents and information, including
information concerning intercompany transactioefated to operations in Ohio, Indiana and Kentuskgler the FEP contract. The governrr
has advised the Company that, in conjunction wi#tlongoing review, the government is also revievdarggparate allegation made by an
individual against the Company’s FEP operationsctvis included within the same timeframe and imeslissues arising from the same
nucleus of operative facts as the
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17. Contingencies (continued)

government’s ongoing review. The Company is culyesdoperating with the OIG and the U.S. Departn@ntustice on these matters. The
ultimate outcome of these reviews cannot be detexdhat this time.

Vulnerability from Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject@w@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consigtprily of investment securities al
premium receivables. All investment securitiesraemaged by professional investment managers withlicies authorized by the Board of
Directors. Such policies limit the amounts that rbayinvested in any one issuer and prescribe cdrtaéstee company criteria. Concentrati
of credit risk with respect to premium receivaldes limited due to the large number of employeuggothat constitute the Company’s
customer base in the geographic regions in whicbrilucts business. As of December 31, 2003, thiere no significant concentrations of
financial instruments in a single investee, indusirgeographic location.

18. Segment Information

The Company’s principal reportable segments aggegjic business units primarily delineated by gaphic areas that essentially offer
similar insurance products and services. They aeaged separately because each geographic regiamigaie market, regulatory and health
care delivery characteristics. The geographic regare: the Midwest region, which operates primanilindiana, Kentucky and Ohio; the East
region, which operates primarily in ConnecticutyNdampshire and Maine; the West region, which oggsran Colorado and Nevada; and the
Southeast region, which operates in Virginia, editlg the immediate suburbs of Washington, D.C. $batheast region was added with the
July 31, 2002 acquisition of Trigon.

In addition to its four principal reportable geogine&c segments, the Company operates a Specialtyesggwhich includes business units
providing group life and disability insurance bdtefpharmacy benefit management, dental and visibministration services and behavioral
health benefits services. Various ancillary busngsts (reported with the Other segment) consistarily of AdminaStar Federal which
administers Medicare programs in Indiana, lllinéigntucky, Ohio, Maine and New Hampshire and Anthdliance, which provided health
care benefits and administration in nine stateshiferDepartment of Defense’s TRICARE Program fditamy families. The TRICARE
operations were sold on May 31, 2001. The Othemseg also includes intersegment revenue and exdinsi@ations and corporate expenses
not allocated to reportable segments.

Through its participation in the Federal EmployeegfPam, Medicare, Medicare at Risk, and TRICAREgPam, the Company general
approximately 19%, 18% and 20% of its total cordaited revenues from agencies of the U.S. governfoettie years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company defines operating revenues to includejom income, administrative fees and other regsn@perating revenues are
derived from premiums and fees received primaribyrf the sale and administration of health beneéitipcts. Operating expenses are
comprised of benefit and administrative expensas. Company calculates operating gain or loss asatipg revenue less operating expenses.

The accounting policies of the segments are thessthose described in the summary of signifiaaobunting policies except that
certain shared administrative expenses for eaaimeegare recognized on a pro rata allocated bakish in aggregate approximates the
consolidated expense. Any difference between tloeatkd expenses and actual consolidated expeirsguded in other expenses not alloc:
to reportable segments. Intersegment sales andhggpare recorded at cost, and eliminated in theotidated financial statements. The
Company evaluates performance of the reportabl@eets based on operating gain or loss as
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defined above. The Company evaluates investmeatrieginterest expense, amortization expense aoi@taxes, and asset and liability
details on a consolidated basis as these itemmanaged in a corporate shared service environnmehndig not the responsibility of segment
operating management.

Financial data by reportable segment for the yadeé December 31 is as follows:

Other and
Midwest East West Southeast! Specialty Eliminations Total

2003
Operating revenue from external

customers $6,678.. $4,557.¢ $1,034.( $3,772.. $249¢« $ 185.¢ $16,477..
Intersegment revenu 11.C (49.9) 5.C 8.5 482.¢ (457.9) —
Operating gain (los¢ 441.( 290.( 111t 335.¢ 69.1 (143.¢) 1,103.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1.2 0.1 0.1 14.1 0.6 111.5 127.¢
2002
Operating revenue from exterr

customers $6,050.. $4,151.0 $ 919.6 $1,467.. $224( $ 178.2 $12,990.
Intersegment revenu 1.3 0.2 0.2 0.8 299.t (302.7) —
Operating gain (loss 271.¢ 222.¢ 74.7 116.( 50.7 (91.9 644.5
Depreciation and amortizatic 1.1 2.2 0.t 13.7 34 87.2 108.1
2001
Operating revenue from exterr

customers $5,093.( $3,667.. $ 774¢ $ — $182.1 $ 403.t $10,120.
Intersegment revenu — — - — 214.( (214.0 —
Operating gain (loss 161.5 128.¢ 20.1 — 32.¢ (23.9) 319.
Depreciation and amortizatic 1.C 2.4 2.8 — 2.6 80.¢ 89.¢

1 Amounts for 2002 represent segment results fofitieemonth period after the completion of the Trigacquisition on July 31, 200
Asset and equity details by reportable segment havéeen disclosed, as they are not reportechiallgrby the Company.

A reconciliation of reportable segment operatingeraeies to the amounts of total revenues includelderconsolidated statements of
income is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Reportable segments operating rever $16,477.. $12,990.! $10,120.:
Net investment incom 278.1 260.7 238.¢
Net realized gains on investmel 17.¢ 30.4 60.¢
Gain on sale of subsidiary operatic (1.6) 0.7 25.C
Total revenue: $16,771. $13,282.:  $10,444.
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A reconciliation of reportable segment operatingnga income before income taxes and minority ie$¢included in the consolidated
statements of income is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Reportable segments operating ¢ $1,103.¢  $644.5f  $319.t
Net investment incom 278.1 260.% 238.¢
Net realized gains on investme| 17.¢ 30.2 60.¢
Gain (loss) on sale of subsidiary operati (1.6) 0.7 25.C
Interest expens (131.9 (98.5) (60.2)
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible ass (47.¢) (30.2) (31.5
Demutualization expensi — — (27.€)
Income before income taxes and minority inte $1,219..  $807.¢  $524.¢

19. Statutory Information

Statuton-basis capital and surplus for Anth’s insurance subsidiaries was $3,346.6 and $2,2@D&cember 31, 2003 and 20
respectively. Statutory-basis net income of Anttemsurance subsidiaries was $565.0, $538.9 an@l.$46r 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Statutory-basis capital and surpfusithem’s insurance subsidiaries are subject gulegory restrictions with respect to amounts
available for dividends to Anthem. Anthem'’s insurarsubsidiaries’ risk-based capital as of DecerBtheR003 was in excess of all mandatory
risk-based capital thresholds.

20. Related Party Transactions

The Company formed Anthem Foundation, Inc. “Foundatio’”), an Indiana nc-profit organization exempt from federal taxatiordar
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Codepttduct, support and assist charitable, healthew|@ducational, and other community-
based programs and projects. The officers of thenéation are also officers of the Company. The§iees receive no compensation for the
management services performed for the Foundatibareureimbursed for any cash expenditures incwreblehalf of the Foundation. The
Foundation is not a subsidiary of the Company &edihancial results of the Foundation are not otidated with the Company’s financial
statements. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Compantyilmated $24.0, $0.1 and $0.3, respectively, ®Rbundation. The Company has no
current legal obligations for future commitmentghe Foundation.

21. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited
Selected quarterly financial data is as follows:

For the Quarter Ended

September 3 December 3
March 31 June 30

2003
Total revenue $4,100.: $4,114.. $ 4,261.¢ $ 4,294.¢
Income before income taxes and minority inte 302.t 278.¢ 310.Z 327.¢
Net income 191.7 177.% 196.¢ 208.¢
Basic net income per she 1.3¢ 1.2¢ 1.4z 1.52
Diluted net income per sha 1.3€ 1.2t 1.3¢ 1.47
2002
Total revenue $2,812.¢ $2,900.: $ 3,579. $ 3,990.¢
Income before income taxes and minority inte 149.t 159.¢ 229.¢ 269.4
Net income 99.¢ 106.2 171.2 171.¢
Basic net income per she 0.97 1.0z 1.3¢ 1.22
Diluted net income per sha 0.9t 1.01 1.2¢ 1.1¢
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

There have been no changes in or disagreementsheitBompany’s independent certified public accants on accounting or financial
disclosures.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company carried out an evaluation as of DeceB®ibe2003, under the supervision and with theigipgtion of the Company’s
management, including the Company’s Chief Execuificer and Chief Financial and Accounting Officef the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company’s disclosure contal$ procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) o#wirities Exchange Act of 1934. Based
upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officed &£hief Financial and Accounting Officer concludbdt the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures are effective in timely alertingrtte material information relating to the Compamgcluding its consolidated subsidiaries)
required to be included in this Annual Report omnkd0-K. There have been no changes in the Compamtgrnal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the quarter endeceder 31, 2003 that have materially affected rer@asonably likely to materially affect,
the Company'’s internal control over financial refpag.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

The information required by this Item concerning xecutive Officers, the Directors and nomineedfioector of the Company ar
concerning disclosure of delinquent filers undect®a 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporateceireby reference from the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for its 2004 Annual Megtof Shareholders, which will be filed with th@@mission pursuant to Regulation 14A
within 120 days after the end of the Company’s fizstl year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this Item concerninmumeration of the Company’s Officers and Directamd information concerning
material transactions involving such Officers ariceEtors is incorporated herein by reference from@ompany’s definitive Proxy Statement
for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders whidh ke filed with the Commission pursuant to Redida 14A within 120 days after the end
of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The information required by this Item concerning gtock ownership of management and five percemgfimal owners and securities
authorized for issuance under equity compensatamsgs incorporated herein by reference from tbm@any’s definitive Proxy Statement for
its 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which Wélfiled with the Commission pursuant to Regulatidé within 120 days after the end of
the Company'’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS.

The information required by this Item concerningtaia relationships and related transactions isnparated herein by reference from
Company'’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 200dn&al Meeting of Shareholders which will be filedtwthe Commission pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of @enpany’s last fiscal year.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this Item concerningpipal accounting fees and services is incorparagrein by reference from tl
Company'’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 200dn&ial Meeting of Shareholders which will be filedhwthe Commission pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of @wnpany’s last fiscal year.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(@ 1. Financial Statemen

The following consolidated financial statementshaf Company are set forth in Part Il, Iten
Report of Independent Auditors
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &@02002
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearseimecember 31, 2003, 2002 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2022001
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule:
The following financial statement schedule of tt@®any is included in Iltem 15(c
Schedule —Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Ra@ompany Only)

All other schedules for which provision is maddhie applicable accounting regulations of the S¢éiesrand Exchange
Commission are not required under the relatedunstns, are inapplicable, or the required infotiorais included in the
consolidated financial statements, and therefove haen omitted.

3. Exhibits:
A list of exhibits required to be filed as parttbis report is set forth in the Index to Exhibitdyich immediately
precedes such exhibits, and is incorporated héreneference.
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(b)

(€)

(d)

Reports on Form 8-K

Current Reports on Forn-K filed or furnished during the fourth quarter ¢f08 are as follows

1. Form 8-K, furnished, not filed, on October 27, 2@@taching a press release reporting financialltesor the third quarter
ended September 30, 20!

2. Form &K filed on October 27, 2003 announcing the Complaany entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merggeddas o
October 26, 2003, among Anthem, WellPoint Healtibwdeks Inc. and Anthem Holding Corporation, pursuanwhich
WellPoint will merger with and into Anthem Holdir@prporation. The Agreement and Plan of Merger ve¢tached

3. Form &K, furnished not filed, on December 2, 2003 repagytineetings at which it was expected that the Cary’s ability
to meet the earnings expectations previously repostould be confirmec

Exhibits
The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitte a separate section of this report.

Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule —Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Ra@ompany Only)
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant

Anthem, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Balance Sheets

December 31

2003 2002
(In Millions, Except Share Data)
Assets
Current asset:
Fixed maturity securities, at fair val $ 580.: $ 182.:
Cash and cash equivalel 86.1 12.€
Other receivable 6.€ 1.9
Income tax receivable 1.C 85.€
Notes receivable from subsidiaries — 127.C
Net due from subsidiariés 71.2 —
Other current asse 11.¢ —
Total current asse 757.C 409.4
Property and equipme 4.€ —
Investment in subsidiariés 6,617. 6,235.1
Other noncurrent asse 10.£ —
Total assets $7,389.° $6,644."
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expet $ 27.¢ $ 28.C
Income taxes payab 31.2 0.2
Net due to subsidiariés — 10.C
Other current liabilitie: 166.2 83.1
Total current liabilities 225.¢ 121.c
Long term deb 1,164. 1,161.:
Total liabilities 1,389.¢ 1,282..
Shareholder¢ equity
Common stock, par value $0.01, shares authorized®;800,000; shares issued and outstanding: 2003,

137,641,034; 2002, 139,332,1 14 14
Additional paic-in-capital 4,708." 4,762.:
Retained earning 1,154.: 481.c
Unearned restricted stock compensa (3.2 (5.3
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 138.7 122.%
Total shareholders equity 5,999.¢ 5,362.1
Total liabilities and shareholders equity $7,389.° $6,644."

1 Amounts are eliminated in consolidatic

See accompanying notes.
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant—(Continued)

(In Millions)

Revenues

Net investment incom
Net realized gain

Expenses
Administrative expens
Interest expens

Income (loss) before income taxes and equity
net income of subsidiaries
Income taxes (credit:

Equity in net income of subsidiariés

Net income

1 Amounts are eliminated in consolidation.

See accompanying notes.

Anthem, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Statements of Income

124

Year Ended
December 31

2003 2002
$ 17.€ $ 7.3

0. —
18.1 7.3
10.1 12.1
81.C 43.€
91.1 55.7
(73.0 (48.4)
(28.9) (22.9)
818.c 575.2
$774. $549.1

For the Period from

November 2, 2001
(Date of Demutualization
and Initial Public Offering)

to December 31, 2001

$ 7.7

7.7
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant—(continued)

Anthem, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Statements of Cash Flow

(In Millions)
Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie!
Undistributed earnings of subsidiarfes
Realized gains on investmel
Amortization and accretio
Deferred income taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Other receivable
Other asset
Amounts due to or from subsidiaries
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Other liabilities
Income taxe:

Cash provided by operating activiti

Investing activities

Purchase of investmer

Sales or maturities of investmel
Capital contribution to subsidiaty

Notes receivable advances from (to) subsidié
Purchases of proper
Purchases of subsidiari

Cash used in investing activiti

Financing activities

Proceeds from long term borrowin

Repurchase and retirement of common s

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan andisgerf stock option

Costs related to the issuance of common stockh®iTtigon acquisitiol

Net proceeds from common stock issued in the Irptidlic offering

Net proceeds from issuance of Equity Security L

Payments and adjustments to payments to eligibtatsry members in the
demutualizatior

Cash provided by (used in) financing activit
Change in cash and cash equivalt
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

1 Amounts are eliminated in consolidation.

See accompanying notes.
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For the Period from

Year Ended November 2, 2001
December 31 (Date of Demutualization
and Initial Public Offering)
2003 2002 to December 31, 2001
$774.2 $ 549.] $ 55.7
(359.9) 126.¢ (52.5)
(0.5) — —
12.4 3.8 0.3
91.€ 53.C —
(4.7 (1.2 (0.8
(11.) — —
(77.7) 10.C —
(0.2) 25.7 2.3
(13.6) 30.1 -
104.7 (76.2) 1.8
515.1 721.% 6.9
(687.5) (180.9) —
283.1 — —
- - (28.9)
127.C (127.0) —
(4.6) — —
— (1,134.9 —
(281.9 (1,442 (28.9)
— 938.t —
(217.2) (256.2) —
57.C 30.¢ —
— (4.1) —
— — 1,890.¢
— — 219.¢
— 0.2 (2,063.6
(160.2) 709.% 46.€
73.F (12.0) 24.€
12.€ 24.€ —
$ 86.1 $ 12.¢ $ 24.€
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant—(continued)

Anthem, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

December 31, 2003
(Dollars in Millions)

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accouimg Policy

On November 2, 2001, Anthem Insurance Companies(lAnthem Insurance”) converted from a mutualiraice company to a stock
insurance company in a process known as a dermaatiali. Concurrent with the demutualization, Anthieisurance became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Anthem, Inc. (“Anthem”), which comfgd its initial public offering on November 2, 2000he demutualization was accounted
for as a reorganization using the historical caigyralues of the assets and liabilities of Anthesutance. Accordingly, immediately following
the demutualization and the initial public offerjgnthem Insurance’s policyholdersurplus was reclassified to par value of commooksmc
additional paid in capital.

In Anthem’s “parent company only” financial statemss Anthem’s investment in subsidiaries is statedost plus equity in undistributed
earnings of the subsidiaries since the effectite dathe demutualization and initial public offegion November 2, 2001. Anthem’s share of
net income of its unconsolidated subsidiaries étuitled in income using the equity method of accognt

Anthem’s parent company only financial statemehtsu#d be read in conjunction with Anthem’s auditethsolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes includedriniPltem 8 of this Form 10-K.

2. Pending Transaction with WellPoint Health Netvorks Inc.

On October 27, 2003, Anthem and WellPoint Healtimdeks Inc. (“WellPoint”) announced that they emtlinto a definitive agreement
and plan of merger (“Merger Agreement”) pursuanvtoch WellPoint will merge into a wholly-owned sitliary of Anthem. Under the
Merger Agreement, WellPoint's stockholders willea® consideration of twenty-three dollars and sigients in cash and one share of
Anthem common stock for each WellPoint share onthtey. The value of the transaction was estimaidabtapproximately $16,400.0 based
on the closing price of Anthem’s common stock om frew York Stock Exchange on October 24, 2003. tTdresaction is expected to close by
mid-2004, subject to, among other things, regujatord shareholder approvals.

3. Subsidiary Transactions

Dividends
Anthem received cash dividends from subsidiaried4®B.6, $702.0 and $0.0 during 2003, 2002 and ,2@8pectively

Investment in Subsidiarie

On July 31, 2002, Anthem completed its purchasE0P6 of the outstanding stock of Trigon Healthcéme, (“Trigon”). Trigon was
Virginia’s largest health care company and wasBtue Cross and Blue Shield licensee in Virginiagleding the immediate suburbs of
Washington, D.C. Trigon’s shareholders each reckikigty dollars in cash and 1.062 shares of Antltemmmon stock for each Trigon share
outstanding. The purchase price was $4,038.1 ardded cash of $1,104.3, the issuance of 38,971sB@&s of Anthem common stock,
valued at $2,708.1, Trigon stock options conveitéal Anthem stock options for 3,866,770 shares)edlat
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant—(continued)

Anthem, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

$195.5 and approximately $30.2 of transaction c@tsJuly 31, 2002, the Company issued $950.0raf term unsecured and unsubordinated
notes which were used, along with the sale of itnmest securities and available cash, to fund tisé partion of the purchase price.

Capital contributions to subsidiaries were $156G0%nd $28.9 during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respgtiThe contributions in 2003 were
non-cash and were to record the tax benefit obopixercises at subsidiary levels. The contributioring 2001 followed the demutualization
and initial public offering.

Amounts Due to and From Subsidiarie

During 2002, Anthem signed promissory notes witkeated subsidiaries, whereby Anthem provided Idarteese subsidiaries to inves
long term securities. Interest is due and payabtatgrly in arrears, and is earned at a rate équedch subsidiary’s average return on its short
term investments, as such rate is determined oardhty basis by reference to the immediately prawgdhonth. Advances under these
agreements are payable upon demand by Anthem. Amoutstanding were $0.0 and $127.0 at Decembe2(3 and 2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, Anthem reported $71.2 dum sabsidiaries. These receivables are current iggmerated in 2003 and will be
settled during 2004. At December 31, 2002, Antheported $10.0 due to subsidiaries, which was setllging 2003.

4. Long Term Debt
At December 31 Anthe’s debt consisted of the followin

2003 2002
Debentures included in Equity Security Units a58% due 200i $ 224 $ 222.%
Senior unsecured notes at 6.800% due : 790.7 789.¢
Senior unsecured notes at 4.875% due : 149.¢ 149.1
Long term deb $1,164..  $1,161.:

Debentures included in Equity Security Units arbgatiions of Anthem and are unsecured and subaetina right of payment to all of
Anthem'’s existing and future senior indebtednesshEEquity Security Unit contains a purchase cahwader which the holder agrees to
purchase, for fifty dollars, shares of Anthem commtock on November 15, 2004, and a 5.95% subdedtirdebenture. In addition, Anthem
will pay quarterly contract fee payments on thechase contracts at the annual rate of 0.05% dftdited amount of fifty dollars per purchase
contract, subject to Anthem'’s rights to defer theagments. The applicable interest rate on therttabes outstanding on and after August 15,
2004 will be reset on the third business day priecedugust 15, 2004, effective for interest accréretn August 15, 2004 to November 15,
2006. The reset rate will be the interest ratehendebentures determined by the reset agent toffi@ent to cause the then current aggregate
market value of all then outstanding debenturdsetequal to 100.5% of the re-marketing value. Tétgedtures will mature on November 15,
2006.

On July 31, 2002, Anthem issued $950.0 of long-teemior unsecured notes ($800.0 of 6.800% note2@di2 and $150.0 of 4.875%
notes due 2005). The net proceeds of $938.5 frenmsle offerings were used to pay a portion ofcteh consideration and expenses
associated with Anthem’s acquisition of Trigon.
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Regitrant—(continued)

Anthem, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

On July 1, 2003, Anthem renewed its $600.0 revgharedit facility with its lender group, which naxpires June 29, 2004. Any
amounts outstanding under this facility at June22®4 (except amounts that bear interest ratesrdieted by a competitive bidding process)
convert to a one-year term loan at Anthem’s optAanthem’s $400.0 revolving credit facility, which expire®ember 5, 2006, continues to
effective. Anthem can select from three optionsfoimrowing under both credit facilities. The ficgition is a floating rate equal to the greate
the prime rate or the federal funds rate plus calégercent. The second option is a floating rafga¢ to LIBOR plus a margin determined by
reference to the ratings of Anthem’s senior, unsstdebt. The third option, is a competitive bidgass, under which borrowings may bear
interest at floating rates determined by referandd BOR, or at fixed rates. Anthem’s ability tooow under these credit facilities is subject to
compliance with certain covenants. No amounts wetstanding under these facilities as of Decemlie2B803 or 2002.

On December 18, 2002, Anthem filed a shelf redistnawith the Securities and Exchange Commissioretister any combination of
debt or equity securities in one or more offerinpgo an aggregate amount of $1,000.0. Specifariméation regarding terms of the offering
and the securities being offered will be providetha time of the offering. Proceeds from any offgwill be used for general corporate
purposes, including the repayment of debt, investsim or extensions of credit to Anthem’s subsid®or the financing of possible
acquisitions or business expansion.

On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors autledrimanagement to establish a $1,000.0 commemgi@rprogram. Proceeds from
any future issuance of commercial paper may be fagegkeneral corporate purposes, including the remse of debt and common stock of the
Company. There were no borrowings under this corni@epaper program during the year ended Decembe2(®)3.

Anthem will have cash requirements of approxima$dy900.0 for the pending transaction with WellRgimcluding both the cash porti
of the purchase price and estimated transactiais.ddsring October 2003, Anthem obtained a comnmitnfier a bridge loan of up to $3,000.0.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2003, Anthem h&@86&4 of cash and investments and access to $0,806evolving credit facilities, as
discussed above. All indebtedness under the bltalgemust be repaid in full no later than March 3005. Subsequent to December 31, 2003,
the Company entered into forward starting pay fikedging transactions with a notional amount of380These hedges are being used to
eliminate the uncertainty related to future intepgs/ments on the expected issuance of debt sesuidt partially fund the cash portion of the
WellPoint transaction, which is expected to clasenid-2004. The hedge transactions had no impath@@ompany’s financial position or
results of operations at inception.

5. Capital Stock

The information regarding capital stock contained\ote 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financiate$hents of Anthem and its
subsidiaries is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

A NTHEM, I NC.

By: /sl LARRYC. GLASSCOCK

Larry C. Glasscock
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 27, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and orddtes indicated.

Name Title Date

/sl LARRYC. GLASSCOCK Chairman, President and Chief Executive Of February 27, 200
(Principal Executive Officer)

Larry C. Glasscock

/sl MICHAEL L. SMITH Executive Vice President and Chief Finan February 27, 200
and Accounting Officer (Principal Financial
Michael L. Smith and Principal Accounting Office
/sl L.BENL YTLE Director February 27, 2004
L. Ben Lytle
/sl LEeNoxD. BAkeRr, JrR., M.D. Director February 27, 2004

Lenox D. Baker, Jr., M.D.

/sl SusanB. B AYH Director February 27, 2004

Susan B. Bayh

/sl WiLLiam B. H ART Director February 27, 200
William B. Hart
/sl AvLLaN B. HuBBARD Director February 27, 200

Allan B. Hubbard

/sl VICTORS. Liss Director February 27, 2004
Victor S. Liss
/sl WiLLiam G. M AYs Director February 27, 2004

William G. Mays

/sl JamMESW. M cD oweLL, JR. Director February 27, 200

James W. McDowell, Jr.
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Signature

/s/  SENATORD oNALD W. RIEGLE, JR.

Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

/sl WIiLLIAM J. RYAN

William J. Ryan

/'s/ GEORGEA. S CHAEFER, JR.

George A. Schaefer, Jr.

/s/  JOHNSHERMAN, JR.

John Sherman, Jr.

/'s/ DENNISJ. SULLIVAN , JR.

Dennis J. Sullivan, Jr.

/sl JAckiE M. W ARD

Jackie M. Ward

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1
3.2

4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10
4.11

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Document

Plan of Conversion (1

0] Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Octo6e2@03, among Anthem, Inc., Anthem Holding Corpd &VellPoint
Health Networks Inc. (exhibits thereto will be figined supplementally to the Security and Exchangar@ission upon
request) (24

Alliance Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2001, asraded as of September 28, 2001 and Novemt
2001, between Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Karieasand Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.
(exhibits thereto will be furnished supplementatiythe Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request) (9

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of AprilZZ)2 among Anthem, Inc., Al Sub Acquisition
Corp. and Trigon Healthcare, Inc. |(

Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrdn

By-Laws of the Registrant (:

(i) Amended and Restated -Laws of the Registrant (2.

Form of certificate for the common stock, $0.01 palue per share, of the Registrant

Upon the request of the Securities and Exchangen@ssion, the Registrant will furnish copies of all
instruments defining the rights of holders of I-term debt of the Registra

Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2001, by andd®t Anthem, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as
trustee (2

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Noverih2001, between Anthem, Inc. and The Ban
New York, as trustee (:

Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of NovemI28(4, between Anthem, Inc. and The Ban
New York, as purchase contract agent

Pledge Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2001ngraathem, Inc., The Chase Manhattan Banl
collateral agent, as custodial agent and as seuiittermediary, and The Bank of New York, as
purchase contract agent |

Form of Debenture (Included in Exhibit 4.4)
Form of Normal Unit (Included in Exhibit 4.5) (
Form of Stripped Unit (Included in Exhibit 4.5) (
Form of Remarketing Agreement (

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of November 5, 2861bng Anthem Insurance Companies, |
Anthem, Inc., the Lenders party thereto, The Ci\aehattan Bank, as Administrative Agent, Bank of
America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Fleet biaail Bank, as Documentation Agent

0] First Amendment dated as of July 2, 2002, to tlvef¥ear Credit Agreement dated as of November 6128mong Anthem
Insurance Companies, Inc., Anthem, Inc.; the barakty thereto; JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administaiigent; Fleet
National Bank, as Documentation Agent; and BanRmogrica, N.A., as Syndication Agent (
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Exhibit
Number

4.12

4.13
414

4.15
4.16

417

4.18

4.19

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5%

Document

364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of July 2, 2@@%ng Anthem, Inc., the Lenders party thereto,
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative AgeankBf America, N.A., as Co-Syndication
Agent, Wachovia Bank, N.A., as Co-Syndication Agamid Fleet National Bank, as Documentation
Agent (5)

(i) Amended and Restated 364y Credit Agreement dated as of July 1, 2003, ggmAmhem, Inc. and the lender parties thei
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, Bafnkmerica, N.A., as Syndicate Agent, Wachovia Ba#tional
Association, as Syndication Agent, Fleet NationahB as Documentation Agent, and William Street @dment
Corporation, as Documentation Agent (.

Indenture dated as of July 31, 2002, between Antheem and The Bank of New York, Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 8022between Anthem, Inc. and The Bank of I
York, Trustee (4

Forms of Notes (5

Form of Indenture by and between Anthem, Inc. ahd Bank of New York, Trustee, relating to the
senior debt securities (

Form of Indenture by and between Anthem, Inc. ahd Bank of New York, Trustee, relating to the
subordinated debt securities

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement dated March @03 2among Anthem, Inc., as Issuer and J.P.
Morgan Securities, Inc., Banc of America Securitie€ and Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., each as
Dealer (20;

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement dated Marct2@@3 by and between Anthem, Inc. and J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank (2!

Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan |

(i)  Amendment No. 1 to Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Pitated April 25, 2002 (<
(i)  Amendment No. 2 to Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Pitated July 29, 2002 ('

(i)  Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, Amended and Restzanuary 1, 2003 (2
Anthem Employee Stock Purchase Plan

()  Amendment No. 1 to Anthem Employee Stock Purchéee éated July 2, 2002 (
(i)  Amendment No. 2 to Anthem Employee Stock Purchéese dated July 29, 2002 (

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Inser&uampanies, Inc. and Larry C. Glasscock,
dated as of October 22, 1999

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Inser&uampanies, Inc. and David R. Frick, dated
as of January 1, 2000 (

()  Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betweghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and David RkE-gffective
as of January 1, 2003 (2

(i)  Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Inser&uampanies, Inc. and Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.Dedds o
January 2, 2001 (?

(i)  Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betwedhem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel Bsihaum,
M.D., effective as of January 1, 2002

(i)  Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betwisghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel Bsihaum,
M.D., effective as of January 1, 2003 (.
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Exhibit

Number

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

Document

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Inser&uampanies, Inc. and Michael L. Smith,
dated as of January 1, 2000

(i)

(i)

(ii)
(i)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

(i)
(ii)

(i)
(iv)
(v)
(i)

(ii)
(i)
(iv)

(i)
(i)
(iv)

v)

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betwerhem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Michaelnits
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Ins@r&uampanies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, dated a%apiuary 1, 199
@

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betweghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and MarjorieDdfr,
effective as of January 1, 2000

Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betw&gthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and MarjorieDéfr,
effective as of July 29, 2000 (

Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and éetwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjori®wvr,
effective as of January 1, 2001

Amendment Four to Employment Agreement by and betw&nthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjoriddfr,
effective as of January 1, 2002

Amendment Five to Employment Agreement by and bebwenthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and MarjoridDdfr,
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insgr&uampanies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, dated akofiary 1, 1999 (

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betweghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith ReFatffective
as of January 1, 2000 (

Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betwsgthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith ReFaffective
as of January 1, 2001 (

Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and éetwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and KeithaReff; effective
as of January 1, 2002 (

Amendment Four to Employment Agreement by and betwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith Ref-@ffective
as of January 1, 2003 (2

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Ins@r&uampanies, Inc. and Michael D. Houk, dated asugfust 12, 200
)

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betweghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Michael @uk
effective as of January 1, 2002

Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betw&ghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Michael Gull
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:

Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and éetwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc and Michaéldk,
effective as of December 10, 20

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insw&uampanies, Inc. and Caroline S. Matthews, datexf April 1,
1999 (1)

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betweghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Carolindeé@thews,
effective as of January 1, 2000

Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betwlegthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Carolind&thews,
effective as of January 1, 2001

Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and éetwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and CarolinaB8hews,
effective as of January 1, 2002

Amendment Four to Employment Agreement by and betw&nthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Carolinda®thews,
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:
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Exhibit
Number Document
10.11* (i) Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Ins@r&uampanies, Inc. and John M. Murphy, dated aepfednber 6,
2000 (1)
(i)  Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betwerhem Insurance Companies, Inc. and John M. kiyrp
effective as of January 1, 2002
(i)  Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betw&ghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and John M. kit
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:
10.12* (i) Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Inser&@umpanies, Inc. and Jane Niederberger, dateflFebouary 22

1999 (1)

(i)  Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betwedhem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Jane Niedgeh
effective as of January 1, 2000

(i)  Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and betwsghem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Jane Niedgeh
effective as of January 1, 2002

(iv) Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and éetwAnthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Jane iiedger,
effective as of January 1, 2003 (:

10.13*  Letter from Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. tBé&n Lytle regarding retirement benefits
10.14* (i) Anthem Deferred Compensation Plan

(i)  First Amendment to Anthem Deferred Compensatiom P1&

(i) Second Amendment to Anthem Deferred Compensatian @)
10.15*  Anthem Board of Directors Deferred Compensatiom 13

() Amended and Restated Board of Directors Deferredamsation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2064
10.16* (i) Anthem Supplemental Executive Retirement Plar

(i)  First Amendment to Anthem Supplemental ExecutiverBment Plan (1

(i) Second Amendment to Anthem Supplemental Executatedtnent Plan (1
10.17*  Anthem 1998 Lon-Term Incentive Plan (1
10.18* Anthem 200-2003 Lon¢Term Incentive Plan (1

()  Amendment to Anthem 20-2003 Lon-Term Incentive Plan, dated April 25, 2002
10.19*  Anthem Annual Incentive Plan (
10.20* Anthem Directed Executive Compensation Plar
10.21*  Anthem Split Dollar Life Insurance Program

10.22  Blue Cross License Agreement by and between Blos<Cand Blue Shield Association and the
Registrant, dated November 2, 2001

10.23  Blue Shield License Agreement by and between Bles€and Blue Shield Association and
Registrant, dated November 2, 2001

10.24* Employment Agreement among Anthem, Inc., Trigonltheare, Inc. and Thomas G. Snead, Jr

(i)  Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and betwedhem, Inc. and Thomas G. Snead, Jr., effedd@riary 1, 200
(26)
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Exhibit
Number Document
10.25*  Anthen’s 401(k) Lon-Term Savings Investment Plan, dated to be effeetbvef January 1, 1997 (1
(i) Amendment to Anthe’s 401(k) Lon-Term Savings Investment Plan, dated June 1, 2QD:
(i) Second Amendment to Anthi’'s 401(k) Lon-Term Savings Investment Plan, dated to be effe@e@ber 31, 2002 (2:
(iii) Third Amendment to Anthe’s 401(k) Lon-Term Savings Investment Plan, dated to be effedéwmiary 1, 2002 (2:
10.26* Noncompetition Agreement among Anthem, Inc., Trigt@althcare, Inc. and Thomas G. Snead, Ji
10.27* Trigon Healthcare, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive PE2)
(i) First Amendment to the Trigon Healthcare, Inc. 1883ck Incentive Plan (1:
10.28* Trigon Healthcare, Inc. N-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (
(i) Amendment to the Trigon Healthcare, Inc. FEmployee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (
10.29* Form of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Stock Option Agresrn(16)
()  Schedule of Agreements pursusant to the Form gobhrHealthcare, Inc. Stock Option Agreement |
10.30* Employee’ 401(k) Thrift Plan of Trigon Insurance Company (
10.31* Trigon Insurance Company 401(k) Restoration Pl&)
10.32*  Anthem Annual Incentive Plan, Effective Januarg03 (23)
10.33* Anthem Lon¢Term Incentive Plan, Effective January 1, 2004 |
21 Subsidiaries of the Registre
23 Consent of Independent Auditc
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a) and Rule 1:-14 of the Exchang
Act Rules, as adopted pursuant to Section 302e0Strbane-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuat Rule 13-14(a) and Rule 1:-14 of the Exchang
Act Rules, as adopted pursuant to Section 302e0Strbane-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002
99 Risk Factors

(1)
(@)
3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Indicates management contracts or compensatorg plaarrangement

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhilitber to the Company’s Registration Statement@mFS-1 (Registration No. 333-
67714) as filed with the Commission is incorpordtedein by referenc

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhititnber to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ende
September 30, 2001 as filed with the CommissioDecember 11, 2001 is incorporated herein by refsss

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihitnber to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (Registration No. 3:-
70566) as filed with the Commission is incorporatedein by referenci

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhititber to the Company’s Quarterly Report on ForaQ1fdr the quarter ended June
30, 2002 as filed with the Commission on Augus2®)2 is incorporated herein by referer

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhikitber to the Company’s Registration StatementaymFs-1/A (Registration No. 333-
90478) as filed with the Commission on July 18,2@)incorporated herein by referen

The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihitnber to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-3 (Registration No. 3:-
101969) as filed with the Commission on December2DB?2 is incorporated herein by referer
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(7)  The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhikitmber to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ende
September 30, 2002 as filed with the CommissioNowember 4, 2002 is incorporated herein by refeze

(8) The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihiinber to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 1fatkthe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001 as filed with the Commission @md¥l 25, 2002 is incorporated herein by refere

(9)  The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihitmber to the Company’s Registration StatementamFs-4 (Registration No. 333-
88776) as filed with the Commission is incorpordtedein by referenc

(10) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99.1 teetCompan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200
filed with the Commission on August 5, 2002 is inmrated herein by referenc

(11) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99.2 teetCompan’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200
filed with the Commission on August 5, 2002 is ipmrated herein by referenc

(12) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit A to Tag Healthcare, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statementtfte Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and filed with the Commission on Mdth1997 is incorporated herein by referel

(13) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 10.1 tadon Healthcare, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Fo®Q for the quarter ended March
2000, is incorporated herein by referer

(14) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit C to Toig Healthcare, In’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meetof
Shareholders and filed with the Commission on Mdh1997 is incorporated herein by referel

(15) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 10.36Tdgon Healthcare, In’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ende
December 31, 2001 is incorporated herein by refes

(16) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99(ii) Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s Registration StatemenForm S-8 (Registration No. 333-
45890) is incorporated herein by referer

(17) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99.6 teetCompan’'s Registration Statement on For-8 (Registration No. 3:-97423) is
incorporated herein by referen:

(18) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99(i) Twigon Healthcare, In’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 (Registration No. 3:-
22463) is incorporated herein by referer

(19) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 99(ii) Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s Registration Statemenform S-8 (Registration No. 333-
22463) is incorporated herein by referer

(20) The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihimber to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Forr@Qlfor the quarter ended March
31, 2003 as filed with the Commission on April 2003 is incorporated herein by referer

(21) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 10.25 1@ the Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2
as filed with the Commission on April 30, 2003risdrporated herein by referen:

(22) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit 10.25) @i the Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March !
2003 as filed with the Commission on April 30, 2083 corporated herein by referen

(23) The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhilimber to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Fora@Qlfor the quarter ended June
30, 2003 as filed with the Commission on July 3102is incorporated herein by referer

(24) The copy of this exhibit filed as Exhibit numbet 20 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K kesifivith the Commission on
October 27, 2003 is incorporated herein by refeze

(25) The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhihinber to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ende
September 30, 2003 as filed with the Commissiohowember 14, 2003 is incorporated herein by refeze

(26) The copy of this exhibit filed as the same exhilitmber to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 1f@ikthe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 as filed with the Commission @mdil 7, 2003 is incorporated herein by refere
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Exhibit 10.9 (iv)

AMENDMENT THREE
T0
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Effective December 10, 2003, this AMENDMENT THRED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT by and between

Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., an Indiana imag-@ompany (the “Company”) and Michael D. Houle(th
“Executive”) hereby amends the EMPLOYMENT AGREEMELife “Agreement”petween the parties dated as of
12th day of August, 2000, as follows:

1.

Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby deleted ientgety and replaced with the followir

2. Term of EmploymentUnless sooner terminated pursuant to Sectiomerterm of the Executive’s
employment under this Agreement shall continuesixty (60) days following the naming of his sucaesser, if
no such successor is named, at the discretiored®tesident and CEO. The term of the Executive’slegment
shall in any event terminate no later than Jun€804. Upon the Executive’s completion of the tasrdefined
above, he shall be entitled to the payments andflieset forth in Section 11 for a period of ofig\ear. During
said term, the Executive shall take six weeks ofqal time off, as agreed to by the PresidentGB0.

The Executive’s salary shall be increased effectanuary 1, 2004, as set forth in the statemkeexecutive
compensation delivered to the Executive. This 286ldry amount will be used for the computationrofizal
incentive and long term incentive opportunitiegp@tcentages set forth in said statement. Sevepayable
pursuant to Section 11 will be at an amount notless said 2004 salary amou

All other provisions of the Agreement shall remaurfull force and effect



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executaeehduly executed this AMENDMENT THREE TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT effective as of the day andcaydirst above written.

Michael D. Houk Anthem Insurance Companies, I

/sl Michael D. Houk By: /s/ Larry C. Glasscock

Name: Larry C. Glasscoc

Title: President and CE



AdminaStar Federal, In

COMPANY NAME

Anthem Benefit Administrators, In

Anthem East, Inc
Anthem Financial, Inc

Anthem Health Plans of Kentucky, Ir
Anthem Health Plans of Maine, Ir

Anthem Health Plans of New Hampshire, |

Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, In

Anthem Health Plans, In

Anthem Holding Corp

Anthem Insurance Companies, i
Anthem Life Insurance Compai

Anthem Midwest, Inc

Anthem Prescription Management, LI

Anthem Services, In
Anthem Southeast, In

Anthem UM Services, Inc

Anthem West, Inc

Arison Insurance Services, Ir

Associated Group, In

Benefit Administration Services, In
Community Insurance Compa
Consolidated Holdings Corporatit

Health Initiatives, Inc

Health Management Corporati
Health Management Systems, |

HealthKeepers, Inc

HealthReach Services, Ir
Healthy Homecomings Incorporated of St. Lc

Healthy Homecomings, In

HMO Colorado, Inc
Lease Partners, In
Machigonne, Inc

Maine Partners Health Plan, Ir
Matthew Thornton Health Plan, In
Monticello Service Agency, Int
Northeast Consolidated Services, |
OneNation Insurance Compa

Peninsula Health Care, Ir
Primary Care First, LL(
Priority Health Care, Inc

Priority Insurance Agency, In

Priority, Inc.

Rocky Mountain Health Care Corporati

Rocky Mountain Hospital and Medical Service, |

SpectraCare, Int

The Anthem Companies, In

Trigon Health and Life Insurance Compe

SUBSIDIARIES OF ANTHEM, INC.
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003

STATE OF JURISDICTION

Indiana
Ohio
Delaware
Indiana
Kentucky
Maine

New Hampshire
Virginia
Connecticu
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Ohio

Ohio
Virginia
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Kentucky
Indiana
Colorado
Ohio
Delaware
New Hampshire
Virginia
Colorado
Virginia
Connecticu
Missouri
Missouri
Colorado
Indiana
Maine
Maine

New Hampshire
Virginia
New Hampshire
Indiana
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Colorado
Colorado
Kentucky
Indiana
Virginia
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EXHIBIT 23
Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-735®88lgming to the Anthem 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan, in the Registration Statement (F8A8 No. 333-84690) pertaining to the Anthem EmpStock Purchase Plan, in the
Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-84906ppeng to the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savingsdstment Plan, in the Registration
Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-97425) pertainindéTrigon Employees’ 401(k) Thrift Plan and thegbii 401(k) Restoration Plan, in the
Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-97428ppeng to the Trigon 1997 Stock Incentive Plad #me Trigon Non-Employee Directors
Stock Incentive Plan, in the Registration StatenfEatm S-8, No. 333-110503) pertaining to the Anti2001 Stock Incentive Plan, in the
Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 333-1019&®gining to the Anthem, Inc. shelf registratiom &m the Registration Statement (Form S-
4, No. 333-110830) pertaining to the proposed nrdsgeveen Anthem, Inc. and WellPoint Health Netvgolrkc., of our report dated January
26, 2004, with respect to the consolidated findrst@tements and schedule of Anthem, Inc. includetis Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/  ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 26, 2004



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Larry C. Glasscock, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Anthem, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

c) disclosed in this report any change in the regisisanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemnmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveaniagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s LARRY C. GLASSCOCK

Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2004



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael L. Smith, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this report on Form-K of Anthem, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects thfinancial condition, results of operations and cislvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

c) disclosed in this report any change in the regisisanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemnmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveaniagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/  MICHAEL L. SMITH

Chief Financial and Accounting Officer

Date: February 27, 2004



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Anthem,.I{tbe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period erglibecember 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry C. GlasscoCkjef Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdapted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleypA2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

/sl LARRY C. GLASSCOCK

Larry C. Glasscock
Chief Executive Officer
February 27, 2004



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Anthem,.I{tbe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period erglibecember 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), Michael L. Smith, Chief Financial and Accounti@ficer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1380adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-@xeyf 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

/s/  MICHAEL L. SMITH

Michael L. Smith
Chief Financial and Accounting Officer
February 27, 2004



EXHIBIT 99
RISK FACTORS

The following factors, among others, could caudeaaesults to differ materially from those comted in forward-looking statements
made in the Annual Report on Form 10-K to whick thicument is an exhibit and presented elsewhenedmagement from time to time. Such
factors, among others, may have a material adveffgt on our business, financial condition, ansules of operations and you shol
carefully consider them. It is not possible to peedr identify all such factors. Consequently, ywhould not consider any such list to be a
complete statement of all our potential risks ocentainties. Because of these and other factorst parformance should not be considered an
indication of future performance.

Risks Relating to Our Business

Application of and/or changes in state and federalegulations may adversely affect our business, fimeial condition and results of
operations. As a holding company, we are dependeah dividends from our subsidiaries. Our regulated sbsidiaries are subject to state
regulations, including restrictions on the paymenbf dividends and maintenance of minimum levels ofapital.

Our insurance and health maintenance organizaiiAMO, subsidiaries are subject to extensive raiuh and supervision by ti
insurance or HMO regulatory authorities of eaclesita which they are licensed or authorized to dsifiess, as well as to regulation by federal
and local agencies. We cannot assure you thatfuigiulatory action by state insurance or HMO atilee will not have a material adverse
effect on the profitability or marketability of ohealth benefits or managed care products or ofbasiness, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, because of our particgpatn government-sponsored programs such as Medécat Medicaid, changes in government
regulations or policy with respect to, among otiémgs, reimbursement levels, could also adverafgct the business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, we cannot asgou that application of the federal and/or staxeregulatory regime that currently applies to
us will not, or future tax regulation by either &édl and/or state governmental authorities conngrag could not, have a material adverse ¢
on our business, operations or financial condition.

In December 2000, the Department of Health and HuSevices, known as HHS, promulgated certain egguis under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of B®r HIPAA, related to the privacy of individualigentifiable health information, or
confidential health information. The new regulagoequire health plans, clearinghouses and pravigdeicomply with various requirements
and restrictions related to the use, storage asadadiure of confidential health information; addgbrous internal procedures to protect
confidential health information; and enter into cifie written agreements with business associateshiom confidential health information is
disclosed. These regulations do not preempt maregsht state laws and regulations that may applyst On February 20, 2003, HHS
published the final regulation addressing secugtjirements to be met regarding accessibilityooffidential health information. Health plans
(other than small health plans) have until Apri] 2005 to comply with these new security standands.are currently assessing the impact of
this new regulation and believe the costs couldhberial.

State legislatures and Congress continue to fooueealth care issues. From time to time, Congrassbnsidered various forms of
Patients’ Bill of Rights legislation which, if adtgal, could fundamentally alter the treatment ofesage decisions under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, or ERISAldRionally, there recently have been legislatitterapts to limit ERISA’s preemptive
effect on state laws. If adopted, such limitationald increase our liability exposure and coulchgiegreater state regulation of our operations.
Other proposed bills and regulations at state eddril levels may impact certain aspects of ouinkss, including provider contracting, clai
payments and processing and confidentiality ofthéaformation. While we cannot predict if any bese initiatives will ultimately become
effective or, if enacted, what their terms will blegir enactment could increase our costs, expsse expanded liability or require us to
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revise the ways in which we conduct business. eurts we continue to implement our e-businessiivies, uncertainty surrounding the
regulatory authority, and requirements in this angg make it difficult to ensure compliance.

We are a holding company whose assets includd #iibooutstanding shares of common stock of oensed insurance company and
HMO subsidiaries. As a holding company, we depandividends from our subsidiaries and their recefadividends from our other regulated
subsidiaries. Among other restrictions, state iasae and HMO laws may restrict the ability of cegulated subsidiaries to pay dividends. Our
ability to pay dividends in the future to our shasklers and meet our obligations, including payipgrating expenses and debt service on our
outstanding and future indebtedness, will deperahupe receipt of dividends from our subsidiar&s.inability of our subsidiaries to pay
dividends in the future in an amount sufficient erto meet our financial obligations may mateyialilversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Most of our insurance and HMO subsidiaries areexthip risk-based capital, known as RBC, standamjspsed by their states of
domicile. These laws are based on the RBC Modeb#8opted by the National Association of Insuranoen@issioners, or NAIC, and require
our regulated subsidiaries to report their resafitssk-based capital calculations to the departsiehinsurance and the NAIC. Failure to
maintain the minimum RBC standards could subjectregulated subsidiaries to corrective action,udoilg state supervision or liquidation.
Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries are currentlyoimpliance with the risk-based capital or otherilsir requirements imposed by their
respective states of domicile.

Our inability to contain health care costs, efficiatly implement increases in premium rates, maintairadequate reserves for policy
benefits, maintain our current provider agreementsor avoid a downgrade in our ratings may adversely ffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our profitability depends in large part on accusafeedicting health care costs and on our abititynanage future health care cc
through underwriting criteria, medical managempnbduct design and negotiation of favorable provntracts. The aging of the population
and other demographic characteristics and advangasdical technology continue to contribute tangshealth care costs. Government-
imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimsiement have also caused the private sector toabgaater share of increasing health
care costs. Changes in health care practicestiorflanew technologies, the cost of prescriptiomggdr; clusters of high cost cases, changes in the
regulatory environment and numerous other factffexting the cost of health care may adverselycafeir ability to predict and manage he
care costs, as well as our business, financialiiondand results of operations.

In addition to the challenge of managing healtte @arsts, we face pressure to contain premium r@igscustomer contracts may be
subject to renegotiation as customers seek to iothtair costs. Alternatively, our customers mayvmto a competitor to obtain more favore
premiums. Fiscal concerns regarding the continueloility of programs such as Medicare and Medicaaly cause decreasing reimbursement
rates for government-sponsored programs in whiclpavicipate. A limitation on our ability to increa or maintain our premium levels could
adversely affect our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

The reserves we establish for health insuranceybknefits and other contractual rights and bé&nafie based upon assumptions
concerning a number of factors, including trendkealth care costs, expenses, general economidticmsdand other factors. Actual experie
will likely differ from assumed experience, andtihe extent the actual claims experience is lessrédote than estimated based on our
underlying assumptions, our incurred losses wautdeiase and future earnings could be adverselgtatfe

Our profitability is dependent upon our abilitydontract on favorable terms with hospitals, physisiand other health care providers.
The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-gffechealth care provider contracts may result iosa in membership or higher medical costs.
In addition, our inability to contract with providg or the inability of providers to provide adetpieare, could adversely affect our business.
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Claims-paying ability and financial strength rasngy recognized rating organizations have beconie@eaasingly important factor in
establishing the competitive position of insuranompanies and health benefits companies. Ratinanargtions continue to review the
financial performance and condition of insurersclicaf the rating agencies reviews its ratings mically and there can be no assurance that
current ratings will be maintained in the futuree \Aelieve our strong ratings are an important factonarketing our products to our custom
since ratings information is broadly disseminated generally used throughout the industry. If aimgs are downgraded or placed under
surveillance or review, with possible negative iivalions, the downgrade, surveillance or reviewld@aversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our ratindkece each rating agency’s opinion of our finanaakngth, operating performance and ability
to meet our obligations to policyholders, and areavaluations directed toward the protection @&Btors in our common stock and should not
be relied upon when making a decision on how te abtthe meetings.

We face risks related to litigation.

We are, or may be, in the future a party to a waé legal actions that affect any business, saagkbmployment and employme
discrimination-related suits, employee benefitrolgi breach of contract actions, tort claims anellettual property-related litigation. In
addition, because of the nature of our businesar@eubject to a variety of legal actions relatmgur business operations, including the
design, management and offering of our productssamdces. These could include: claims relatintheodenial of health care benefits; medical
malpractice actions; allegations of anti-competitand unfair business activities; provider dispotesr compensation and termination of
provider contracts; disputes related to self-funbesiness; disputes over co-payment calculatidasns related to the failure to disclose
certain business practices; and claims relatingusdomer audits and contract performance.

A number of class action lawsuits have been filgairsst us and certain of our competitors in theagad care business. The suits are
purported class actions on behalf of certain ofrnanaged care members and network providers feged breaches of various state and
federal laws. While we intend to defend these stigerously, we will incur expenses in the defenfthese suits and cannot predict their
outcome.

Recent court decisions and legislative activity rimyease our exposure for any of these typesaiingl. In some cases, substantial non-
economic, treble or punitive damages may be soMgatcurrently have insurance coverage for sombexfd potential liabilities. Other
potential liabilities may not be covered by insur@ninsurers may dispute coverage or the amounsafance may not be enough to cover the
damages awarded. In addition, certain types of demsyasuch as punitive damages, may not be covgretirance, and insurance coverage
all or certain forms of liability may become undaéle or prohibitively expensive in the future.

A reduction in the enrollment in our health benefis programs could have an adverse effect on our bugiss and profitability. The health
benefits industry is subject to negative publicitywhich can adversely affect our profitability. Additionally, we face significant
competition from other health benefits companies.

A reduction in the number of enrollees in our Heakenefits programs could adversely affect ourress, financial condition and results
of operations. Factors that could contribute teduction in enroliment include: failure to obtaemncustomers or retain existing customers;
premium increases and benefit changes; our exit figpecific market; reductions in workforce byséirig customers; negative publicity and
news coverage; failure to attain or maintain natityrecognized accreditations; and general ecoo@uoivnturn that results in business
failures.

The health benefits industry is subject to neggpivielicity. Negative publicity may result in incisead regulation and legislative review of
industry practices, which may further increaseaasts of doing business and adversely affect afitability by: adversely affecting our
ability to market our products and services; raqgius to change our products and services; oe&sing the regulatory burdens under which
we operate.



In addition, as long as we use the Blue Cross dnd Bhield names and marks in marketing our hémgttefits products and services, any
negative publicity concerning the Blue Cross Bliref! Association or other Blue Cross Blue Shiekkdciation licensees may adversely
affect us and the sale of our health benefits prtsdand services.

As a health benefits company, we operate in a highinpetitive environment and in an industry tisaturrently subject to significant
changes from business consolidations, new stragdiggnces, legislative reform, aggressive marlgepractices by other health benefits
organizations and market pressures brought aboahlgformed and organized customer base, partlgidanong large employers. This
environment has produced and will likely continagotoduce significant pressures on the profitabdit health benefits companies. In addition,
the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which gives banks atigeo financial institutions the ability to affili@twith insurance companies, could result in
new competitors with significant financial resows@ntering our markets. We cannot assure you teatibe able to compete successfully
against current and future competitors or that aetitipe pressures faced by us will not materiatig @dversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Regional concentrations of our business may subjeas to economic downturns in those regions.

Our business operations include or consist of regjioompanies located in the Midwest, East and Wehktmost of our revenues
generated in the states of Indiana, Kentucky, Qbamnecticut, New Hampshire, Maine, Colorado, Nevaadd Virginia. Due to this
concentration of business in a small number o&state are exposed to potential losses resultorg the risk of an economic downturn in
these states. If economic conditions in these stédéeriorate, we may experience a reduction istiegi and new business, which may have a
material adverse effect on our business, finamgatlition and results of operations.

We have built a significant portion of their current businesses through mergers and acquisitions andevexpect to pursue acquisitions in
the future. The following are some of the risks asgiated with acquisitions that could have a materisadverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations:

» some of the acquired businesses may not achieigpatéd revenues, earnings or cash flow;
* we may assume liabilities that were not disclogedst

* we may be unable to integrate acquired businesgeessfully and realize anticipated economic, djmeral and other benefits in a
timely manner, which could result in substantiadtscand delays or other operational, technicalhantial problems

» acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing businesstract management, divert resources and makdfittudifto maintain our currer
business standards, controls and proced

» we may finance future acquisitions by issuing comrstwck for some or all of the purchase price, Whtculd dilute the ownership
interests of our shareholde

» we may also incur additional debt related to futacquisitions; and

» we would be competing with other firms, some ofethimay have greater financial and other resoutoes;quire attractiv
companies



Our investment portfolios are subject to varying eonomic and market conditions, as well as regulatiarAs Medicare fiscal
intermediaries, we are subject to complex regulaties. If we fail to comply with these regulations, wenay be exposed to criminal
sanctions and significant civil penalties. Moreoverwe are using the Blue Cross and Blue Shield namasad marks as identifiers for our
products and services under licenses from the Bluéross Blue Shield Association. The termination oftese license agreements could
adversely affect our business, financial conditioand results of operations.

The market value of our investments varies fromettmtime depending on economic and market conditibor various reasons, we
sell certain of our investments at prices thatlese than the carrying value of the investmentsdiition, in periods of declining interest rates,
bond calls and mortgage loan prepayments genénallgase, resulting in the reinvestment of theselduat the then lower market rates. We
cannot assure you that our investment portfolidsprdduce positive returns in future periods. @egulated subsidiaries are subject to state
laws and regulations that require diversificatiéwor investment portfolios and limit the amountimfestments in certain riskier investment
categories, such as below-investment-grade fixeone securities, mortgage loans, real estate antyénvestments, which could generate
higher returns on our investments. Failure to cgmith these laws and regulations might cause iimvests exceeding regulatory limitation:
be treated as non-admitted assets for purposesasumng statutory surplus and risk-based capital, in some instances, require the sale of
those investments.

Like a number of other Blue Cross and Blue Shielehpanies, we serve as a fiscal intermediary foMedicare program, which
generally provides coverage for persons who arer@der and for persons with end-stage renal diseRart A of the Medicare program
provides coverage for services provided by hosgitllilled nursing facilities and other health camlities. Part B of the Medicare program
provides coverage for services provided by physgighysical and occupational therapists and gifafessional providers. As a fiscal
intermediary, we receive reimbursement for certaists and expenditures, which is subject to adjestapon audit by the Federal Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, formerly trealth Care Financing Administration, or HCFAeThaws and regulations governing
fiscal intermediaries for the Medicare program@mplex, subject to interpretation and can expdéscal intermediary to penalties for non-
compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be subjectitainal fines, civil penalties or other sanctiassa result of such audits or reviews. While
we believe that they are in compliance in all mateespects with the regulations governing fisn&#rmediaries, there are ongoing reviews by
the federal government of our activities underaiarof our Medicare fiscal intermediary contra€@se of our subsidiaries, AdminaStar
Federal, Inc., has received several subpoenastfre®|G, Health and Human Services, and from tt& Department of Justice seeking
documents and information concerning its respolitsiis as a Medicare Part B contractor in its Kekjuoffice, and requesting certain finan:
records from AdminaStar Federal, Inc. and from Anthrelated to Anthem’s Medicare fiscal intermediBeyt A and Part B operations.

We are a party to license agreements with the Bhoss Blue Shield Association that entitle us mdRclusive use of the Blue Cross and
Blue Shield names and marks in our geographidoeies. The license agreements contain certainnagents and restrictions regarding our
operations and our use of the Blue Cross and Biieldnames and marks, including: minimum capital hquidity requirements; enrollment
and customer service performance requirementscipetion in programs that provide portability oEmbership between plans; disclosures to
the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association relatingtoollment and financial conditions; disclosurescathe structure of the Blue Cross and Blue
Shield system in contracts with third parties amgublic statements; plan governance requiremantsguirement that at least 80% of a
licensee’s annual combined net revenue attributabteealth benefits plans within its service arassnie sold, marketed, administered or
underwritten under the Blue Cross and Blue Shiaeltes and marks; a requirement that neither a glaany of its licensed affiliates may
permit an entity other than a plan or a licensditiaé to obtain control of the plan or the licexsaffiliate or to acquire a substantial portion of
its assets related to licensable services; a rexpeint that we guarantee the contractual and finhobligations of our licensed affiliates; and a
requirement that we indemnify the Blue Cross Bla&Bl Association against any claims asserted agdinesulting from the contractual and
financial obligations of any subsidiary that serass fiscal intermediary
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providing administrative services for Medicare Batand B. We believe that we and our licensediatiis are currently in compliance with
these standards.

Upon the occurrence of an event causing terminatidhe license agreements, we would no longer fzeeight to use the Blue Cross
and Blue Shield names and marks in one or moreio§eographic territories. Furthermore, the BluesSrBlue Shield Association would be
free to issue a license to use the Blue Cross &g Bhield names and marks in these states to emetitity. Events that could cause the
termination of a license agreement with the BluesSmBlue Shield Association include failure to compith minimum capital requirements
imposed by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Associattochange of control or violation of the Blue Cr&ge Shield Association ownership
limitations on our capital stock, impending finaaldnsolvency, the appointment of a trustee orivereor the commencement of any action
against a licensee seeking its dissolution. Weebelthat the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names amklsare valuable identifiers of our
products and services in the marketplace. Accotgitigrmination of the license agreements couldehavnaterial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

The failure to effectively maintain and modernize ar operations in an Internet environment could advesely affect our business.

Our business depends significantly on effectiverimfation systems, and we have many different in&tiom systems for our various
businesses. Our information systems require aninggmmmitment of significant resources to maintaid enhance existing systems and
develop new systems in order to keep pace withirmaing changes in information processing technol@yplving industry and regulatory
standards, and changing customer preferencesxgorpte, HIPAA’'s administrative simplification preions and the Department of Labor’s
claim processing regulations have required andaagititinue to require significant changes to cursstems. In addition, we may from time to
time obtain significant portions of our systemsatet! or other services or facilities from indepertdkird parties, which may make our
operations vulnerable to such third parties’ falto perform adequately. As a result of our meeget acquisition activities, we have acquired
additional systems. Our failure to maintain effeetand efficient information systems, or our fagltio efficiently and effectively consolidate
our information systems to eliminate redundanthlsatete applications, could have a material adveffeet on our business, financial condi
and results of operations.

Also, like many of our competitors in the healtmégts industry, our vision for the future includescoming a premier e-business
organization by modernizing interactions with cusérs, brokers, agents, employees and other stal@idhrough web-enabling technology
and redesigning internal operations. We are dewrgdopur e-business strategy with the goal of becgmiidely regarded as an e-business
leader in the health benefits industry. The stratagludes not only sales and distribution of hedlenefits products on the Internet, but also
implementation of advanced self-service capalsliienefiting customers, agents, brokers, partmet®mployees. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to realize successfully ounsiness vision or integrate e-business operatidtiisour current method of operations. The
failure to develop successful e-business capadslitbuld result in competitive and cost disadvasddg us as compared to our competitors.

Indiana law, and other applicable laws, and Anthers articles of incorporation and bylaws, may prevenbr discourage takeovers and
business combinations that our current shareholdersight consider in their best interests.

Indiana law and our articles of incorporation agthtvs may delay, defer, prevent or render moreatiff a takeover attempt that our
shareholders might consider in their best interégisinstance, they may prevent our shareholders feceiving the benefit from any premi
to the market price of our common stock offeredallyidder in a takeover context. Even in the abseheegtakeover attempt, the existence of
these provisions may adversely affect the prevagifirarket price of our common stock if they are \eevas discouraging takeover attempts in
the future.



We are regulated as an insurance holding compasyvdhbe subject to the insurance holding compaats of the states in which our
insurance company subsidiaries are domiciled, disassimilar provisions included in the healthtstas and regulations of certain states w
these subsidiaries are regulated as managed capaoges or HMOs. The insurance holding company autisregulations and these similar
health provisions restrict the ability of any pardo obtain control of an insurance company or Hifithout prior regulatory approval. Under
those statutes and regulations, without such agp(ov an exemption), no person may acquire aningcaecurity of a domestic insurance
company or HMO, or an insurance holding companyctvitiontrols an insurance company or HMO, or merigle such a holding company, if
as a result of such transaction such person waddtfol” the insurance holding company, insurarm@gany or HMO. “Control” is generally
defined as the direct or indirect power to diractause the direction of the management and psli@ person and is presumed to exist if a
person directly or indirectly owns or controls 1@¥more of the voting securities of another person.

In addition to the restrictions described abovelasrthe Indiana demutualization law, for a peribfive years following November 2,
2001, the effective date of our demutualizationpeoson may acquire beneficial ownership of 5% orenof the outstanding shares of our
common stock without the prior approval of the & Insurance Commissioner and our board of direcay of our shares acquired in
violation of this restriction that constitute 5%rapre of the outstanding shares of our common stoohkediately after the merger without the
prior approval of the Indiana Insurance Commissi@me our board of directors, may not be votechgitshareholdergheeting. This restrictic
does not apply to acquisitions made by the Compamgade pursuant to an employee benefit plan ot@rap benefit trust sponsored by the
Company. The Indiana Insurance Commissioner hagtadoules under which passive institutional ingestould purchase 5% or more but
less than 10% of our outstanding common stock thighprior approval of our board of directors anidipnotice to the Indiana Insurance
Commissioner.

Our articles of incorporation restrict the benefi@wnership of its capital stock in excess of fipownership limits. The ownership
limits restrict beneficial ownership of our votisgpital stock to less than 10% for institutionaldstors and less than 5% for noninstitutional
investors, both as defined in our articles of ipowation. Additionally, no person may beneficiadlywn shares of our common stock
representing a 20% or more ownership interestendbmpany. These restrictions are intended to ermurcompliance with the terms of its
licenses with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Associat®y agreement between the Company and the Blogs@lue Shield Association, these
ownership limits may be increased. our articlemobrporation prohibit ownership of our capitalatdeyond these ownership limits without
prior approval of a majority of our continuing diters (as defined in our articles of incorporation)

Certain other provisions included in our articlésncorporation and bylaws may also have anti-take@ffects and may delay, defer or
prevent a takeover attempt that our shareholdegbteonsider in their best interests. In particuteur articles of incorporation and bylaws:
permit our board of directors to issue one or nsamges of preferred stock; divide our board ofclives into three classes serving staggered
three-year terms; restrict the maximum number ifadors; limit the ability of shareholders to reraalirectors; impose restrictions on
shareholders’ ability to fill vacancies on our kibaf directors; prohibit shareholders from callsgecial meetings of shareholders; impose
advance notice requirements for shareholder prdgpasa nominations of directors to be consideradextings of shareholders; and impose
restrictions on shareholders’ ability to amend aicles of incorporation and bylaws.

We have substantial indebtedness outstanding and mancur additional indebtedness in the future. As &olding company, we are not
able to repay our indebtedness except through divehds from subsidiaries, some of which are restrictein their ability under applicable
insurance law to pay such dividends. Such indebte@ss could also adversely affect our ability to pute desirable business
opportunities.

We have substantial indebtedness outstanding areldailable borrowing capacity under our amendetrastated credit facilities of (
to $1.0 billion. We may also incur additional intiedness in the future,
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including issuing debt securities of up to $1.0idml pursuant to a shelf registration filed on Deber 18, 2002 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Our current debt service obligations require uss®e a portion of our cash flow to pay interest pridcipal on debt instead of for other
corporate purposes, including funding future exjamdf our cash flow and capital resources areffisient to service our debt obligations,
may be forced to seek extraordinary dividends foamsubsidiaries, sell assets, seek additionakequidebt capital or restructure our debt.
However, these measures might be unsuccessfuhadeduate in permitting us to meet scheduled debicseobligations.

As a holding company, we have no operations andependent on dividends from our subsidiaries éshao fund our debt service and
other corporate needs. State insurance laws retstei@bility of our regulated subsidiaries to piwidends. Indebtedness could also limit our
ability to pursue desirable business opportunities, may affect our ability to maintain an investingrade rating for our indebtedness.

We may also incur future debt obligations that migiibject us to restrictive covenants that couldcafour financial and operational
flexibility. Our breach or failure to comply witmg of these covenants could result in a defauleudir credit agreements. If we default under
our credit agreements, the lenders could ceasake fiurther extensions of credit or cause all afautstanding debt obligations under our
credit agreements to become immediately due andhp@ytogether with accrued and unpaid intereshdfindebtedness under the notes or
credit agreements is accelerated, we may be ut@abépay or finance the amounts due.

Risks Relating to the Merger with WellPoint HealthNetworks Inc.

Anthem and WellPoint may experience difficulties inintegrating their businesses, which could cause ¢hcombined company to los
many of the anticipated potential benefits of the rarger.

We have entered into the merger agreement becaubeleve that the merger will be beneficial to companies. Achieving the
anticipated benefits of the merger will dependant mpon whether our two companies integrate osimasses in an efficient and effective
manner. In particular, the successful combinatioArdhem and WellPoint will depend on the integoatbf our respective businesses. We may
not be able to accomplish this integration prosessothly or successfully. The necessity of coortiligageographically separated organizat
and addressing possible differences in corpordtares and management philosophies may increasdifff@ilties of integration. The
integration of certain operations following the gperwill require the dedication of significant mgeaent resources, which may temporarily
distract management’s attention from our day-to4olasiness. Employee uncertainty and lack of foausd the integration process may also
disrupt our business. Any inability of our managaetrte integrate successfully the operations oftaar companies could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operatimd financial condition.

Anthem will incur additional indebtedness to pay goortion of the merger consideration to WellPoint'sstockholders and we may incur
additional indebtedness in the future. We will notbe able to repay its indebtedness except throughulidlends from its subsidiaries, some
of which are restricted in their ability under applicable insurance and other laws to pay such dividets. Such indebtedness could also
adversely affect our ability to pursue desirable bginess opportunities.

Anthem currently intends to incur up to approxinhats.2 billion in debt to finance a portion of thash payments to be made
WellPoint’s stockholders in the merger and thegeation costs associated with this proposed tréinsa@nthem may also incur additional
indebtedness in the future for other corporate ggep. As a holding company, we will have no openatiand will be dependent on dividends
from our subsidiaries for cash to fund its debvigerand other corporate needs. State insurancetarad laws will restrict the ability of our
regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends. Anthemdgbtedness could also limit our ability to purdesirable business opportunities, and may
affect our ability to maintain an investment gradeng for our indebtedness.
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